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THE PRC CITY GAS DISTRIBUTION
FLAGSHIP OF CHINA RESOURCES GROUP

China Resources Gas Group Limited (“CR Gas”), substantially
owned by China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, one
of the largest state-owned conglomerates in China, is a leading
gas utilities group in China, which is principally engaged in
downstream city gas distribution business including piped natural
gas distribution, natural gas filling stations operation and sales of
gas appliances. lts operations are strategically located in areas
of China, which are economically more developed and densely
populated and areas with rich reserves of natural gas.

Leveraging on the excellent industry fundamentals and the Group’s
execution competency, CR Gas continues to expand rapidly in 2017
via organic and acquisition growths. At the end of 2017, CR Gas'’s
portfolio is consisted of 238 city gas projects in 22 provinces of
China including 14 provincial capitals and 3 direct administrative
municipalities with an annual gross gas sales volume of some 19.7
billion cubic meters and 30.81 million customers.

The optimization of energy structure and environmental pollution
control will promote the sustainable growth of natural gas
consumption in China. The PRC government has, in recent years,
taken various measures to promote the development and utilization
of less polluting energy sources. The natural gas industry is in sync
with the core development idea of innovation, harmony, green, open
and sharing as compared with conventional energy resources such
as coal and crude oil. The Natural Gas Development “13th Five-
Year” Plan published by the State also stresses that the popular use
of natural gas will play an important role to protect the ecological
environment, improve air quality, enhance life quality and health of
the general public and achieve sustainable development.

The natural gas market in China is still in the important development
period, as China remains the most important region in the
global rise of natural gas development. CR Gas is well placed
to take advantage of such a favorable operating environment
and to become the most respectable leader in the PRC’s gas
industry by continuously expanding through organic and external
growths; diligently enhancing its operational efficiency in pursue
of excellence; delivering a safe and reliable supply of clean
energy as well as the caring, competent and efficient service to
our customers; offering growing and sustainable performance
to shareholders; creating extensive professional and personal
development opportunities to employees; and contributing to the
protection and improvement of the Chinese and global environment.
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Pan-China Footprint of CR Gas
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ANNUAL RESULTS

In 2017, benefiting from the strong economic recovery in China and
the promulgation of a series of policies to promote the use of natural
gas, together with local governments’ efforts to promote “coal-to-
gas conversion” projects and the implementation of measures such
as establishing and expanding no coal areas, China’s natural gas
consumption increased significantly to reach 237.3 billion cubic
meters, representing an increase of 15.3%. By capturing development
opportunities and tapping market potential, the Group recorded an annual
gas sales volume of 19.67 billion cubic meters, representing a year-on-
year increase of 20.9%, and the number of gas users exceeded 30 million
to reach 30.81 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 16.3%.
The Group continued to optimise its management model and increase its
operating efficiency which resulted in the steady improvement of return.
The profit attributable to owners of the Company was HK$3.65 billion,
representing a year-on-year increase of 11.1%. The Group proposed to
pay a final dividend of 40 HK cents per share, bringing a total dividend
of 55 HK cents per share for the year, representing an increase of 22.2%
from 45 HK cents per share in 2016, with a dividend payout ratio of 32.7%.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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SALE OF NATURAL GAS

In 2017, a number of provincial and municipal governments across
the country have introduced air pollution control policies to encourage
enterprises to use natural gas as a substitute for heavily polluting fuels
such as coal, heavy oil and low-quality diesel. The Group actively
cooperated with local governments to implement the “coal-to-gas
conversion” plan, and adopted a flexible pricing mechanism and
comprehensive energy utilisation model to attract industrial and
commercial users to use natural gas, leading to a substantial increase
in the overall consumption of natural gas. During the year, the Group’s
natural gas sales volume reached 19.67 billion cubic meters. Of which,
the industrial gas sales volume reached 8.64 billion cubic meters,
representing an increase of 30.1% and accounting for 44.0% of the
total gas sales volume of the Group. The commercial gas sales volume
reached 4.45 billion cubic meters, representing an increase of 23.8%
and accounting for 22.6% of the total gas sales volume of the Group, and
residential gas sales volume increased by 10.5% to 4.77 billion cubic
meters, accounting for 24.2% of the total gas sales volume of the Group.

DEVELOPMENT OF NEW USERS

The Group has a larger market share of gas projects in the large and
medium-sized cities with a developed economy, and driven by the
recovery of the real estate market in the large and medium-sized cities
as well as the continuous promotion of urbanisation process, the Group’s
gas connection business for residential users has grown constantly.
During the year, the Group connected 3 million new residential users,
including 570,000 old residential users and 290,000 rural coal-to-gas
conversion users, and connected 50,000 new industrial and commercial
users. Since its completion in 2017, Qingdao project also has brought
in 1.27 million existing residential users to the Group.

ERMRERERAT —T—LFFR
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NEW PROJECT EXPANSION

The Group continued to focus on developing city gas business, its core
business. Leveraging on good corporate branding and operational
capability, the Group successfully acquired 36 new investment projects
in 2017 with a total investment of HK$1.72 billion. Of which, registration
of 18 subsidiaries have been completed with investment of HK$856
million. Another 18 new projects were approved by the Board with an
investment of HK$863 million. The city gas projects the Group acquired
are located in Qingdao City, Hangzhou City, Chongging City, Dunhua
City, Kaiyuan County, Yongjia County, Dushan County and other regions.
Upon its completion in June 2017, Qingdao project gained a gas sales
volume of more than 400 million cubic meters and contributed to the
profit of the Group.

By the end of 2017, the number of city gas projects of the Group
has reached 238, covering 22 provinces, 3 direct administrative
municipalities and 73 prefecture-level cities. The expanding operational
regions and prime geographic locations of the projects have laid a
solid foundation for the sustained and rapid growth of the Group’s core
business.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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NEW BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

Following the continuous optimisation of economic structure in China,
the demand for clean energy continued to increase. Thanks to the
supportive policies, the Group took full advantage of its existing
customer base to actively develop new businesses such as distributed
energy and charging posts to meet the energy needs of different
customers, foster new growth points and expand our income stream.

In 2017, the Group approved 9 new distributed energy projects apart
from the 12 distributed energy projects that have been put into operation,
with a total investment of HK$2.22 billion. Upon completion, these
projects will contribute an installed capacity of 95MW and an additional
gas volume of 250 million cubic meters. The distributed energy project
in Huishan, Wuxi approved at the end of the year, once being put into
operation, will contribute a gas volume of 140 million cubic meters to
Wuxi project. It will also build a local multi-energy complementary smart
system integrating photovoltaics, ground source heat pumps, charging
posts, microgrids as well as electricity distribution and sales.

In 2017, a charging post company in Hangzhou was put into stable
operation with an average daily charging capacity of approximately
45,000 kWh, and yielded profitability in the year. In Shantou region, the
Group initiated a trial transformation of fishing vessels for using vessel
gas. A power sales company jointly established by the Group with
China Resources Power in Fujian region has obtained a local license

for power sales.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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KEY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

In 2017, the Group recorded a turnover of HK$39.84 billion, representing
a year-on-year increase of 21.0%. The Group’s overall gross profit
margin was 29.9%, representing a decrease of 4.1 percentage points
as compared with the last year. The decrease in gross profit margin was
mainly due to the inability or delay to fully pass through the gas source
cost increase during the heating period in the winter, and higher gas
consumption by some big customers with lower gross profit.

The Group has been adopting prudent financial resources management
policies to keep borrowings at a sound level. In 2017, the Group’s cash
flow maintained a good increment. The operating cash flow during the
year reached HK$7.80 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of
5.9%. The Group has sufficient funds and available banking facilities
to meet capital expenditures and operating requirements in the future.
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HONESTY & INTEGRITY CULTURE

The Group always regards honesty & integrity as its foundation of
development, and has issued and implemented a series of measures
in recent years, including Regulation on Honesty & Integrity ( {i{z4&
BEEPHEL) ) and Rules for Staff Responsible for Honesty & Integrity
Culture ( (FIEAME B ITEHIE) ) and requires every staff to sign the
Honesty & Integrity Declaration ( (GH{E&HEE) ).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to enhance its standard of corporate governance
by benchmarking with good corporate governance practices and has
adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook based on the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) issued by The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Corporate Governance Report
is set out on pages 39 to 53 of this annual report.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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CAPITAL MARKET PERFORMANCE

From 2008 to 2017, the share price of the Group has increased by
7.29 times from HK$3.42 to HK$28.35 and its market capitalisation has
increased by 19.45 times from HK$3.083 billion to HK$63.05 billion.

From 2008 to 2017, the profit of the Group increased by 14.4 times from
HK$237 million to HK$3.654 billion, turnover increased by 11.3 times
from HK$2.99 billion to HK$36.84 billion and total assets increased by
17.5 times from HK$3.71 billion to HK$68.76 billion.

Based on Bloomberg’s report, as at 31st December, 2017, the Group
was covered by 27 analyst reports which is the highest number among
all listed peers in Hong Kong.

Standard & Poor’s B+

Moobys
FitchRatings B+

—E-N\F_A BBRONETHEERS
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E e
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= TOP 250

Platts
Top 250

On February 2018, Moody'’s, an International renowned rating agency,
published a report, upgrading the credit rating of CR Gas from Baa1 to
A3 with a “stable” outlook.

[

A
.
{)
{)
Tt
54

EWMRRERERA T




10

FERE
Chairman’s Statement

B+ ABEBEAGLTAEE
BaalrT# 1% - ﬁﬁm_\iﬁL%//\Lﬁﬂzﬁﬁ
EEATR - e BEASEEREE
ENEEBBELEENYBERIREE THS
WEZRA - B —SREANEEETERE
BWIEAA - AERRRRERERRHE
NP BER -

FEER T FEEX DB RIINNEL R
TIR#ENSERA - EEKFEN2IREE
IR 525058 %ig—ti C BRI EER
EEEFTRISRRES  BHEFHE140
fﬁﬁ%ﬂi%mﬂz RN N R b
B [BRk1005% ] -

ERRE

—+tF BREEERL [BITHa6e%
E SEBPE] - [THRERRESHR] Z
—%ﬂﬁ%ﬁ TESRFFNEBE - BRI
Kﬁﬁ%%mﬁ%ﬁo<%ﬁ%%(+:ﬁj
RED L BT _TFRARERE
:“%6w%jﬁ%uﬁ~%%ﬂﬁﬁﬁf
X BERE B L 3£ 518.3% 2 10% » B
ﬂ%ﬁ&iﬁ%%ﬁfﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁhﬁ g
HME - RREE RISLAENERGE—
K HNBRARBEBNSELR  (TXER
H‘JE’\EE‘EEJ °

TE-NF AEEHEMTEERE
B BREERRAKRSAEATTES

FIB R E - EREL S B RBUT HEE H%Eﬁl
R Dmeor | &5 gEIE B A TSR 804 | %7
R L IERR - BRI RO EBRHFE
RRIER o

Since Moody'’s initially assigned a Baal rating to the Group for the
first time in December 2011, Moody’s upgraded the credit rating of the
Group for the first time after six years. The upgrade in rating reflects
the Group’s development strategy of focusing on its core business and
its excellent financial performance have been widely recognised by the
market, which will further reduce the finance costs to be incurred by the
Group in its potential financing activities, and provide sufficient financial
resources for the long-term healthy development of CR Gas.

The Group continues to receive many prestigious international and
domestic acknowledgements from respected publications and
institutions in 2017. Platts named us in Top 250 Global Energy Company
Rankings. Our ranking continued its climb and advanced significantly in
2017 to position 134 from position 140 in 2016. It was included in “Top
100 Hong Kong Listed Companies” by cailianpress.com once again.

DEVELOPMENT PROSPECT

In 2017, China strategically proposed a series of new ideas, new
requirements and new deployments such as “Implementing green
development and building a beautiful China” and “Defending the blue
sky”, and called for resolute efforts to prevent and combat air pollution.
The “13th Five-Year Plan for Energy Development” required that the
natural gas supply capacity shall reach over 360 billion cubic meters by
2020, and the proportion of natural gas consumption in primary energy
consumption shall reach 8.3% to 10%. The further reforms of national
oil and gas system and natural gas pricing mechanism coupled with
the tightened efforts on environmental regulation and pollution control
have driven the continuous growth of natural gas consumption, leading
to promising prospects in the industry.

In 2018, the Group, by capturing the opportunities arising from the
development of the industry, will implement a series of strategic
deployments including the “National Air Pollution Prevention Action”,
and take the initiative in cooperating with the governments at all levels to
promote energy conservation projects such as “coal-to-gas conversion”
and “oil to gas conversion” projects as well as the new urbanization
construction of “expanding natural gas access in rural areas”, with
a view to achieving sustainable and rapid growth in its core city gas
business.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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While focusing on the development of the main businesses, the Group
will also step up its efforts to expand new businesses such as distributed
energy and charging posts, make full use of the advantage of its
large customer base to develop value-added services, promote the
rapid development of new businesses, and provide customers with
diversified energy supply and services in an effort to continually enhance
shareholders’ return and promote sustainable development.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
our most sincere appreciation to our business partners, customers
and shareholders for their unfailing support as well as all the Group’s
employees for their hard work and dedication in carrying out their duties
and in achieving the Group’s business goal.

WANG CHUANDONG
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23rd March, 2018
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer
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The management team continuously improves
the operational efficiency of the Group to achieve

sustainable organic growth.
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OPERATING RESULTS

The Group achieved an increase in turnover of 21.0% to HK$39,838
million and recorded profit attributable to the Company’s equity
holders of HK$3,654 million for the year ended 31st December, 2017,
representing an increase of 11.1% over the previous corresponding
period. The operating profit of the Company increased by 5.9% to
HK$6,305 million and the cash generated from operations increased
from HK$7,365 million in 2016 to HK$7,796 million in 2017.

The revenue of the Group was derived from sales and distribution of
gas fuel and related products, gas connection, sales of gas appliances,
design and construction services and gas stations, which respectively
accounted for 64.1%, 22.4%, 1.0%, 3.6% and 8.9% of the revenue for
2017 (2016: 63.1%, 22.6%, 0.8%, 4.1% and 9.4%, respectively).

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

Gross gas sales volume increased by 20.9% from 16.27 billion m? to
19.67 billion m?.

Thanks to the recovery of the real estate market in China in 2017, the
continuing promotion of affordable housing construction by the state
government and the Group’s effort in connecting gas to old residential
households, the total new connected residential customers in 2017
increased by 11.3% to 3.00 million from 2.69 million in 2016.

In 2017, the Group continued to make new acquisitions and invested
or paid HK$856 million in 18 city gas projects. Most of these projects
are either wholly owned or majority owned by the Group. In addition,
as at 31st December, 2017, the Company has announced or the Board
has approved another 18 proposed city gas distribution and related
projects with proposed investments of HK$863 million. The above new
investments amounted to HK$1,719 million.

The investments will enable the Group to further extend its coverage
and footprint in the PRC. The Group has existing city gas operations in
these provinces and has 80 regional offices set up in various strategic
locations in the PRC. The projects of the Investments will be efficiently
integrated and managed by the relevant regional office depending
on their geographical locations. As such, the Group considers that
the investments will create synergies with the Group’s existing gas
operation, thereby will broaden the Group’s revenue base as well as
enhance and sustain its profitability.

The Group also conducts ongoing evaluation of past investments, which

are essential for making decisions on future investments.
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PRECISE BENCHMARKING

“Benchmarking” is the process of comparing one’s business processes
and performance metrics to the best practices of the industry. The
Group has embarked on this best practice to benchmark across all
business units. “Benchmarking” has started off internally with intra-group
benchmarking and have extended to benchmarking against external best
practices of the industry.

Implementing “Benchmarking” measure is an indispensable choice for
CR Gas to accomplish the fundamental transformation of its growth
model from resources-driven growth to efficiency improvement, and is
also one crucial approach taken by CR Gas to achieve its strategic goal
to become the leading world-class gas enterprise in China.

This combination of internal and external benchmarking helps each
member company to identify the most important gaps between its current
state and where it wants to be. It creates a road map for change and
generates the rigorous cost and performance baseline necessary to
effectively track progress on that road map over time in terms of cost
reductions and performance improvements. All member companies
were required to sign “Benchmarking Responsibility Contracts” with
head office, and the 82 benchmarks previously identified were further
streamlined into 11 quantitative benchmarks, highlighting the key
objectives and becoming more focused and precise. This ongoing
campaign has led to many satisfying results in 2017.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

CONTINUOUS EFFICIENCY IMPROVEMENT
OF REGIONAL CENTRES AND DESIGN &
CONSTRUCTION CENTRES

The Group has 80 regional centres to decentralise the management
of the day to day operation of the Group’s city gas projects across
China. Each regional centre is responsible for the day to day operation
of a cluster of cities within their respective regions. This enhances the
operation efficiencies and provides better services that respond faster
to changing local demand and conditions.

Members of the Group’s management team concurrently serve as
regional general managers. The arrangement minimises the increase
in headcounts or resources, thereby achieving the goal of attaining
maximum results with minimum resources.

The centralisation of the Group’s design and construction activities will
further enhance standardisation of pipeline construction and central
procurements thereby resulting in further cost reductions.
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BUSINESS PROCESS STREAMLINING AND
OPERATION ENHANCEMENT

The Group continued its systematic review of the business and
management processes of its various city gas projects. This ongoing
process is expected to continuously enhance the overall operational
efficiency of city gas projects.

The Group’s supply chain management was further streamlined with
rigorous tender system covering construction projects, and the new
or revised guidelines covering various categories of projects and
quality control measures were issued and implemented. With the help
of centralised procurement IT system, the procurement of most of our
materials has been centralised, representing 84% of total material
procurement expenditure up to the end of 2017. The procurement costs
have decreased by 4% year-on-year as a whole through centralised
procurement, thereby reducing procurement costs.

Improvements were also carried out on the employee recruitment,
assessment, remuneration and staff retention policies to enhance the
human resources management process with the objective of recruiting,
promoting and retaining the best talents, from both internal and external
sources. CR Gas’s management team comprises utility professionals
with significant expertise and experiences across financial, regulatory,
commercial and engineering disciplines. We strive to provide and
maintain a satisfying and rewarding working environment for employees
and commit to their training and professional development.

In view of the significant increase in operation size of the Group in
recent years, we continued to promote the application of information
technology systems covering project management, top-up cards for gas
stations, office administration, centralised cash management, financial
reporting, human resources, centralised procurement and customer
service at various levels of the Group’s operation, so as to improve our
operational efficiency.

On the continuous enhancement of customer service, through enhancing
the success rate of household safety inspection, shortening user
complaint processing time, promoting internet payment, quickening
the response of user hotlines and other measures, the Company has
optimised user experience to continuously increase user satisfaction.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

On the financial and tax management areas, the Group has successfully
promoted value-oriented management system to each member company
and thus effectively reduced costs and expenses. In particular, we
further enhanced the centralization of cash management with the
inclusion of more member companies in the system with significant
increase of cash pool size. By doing so, the Group has greatly
reduced the overall cost of borrowing. Furthermore, various taxation
rationalization and reduction measures were taken to reduce tax
exposure and speed up tax setoffs and refunds.

SAFETY MANAGEMENT ENHANCEMENT

The Group has formulated a number of safety management policies and
procedures as well as hiring qualified engineers and technical staff to
manage and prevent any potential accidents in the Group’s natural gas
related facilities which may cause damage to the environment.

In addition to our internally commissioned control, hazard prevention
and emergency recovery procedures, the Group have fully complied

with the relevant local and national environmental protection regulations
and licensing requirement.
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To improve our safety standard, the Group carried out a range of
company-wide safety and environment conscious campaigns. Meanwhile,
the Group applied new technologies such as big data and intelligence
to explore intelligent monitoring and dispatch management of gas, so
as to strengthen key aspect and potential defect treatment. In 2017, the
Company invested RMB460 million to complete the transformation of
cast iron pipeline network and old iron pipeline network with the length
of 496 kilometers and 429 kilometers, respectively.

The Group places emphasis on educating staff and users in respect
of safety procedures. Accordingly, regular trainings and seminars are
held for relevant staff. For end users, thorough explanations of safety
procedures are given and regular seminars as well as distribution of
brochures and booklets on safety are arranged.

TRAINING AND REWARD FOR EMPLOYEES

As at 31st December, 2017, the Group have approximately 48,062
employees. The Group values human resources and recognises the
importance of attracting, training and retaining quality staff for its
continual success. In addition to the “Gas Faculty” in China Resources
University, which designs courses and provides training programs to the
Group’s workforce, the Group also operates 5 regional training centres

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

covering Eastern, Northern, Central, Southern and South-Western China.
These centres are located in our regional centres of Wuxi, Jining,
Zhengzhou, Fuzhou and Chengdu. Various types of management and
technical trainings are conducted through the Group for different levels
of staff to enhance their knowledge and skills. Improvements were also
carried out on the employee recruitment, assessment, remuneration and
staff retention policies to enhance the human resources management
process with the objective of recruiting, promoting and retaining the best
talents, from both internal and external sources. CR Gas’s management
team comprises utility professionals with significant expertise across
financial, regulatory, commercial and engineering disciplines. We
strive to provide and maintain a satisfying and rewarding working
environment for employees and commit to their training and professional
development. The Group remunerates its employees based on their
performance, work experience and the prevailing market wage level.
Further, bonuses are granted to employees and incentive awards
are made to employees based on merit and performance. The Group
believes this will assist to attract and retain quality staff and at the same
time encourage the employees to give their best performances.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is constantly alert to the threats or uncertainties with negative
consequences facing the industry and has been taking various measures
to safeguard the Group’s interest.

The system of annual and regular safety audit has been established
continuously on all operating member companies of the Group to ensure
compliance with national and local safety regulations.

With new structure and increase in staff number, the Company has set
up 5 regional auditing centers across the country and carried out 114
audits at the Group and member company levels covering areas such
as finance, operation and project construction. Various audit and risk
management guidelines have been revised and issued by the Group.
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The Group has also set up the Preliminary Investment Review Committee
and carried out legal due diligence and reviews on investment proposals
and major contracts. Investment rules covering investments in private
enterprises, LNG gas stations, pre and post-investment evaluation
process, have been revised, issued and implemented. In 2017, the
risk management measures in respect of anti-monopoly and anti-
unfair competition was significantly reinforced through specific legal
training, compiling and issuing the Guidance for Anti-monopoly and
Anti-unfair Competition. Member companies were required to conduct
self-inspection and self-correction, made correct response, strengthened
the concept of all member companies in compliance with laws and
regulations. All these measures yielded positive results.

ENVIRONMENT AND SOCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS

The Group is supporting the ongoing green environmental policies of
the PRC government by actively expanding our cleaner natural gas
business. Based on the annualised gross amount of about 19.7 billion
m?® of natural gas distributed by the Group, it is estimated that annually
the Group helps to replace approximately 25,211,560 tons of coal usage
and reduce approximately 56,976,480 tons of carbon dioxide emissions
and 482,870 tons of pollutants.

The Group also carried out charitable activities as token of measure
to contribute to society. The Group’s member companies participated
in poverty alleviation, donation towards education, caring for
underprivileged groups and volunteer service activities in several
regions, proactively donated money and goods for various public welfare
activities in 2017, thus building good corporate images for the Group.

APPRECIATION

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to our management
team and staff members for their unfailing hard work and dedication.
We would continue to work hand in hand to improve service to our
customers, increase efficiency to enhance the values of the shareholders
and employees.

SHI SHANBO
Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 23rd March, 2018
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MBEE FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
g,/
—ZT—tHF ZT—RF CRiA)
For the year ended Increase/
BE+-A=1+—HLFE 31st December, 2017 2016 (Decrease)
wE7
Restated
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
0 Turnover 39,837,597 32,916,149 21.0%
ES| Gross profit 11,915,789 11,184,128 6.5%
ESER] (BRI EAA K Profit from operations
IR EMBENTELE) (before finance costs and
share of results of joint ventures
and associates) 6,305,062 5,955,007 5.9%
F Rz F Profit for the year 4,910,867 4,437,808 10.7%
KRB AFFE AR T Profit attributable to the Company’s
equity holders 3,653,994 3,289,399 11.1%
KEEBSHR G F5E Net cash from operating activities
(IR Z1E) (after tax payments) 7,796,322 7,364,946 5.9%
FAREAREFO (EIT) Basic EPS™ (HK$) 1.68 1.51 11.3%
R AHIAR S - B8R GBL) Final dividend proposed per share
(HK cents) 40 30 33.3%
2EIRE - B (GBI Total dividend per share for the year
(HK cents) 55 45 22.2%

MiEE < (1)

T/\ °

BRERBFIZD BTN O INEF
BYE - TRERBEIHE MR

Note: (1)

scheme.

EERRIZRERAF

Basic earnings per share is calculated based on weighted average
number of issued shares, excluding shares held for incentive award
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—E—tF —E-RE BN SCRD)
For the year ended Increase/
BE+=-A=+—HLEE 31st December, 2017 2016 (Decrease)
FHET FHT
HK$’°000 HK$'000
BEE Total assets 68,763,804 59,675,118 15.2%
SRITEB MRS AN EMTFF  Bank balances and cash and
other deposits 10,355,981 9,525,301 8.7%
RITREREERTE Total bank and note borrowings 11,366,719 12,167,694 (6.6%)
BEFE Net borrowings 1,010,738 2,642,393 (61.7%)
ARFBIRAFAB AR Equity attributable to the
Company'’s equity holders 21,992,648 17,768,243 23.8%
FEPEAR M 2 Non-controlling interests 7,176,677 5,936,550 20.9%
R 48| Total equity 29,169,325 23,704,793 23.1%
—E—-+tF NG S
BER Financial Indicators 2017 2016
EF= Gross profit margin 29.9% 34.0%
SFRIE (AR FE) Net profit margin (attributable to shareholders) 9.2% 10.0%
FHE (FA) Net profit margin (for the year) 12.3% 13.5%
mENEE & Current ratio 0.7x 0.8x
FEREGELERO Net debt to equity ratio 4.6% 14.9%
BEREELERO Debt to capitalization ratio® 28.0% 33.9%
BEAGL RO Debt to assets ratio® 16.5% 20.4%
[2ENEEES Return on equity 16.6% 18.5%
B5E - Notes:
(1) FEAEBEBEHEEEEFHEARIEGLR (1)  Net debt to equity ratio is the ratio of net borrowings to shareholders’ equity.
EN: =AY
(2) EBEXRBBHEEROREEREEHEFERR (2) Debt to capitalization ratio is the ratio of total bank and note borrowings to

TRRBERERERBEARENLD) -

(B) EEBBUERERTREBREEETAE (3)

ERERLLS -

assets.
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total bank and note borrowings and total equity.

Debt to asset ratio is the ratio of total bank and note borrowings to total
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EERR OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE
—E-LFEEHE Operational data for 2017
RIB-—+tF RZZT—RF
+=A=+-H +-A=+—H
As at As at
31st December, 31st December, 2E
EERE Operational Performance 2017 2016 Change
EHEE Number of projects 238 227 11
ERUEEFY (BF) Connectable householders
(ten thousand) 6,286 5,717 569
ERAFBEXR Penetration rate of residential
household 48.4% 46.0% 2.4%ppt
BERE (ABEYAX) Gross sales volume (million m?) 19,667 16,272 20.9%
BERAP Residential 4,767 4,314 10.5%
T¥RFP Industrial 8,644 6,646 30.1%
[SEIE]= Commercial 4,448 3,592 23.8%
CNGINE U CNG station 1.418 1,408 0.7%
LNG Ik LNG station 390 312 25.0%
FHHERE KL EF Average gas tariff/Cost/Gross margin
(AR¥EBIFK) (RMB per m?) 2.62/2.04/0.58 2.55/1.84/0.71 0.07/0.20/(0.13)
IH£CRERERE Installed designed capacity for C&I
(XAKER)/ EHE (%) customers (m? per day)/Utilization 80,595,070 78,586,300 2,008,770
rate (%) 38.3% 35.7% 2.6%ppt
EMRE (RE) Total length of pipeline (km) 145,522 128,575 16,947
EBAFE Connected customers 30,810,018 26,495,642 4,314,376
ERAEF Residential 30,568,360 26,303,006 4,265,354
T¥RF Industrial 15,224 11,293 3,931
EERP Commercial 226,434 181,343 45,091
THEREBRWA (AE®) Average residential connection fee
(RMB) 2,940 2,970 (30)
FREBERE (BEUWR) Gross new households with paid
connection fee
FCE Total 2,996,077 2,694,200 301,877
AHO” Consolidated 2,078,327 1,778,172 300,155
M&IE(CNG/LNG/L-CNG)  Gas station (CNG/LNG/L-CNG) 349 (227/79/43) 335 (221/73/41) 14 (6/6/2)
EBRRERERLAT T —tFF®
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group’s results for 2017 were mainly driven by organic growth. The
Group’s turnover for the year amounted to HK$39,838 million (2016:
HK$32,916 million).

The city gas distribution business contributed an after tax but before
non-controlling interest profit of HK$4,911 million (2016: HK$4,438
million) and profit attributable to shareholders of the Company of
HK$3,654 million (2016: HK$3,289 million).

Turnover

In 2017, the Group recorded a gross gas volume of 19.67 billion cubic
meters, representing an increase of 20.9%. The turnover of CR Gas
registered an increase of 21.0% from HK$32.916 billion to HK$39.838
billion for the year ended 31st December, 2017.

The Group recorded profit attributable to the Company’s equity holders
of HK$3,654 million, representing an increase of 11.1% as compared to
HK$3,289 million for the previous corresponding period.

Gross Margin

The Group’s overall gross profit margin was 29.9%, representing
a decrease of 4.1 percentage points as compared with previous
corresponding period. The decrease was mainly due to the inability
or delay to fully pass through the gas cost increase during the winter
season and higher gas consumption by some large customers with lower
gross profit margin.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other income, costs and expenses

The increase of HK$42 million in other income was mainly due to the
increase of interest income resulting from the rising deposit interest rate
of domestic banks and increasing cash pool deposits placed in banks.

As a percentage of revenue, selling and distribution expenses as well
as the administration expenses were 9.4% and 6.4% respectively (2016:
10.4% and 7.5%, respectively).

Finance expense reduced by HK$59 million was mainly due to
conversion of some Hong Kong Dollar denominated term loans into lower
interest revolving loans, as well as the reduction of outstanding loans.

Share of results of joint ventures increased by HK$ 1.3 million was mainly
due to the newly acquired Qingdao Project but partly offset by the losses
suffered by Tianjin Project and Qinhuangdao Project.

Share of results of associates, increased by HK$14 million was mainly
contributed by Chongging Project.

Taxation decreased by HK$48 million to HK$1,703 million, representing
25.7% of profit before taxation (2016: 28.3%). This was mainly due
to deferred taxation provision on undistributed profits of certain
subsidiaries.
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Strong operating and free cash flow generation

The city gas distribution operation continued to generate healthy cash
flow with a net operating cash flow after tax of HK$7,796 million. The
Group recorded bank balances and cash of HK$10,356 million at the
end of 2017. The Group has continued to leverage on its strong balance
sheet to raise low cost finance during 2017 and has a total bank loans
and senior notes of HK$11,367 million outstanding as at 31st December,
2017. The Group maintains a very healthy balance sheet with a low gross
debt to total asset ratio of 16.5% (2016: 20.4%).

Reasonable rates of return

In view of the fact that the Group is still in expansion phase, the city gas
distribution operation maintained reasonable return on equity of 16.6%
in 2017. The Group invested and approved a total of 36 new projects in
2017. The rates of returns are expected to improve once all these newly
acquired projects start to attain higher operating efficiency and generate
more returns in 2017 and thereafter.

Major contributors

Previously, the earlier projects of Chengdu, Wuxi and Suzhou acquired
in 2008 used to account for more than 80% of the gas sales volume,
connection fee and net profit contribution. As the Group has acquired
more new projects from 2009 to 2017, their contribution percentages
have decreased and taken up by others such as Chongging, Zhengzhou,
Zhenjiang, Fuzhou, Nanjing, Qingdao, Anyang and Wuhan. The
percentage contribution from all projects are expected to gradually
become more evenly distributed in the future. The broadening of the
Group’s earning base will ensure the Group will not rely heavily on any
single city gas project.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The net cash inflow after tax from operations during the year amounted
to HK$7,796 million (2016: HK$7,365 million).

To fund its acquisition expansion, the Group spent HK$856 million in
capital expenditure during the year. The Group spent HK$4.5 billion
in upgrading and expanding of its existing city gas pipelines and
related facilities (2016: HK$3.6 billion). The above required funding
was financed by the operating cash flow, bank borrowings and cash on
hand of the Group. As at year end, the Group’s bank balances and cash
and other deposits was HK$10.4 billion (2016: HK$9.5 billion). Among
the balances, 1% was denominated in Hong Kong dollar and 97% in
Renminbi and 2% in US dollar.

It is the Group’s policy to use the cash flow generated from operations
and appropriate level of borrowings as the principal source of fund to
finance major expansion and acquisition. As at the end of the year, the
Group had total bank and note borrowings of HK$11.4 billion (2016:
HK$12.2 billion). 47% (2016: 26%) of the bank and note borrowings
is considered as current liabilities and repayable within one year, the
remaining are repayable in more than one year. Renminbi, Hong Kong
dollar, US dollar and Japanese Yen, denominated borrowings accounted
for 1%, 46%, 51% and 2% of the total borrowings respectively (2016:
14%, 37%, 47% and 2%). 47% (2016: 50%) of bank and note borrowings
are interest bearing on floating rate terms and 53% (2016: 50%) are
interest bearing bank loans and senior notes with fixed interest rate.

The bank balances and cash and other deposits of the Group was
HK$10.4 billion as at the year end. The gearing ratio of the Group at the
end of the year, calculated as total bank and note borrowings over total
assets, was 16.5% (2016: 20.4%). The financial position and liquidity of
the Group is very healthy and stable.

The Group has been granted a total of HK$6.7 billion and RMB3.3
billion (2016: HK$7.9 billion and RMB1.8 billion) banking facilities
with maturities from 2018 to 2019. The facilities are unsecured and
with floating interest rates. As at the end of the year, 72% of the HK$
facilities (2016: 72%) and 12% of the RMB facilities (2016: 18%) has
been drawn down.
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Other than the above, the Group has no other committed borrowing
facilities. For day-to-day liquidity management and maintaining flexibility
in funding, the Group has managed to obtain sufficient uncommitted
short-term facilities from banks.

Charge of Assets

As at 31st December, 2017, bank deposits of HK$11.8 million were
pledged as securities for trade payables to suppliers of natural gas.

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year ended 31st December, 2017, the Group’s city gas
distribution business spent HK$242 million on machinery and equipment
and HK$1,361 million on construction in progress.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31st December, 2017, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

Financial Management and Treasury Policy

The financial risk management of the Group is the responsibility of
the Group’s treasury function at the head office in Hong Kong. One of
the major objectives of the Group’s treasury policies is to manage its
exposure to fluctuation in interest rates and foreign currency exchange
rates. It is the Group’s policy not to engage in speculative activities.

Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in Hong
Kong dollar, US dollar and Renminbi with some denominated in JPY.
The Group does not expect significant exposure to foreign exchange
fluctuations in this regard.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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T &% E Mr. Wang Chuandong

AZEZE %4 Mr. Shi Shanbo
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Mr. Wang Chuandong, aged 54, was appointed as an Executive Director
and General Manager of the Company on 3rd November, 2008. He was
appointed as the Chairman of the Board of the Company with effect from
1st June, 2012. He is also the Chairman of the Company’s Nomination
Committee and a member of the Investment Committee. He was appointed
as a Director and the General Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings)
Limited in February 2007. He is currently a Deputy General Manager of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. Mr. Wang joined China Resources
Petrochems (Group) Company Limited in 1985 and was previously its
Director and Deputy General Manager. He has over 25 years of corporate
management experience in the area of petroleum and related products
trading and distribution and holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Science majoring
in Petroleum Refining from the China University of Petroleum and a Master
of Business Administration Degree from the University of Texas, USA.
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Mr. Shi Shanbo, aged 52, was appointed as an Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 1st June, 2012 and is also a
member of the Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee
of the Company. He is currently the Assistant General Manager of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. Mr. Shi joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in 1991, and was a Non-executive Director
of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (formerly known as
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China Resources Enterprise, Limited), China Resources Land Limited and
China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, and Vice Chairman
and General Manager of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited, which
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
He was a Director of China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. He was the
Chairman of China Resources Jinhua Co., Ltd., a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, from November 2006 to March 2010. He was
previously the Audit Director and Deputy General Manager of the Finance
Department of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited and the
General Manager of China Resources Textiles (Holdings) Company Limited.
Mr. Shi holds a Master’'s Degree in Economics from Dongbei University of
Finance and Economics.
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Mr. Ge Bin, aged 54, was appointed as an Executive Director and Vice
Chairman of the Company on 20th February, 2014. He is responsible for
customer service and gas business in the Greater Area of Shanghai, Jiangsu,
Fujian, Hunan and Hubei. Mr. Ge joined China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited in September 1996 and has been with China Resources

Gas (Holdings) Limited since September 2007 and held former positions as
EHWSLE Mr. Ge Bin Assistant General Manager, Deputy General Manager, Senior Vice President.
Mr. Ge holds a Master’s Degree in Engineering from Nanjing Tech University,
and holds a senior economist qualification.
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Mr. Du Wenmin, aged 54, was appointed as a Non-executive Director of
the Company in March 2008, and is also a member of the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company. He is a
non-executive director of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
in August 2008. The company is listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Du is the Deputy General Manager of
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. Mr. Du is also the Director of
China Resources Company Limited. Mr. Du was previously the Chief Human
Resources Officer of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. He was
a director of China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.,
which is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, and China Resources
Double-Crane Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., which is listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange. He was previously the Managing Director of China
Resources Construction (Holdings) Limited and the Internal Audit Director
of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. He was a non-executive
director of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (formerly
known as China Resources Enterprise, Limited) from September 2007 to
April 2016, a non-executive director of China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited from July 2010 to April 2016 and a non-executive
director of China Resources Land Limited from August 2007 to April 2017.
These companies are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Du obtained a Master’s Degree in Business and
Administration from the University of San Francisco, USA. He joined China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1985.
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Mr. Chen Ying, aged 46, was appointed as a Non-executive Director
of the Company in June 2012, and is also a member of the Investment
Committee of the Company. He was appointed as a non-executive director
of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited in May 2012, and China
Resources Power Holdings Company Limited and China Resources Land
Limited in June 2012. These companies are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He is Chief Strategy Officer
of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited since July 2013 and the
Director of Strategy Management Department since October 2011. He has
worked as Project Engineer, Project Manager and Manager of Procurement
Department and Executive Director of China Resources Construction
(Holdings) Company Limited, a fellow subsidiary of the Company, from
September 1993 to March 2002. He was also the Managing Director of
China Resources Land (Beijing) Limited from March 2002 to October
2011 and a Director of China Resources Land Limited from March 2003 to
February 2006. He was also a Director of China Resources Double-Crane
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. from May 2012 to December 2015 and a director
of China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. from June
2012 to December 2015. He was also a non-executive director of China
Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (formerly known as China
Resources Enterprise, Limited) from May 2012 to April 2016, which is listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He was
also appointed as a non-executive director of China Vanke Co., Ltd. from
March 2013 to June 2017, which is listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Mr.
Chen obtained a Bachelor’s degree of Architectural Management from the
Tsinghua University, China in 1993 and a Master's degree of Business
Administration from University of Oxford, the United Kingdom, in 2007. Mr.
Chen joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1993.
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Mr. Wang Yan, aged 46, was appointed as a Non-executive Director of
the Company in August 2014, and is also a member of the Audit and Risk
Management Committee of the Company. He joined China Resources
Company Limited in July 1994. He worked for China Resources Petrochems
(Group) Company Limited from 2000 to 2006. Mr. Wang was appointed as
a director of China Resources Gas Limited in November 2005. He was a
Deputy General Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited from
September 2007 to April 2012. He was a Deputy Director of Internal Audit
Department of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited from April
2012 to January 2016. He was appointed as a Director of Internal Audit
Department of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in February
2016. He was appointed as the non-executive director of China Resources
Power Holdings Co. Ltd., China Resources Land Limited and China
Resources Cement Holdings Ltd. in August 2014. He was also appointed as
the non-executive director of China Resources Phoenix Healthcare Holdings
Company Limited in November 2016. Mr. Wang was a non-executive director
of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (formerly known as
China Resources Enterprise, Limited) from August 2014 to April 2016. These
companies are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. Mr. Wang holds a Bachelor's Degree in Economics from the
Finance and Accounting Department, Capital University of Economics and
Business, a Master of Business Administration Degree from the University
of South Australia and is a qualified PRC Certified Accountant.
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F#&lZ+ Ms. Yu Jian

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
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Mr. Wong Tak Shing, aged 67, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in 1998. He is the Chairman of the
Company’s Remuneration Committee and members of the Audit and Risk
Management Committee, Nomination Committee, Investment Committee and
Corporate Governance Committee. Mr. Wong involves in various professional
appointments and public duties, including Member of Probate Committee of
the Law Society of Hong Kong and Member of Working Party on Charities
and Trust of the Law Society of Hong Kong (2011-2018). He was admitted as
a solicitor of the Supreme Court of Hong Kong in 1984, a solicitor of England
& Wales and Australia respectively in 1989, a solicitor of Singapore in 1995
and was appointed as a China-Appointed Attesting Officer with effect
from 18th January, 2003 and full member (TEP) of the Society of Trust and
Estate Practitioners (STEP) with effect from 12th February, 2010. Mr. Wong
has been in private practice in Hong Kong for over 30 years. From 1984 to
1987, he worked as an assistant solicitor with two local law firms in Hong
Kong before setting up his own practice in 1987. Mr. Wong holds a Master’s
Degree in Laws from the Peking University of China and a Master’'s Degree
in Laws from the University of London of England.
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Ms. Yu Jian, aged 64 was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company on 17th March, 2010. She is the Chairman of the Company’s
Corporate Governance Committee and a member of the Audit and Risk
Management Committee and Nomination Committee. She actively involves in
various bodies and associations, including Executive President of the Shenzhen
Federation of Entrepreneurs and Shenzhen Entrepreneurs Association. Ms. Yu
was previously the Chairman of Shenzhen Water (Group) Co., Ltd, the General
Manager of Shenzhen Gas Corporation Limited and Vice-President of the China
Urban Water Association. Ms. Yu graduated from the Harbin University of Civil
Engineering and Architecture and is a Senior Engineer with professorship.
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Mr. Yu Hon To, David, aged 69, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company on 28th December, 2012. Mr. Yu is a fellow
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He has extensive experience in the fields of auditing, corporate
finance, financial investigation and corporate management. He was formerly
a partner of an international accounting firm. He is currently an Independent
Non-executive Director of China Renewable Energy Investment Limited, Haier
Electronics Group Co., Ltd., Keck Seng Investments (Hong Kong) Limited,
Media Chinese International Limited, New Century Asset Management
Limited (which is the manager of New Century Real Estate Investment Trust,
a Hong Kong Collective Investment Scheme listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited), One Media Group Limited and
Playmates Holdings Limited which are Main Board listed companies in Hong
Kong. He was an Independent Non-executive Director of Synergis Holdings
Limited, Great China Holdings Limited and Bracell Limited, which are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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Mr. Qin Chaokui, aged 49, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director and members of the Nomination Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company on 28th December, 2012. He is a
professor, doctoral supervisor and Head of Gas Engineering Research Centre
of the School of Mechanical and Energy Engineering, Tongji University,
performing research in the field of gas utilization, transmission/distribution,
and production. He is currently a member of Renewable Energy Ultilization
in Buildings Sub-group of MOHURD (Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural
Development of the People’s Republic of China), a member of Shanghai
Municipal Urban-Rural Development & Transportation Commission Science
and Technology Committee, a council member of China Gas Association, a
member of Gas Sub-society of China Civil Engineer Society. He is currently
member of editorial boards of some academic periodicals, including “Gas
and Heat”, “Building Energy Conservation”, “City Gas” etc. Mr. Qin graduated
from Tongji University and holds a Doctor’'s Degree in Engineering.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Qin Xuwen, aged 56, was appointed as a Senior Vice President
of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February 2014. She is in
charge of the management of East China Region. She was the General
Manager of Nanjing China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from 2006 to 2013.

Mr. Zhu Likun, aged 51, was appointed as a Senior Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February 2014, responsible
for operation and safety work. Mr. Zhu holds a Bachelor's Degree
majoring in Petro-chemical Industry Automation from the Nanjing
University of Chemical Technology (currently known as Nanjing University
of Technology), a Master’s Degree majoring in International Economics
from the Soochow University, and a Senior Engineer qualification. He
joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in August 2003.

Ms. Cheng Jie, aged 43, was appointed as a Senior Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February 2014, responsible
for information, finance and internal audit work. Ms. Cheng holds a
Bachelor’'s Degree in Business Administration from Zhongnan University
of Finance and Economics. She has worked in China Resources Gas
(Holdings) Limited since June 2005, where she once served as the
Financial Controller. Prior to joining China Resources Gas (Holdings)
Limited, Ms. Cheng served as a senior manager in investment banking
division of Head & Shoulders Securities.

Mr. Zheng Xifeng, aged 60, was appointed as a Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in September 2007, responsible
for internal corporate affairs. Mr. Zheng holds a Bachelor's Degree in
Law from the School of Law of Xiamen University, a Master of Business
Administration Degree from the University of San Francisco in the United
States, and the qualification as Senior International Business Engineer.
He joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in August
1985 and has been with China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since
September 2007.

Mr. Huang Weizhong, aged 52, was appointed as a Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in September 2007, responsible
for investment and legal affairs. Mr. Huang holds a Master's Degree
majoring in International Finance from the Fudan University and licenses
to practice as a lawyer and an engineer. He joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in March 2000 and has been working for
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since March 2007.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Yin Xiaojun, aged 44, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible for
operation and management of Northern Region. He served as various
posts in Suzhou Xin Qu Gas Corporation (& /IFT@IAF A F]) from 1996
to 2008, including Scheduling, Engineering Design, Pipelines Deputy
Director, Business Deputy Director, Deputy Director of the Chief Engineer
Office, Workshop Director and Production Chief Director, he also served
as Assistant General Manager in Suzhou China Resources Gas Co., Ltd.
from 2003 to 2005, Executive Deputy General Manager of Chengdu City
Gas Co., Ltd. from 2005 to 2009 and General Manager of Kunming China
Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from 2009 to 2011. Mr. Yin graduated from Tongji
University and holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in Gas Profession.

Mr. Zhu Ping, aged 52, was appointed as a Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible for
operation and management of North China Region. He has been with
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since September 2004, where
he once served as the Head of Administration. Mr. Zhu had served as
a Deputy General Manager in Huainan Gas Corporation (EEm/ER A
A]), an Executive Deputy General Manager in Yuyao Urban Gas Co., Ltd.
(BB AR AR A A)) from 2000 to 2001, and Senior Project Manager
and General Manager in Wenzhou Xinao Gas Co., Ltd. CEMNFTEBRRE
fR 2 A]) from 2001 to 2004.

Mr. Shi Baofeng, aged 46, was appointed as a Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible
for the operation of South China Region. Mr. Shi holds a Master of
Business Administration Degree from the Southwest Jiaotong University
and a Master Degree from the China Europe International Business
School; he also holds a Senior Engineer qualification. He joined China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 2006 and China Resources
Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2007.

Mr. Chen Guoyong, aged 56, was appointed as Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible
for operation and management of Central and Western Region. He is
also responsible for operation and management of the Greater Henan
and Shanxi Area, and concurrently serves as Chairman and General
Manager of Zhengzhou China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. (ENEE B A HE
fR 2 R]) since April 2015. He is currently a Committee Member of the Gas
Transmission and Distribution Professional of the China Civil Engineering
Society. He joined the Design Institute of Jining Gas Company in 1984
and served as an Assistant Engineer from 1985 to 1986. Mr. Chen
served as Director of the Dispatch Office and an Engineer of Jining Gas
Company from 1986 to 2000, Deputy Secretary of the CPC Committee and
Deputy General Manager of Jining Gas Company from 2000 to 2005, and
Secretary of CPC Committee and General Manager of Jining Gas Company
from 2005 to 2007.
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Mr. Lu Hong, aged 47, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible for
operation and management of Southeast Region. Mr. Lu holds a
Bachelor's Degree in Commercial Enterprise Management from Tianjin
University of Commerce. He served at various posts (from staff member
to Executive Deputy General Manager) in Beijing Jinye Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (b R&ZEFEHE) from 1993 to 2000, Chairman
of Fuzhou Jingyou New Building Materials Co., Ltd. (@R FHAE
MABMRAR]) from 2000 to 2004, and various posts (from staff member
to Deputy General Manager) in Fujian Anran Gas Co., Ltd. ({8&% R
BREABBRATR]) from 2004 to 2007. He served as General Manager of
Yueyang China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. and Qianjiang China Resources
Gas Co., Ltd. from 2007 to 2008, General Manager of Kunming China
Resources Gas Co. Ltd. from 2008 to 2009, General Manager of Fuzhou
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. since 2009, General Manager of Greater
Fujian Area since 2011, and Acting General Manager of Xiamen China
Resources Gas Co., Ltd. since May 2015.

Mr. Yang Changyi, aged 57, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in December 2014, and he also
serves as the General Manager of Tianjin China Resources Gas Limited.
Mr. Yang was the Financial Controller of Suzhou China Resources Gas
Co., Ltd. from 2003 to 2005, the Financial Controller of Chengdu City
Gas Co., Ltd. from 2005 to 2007, the General Manager of Xiamen China
Ltd. from 2007 to 2011. Mr. Yang has studied
Ideological and Political Education in Nanjing Normal University and
Technology Economy and Management in Hohai University; he is also
a qualified accountant in the PRC.

Resources Gas Co.,

Mr. Yang Ping, aged 44, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in December 2016, responsible
for the operation of Central China Region. Mr. Yang was the Chief
Representative of the Shanghai Representative Office of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited from 2005 to 2011, the General
Manager of the Office & Administration Department of China Resources
Gas (Holdings) Limited from 2011 to 2012, the Vice General Manager
of the Greater Hubei Area and the General Manager of Wugang China
Resources Gas (Wuhan) Co., Ltd from 2012 to 2014. Mr. Yang graduated
from Tongji University and holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in Gas Profession.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Corporate Governance Report

The Group is dedicated to maintaining a good credible framework
of corporate governance with a view to being transparent, open and
accountable to its shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company has adopted the mandatory provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules. In line with the mandatory provisions of the Code, the Company
has adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook (the “Handbook”)
on 23rd December, 2005 and subsequently updated it in 2008, 2009,
2010, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016 respectively. The contents of
the Handbook include, among others, directors’ duties, model code for
directors’ transactions in securities, model code for securities transaction
by relevant employees, the functions and terms of reference of the
Audit and Risk Management, Remuneration, Nomination, Investment
and Corporate Governance Committees, disclosure of information,
communication with shareholders, procedures for shareholders to
propose a person for election as a director and board diversity policy.
All the mandatory provisions under the Code have been adopted and
reflected in the Handbook. The Company has throughout the year
complied with the mandatory provisions of the Code except for the
deviation from the code provisions D.1.4 which is explained as follows:

Under the code provision D.1.4, the Company should have formal
letters of appointment for directors setting out the key terms and
conditions of their appointment. The Company did not have formal
letters of appointment for Directors. However, the Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years in accordance
with the Bye-Laws. In addition, the Directors are required to refer to
the guidelines set out in “A Guide on Directors’ Duties” issued by the
Companies Registry and “Guidelines for Directors” and “Guide for
Independent Non-executive Directors” (if applicable) published by
the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in performing their duties and
responsibilities as directors of the Company. Besides, the Directors are
required to comply with the requirements under statute and common
law, the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the
Company’s business and governance policies.

Save as mentioned above and in the opinion of the Directors, the

Company has met the code provisions set out in the Code throughout
the year.
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THE BOARD

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of three
Executive Directors, three Non-executive Directors and four Independent
Non-executive Directors, one of whom namely Mr. Yu Hon To, David has
the appropriate professional accounting experience and expertise as
required under the Listing Rules. The names and biographical details
of each Director are disclosed on pages 29 to 35 of this annual report.

Each Independent Non-executive Director has, pursuant to the
guidelines set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, confirmed that he
is independent of the Company and the Company also considers that
they are independent. The term of office of each Non-executive Director,
including Independent Non-executive Director, is for a period of three
years subject to the requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant
to the Bye-laws of the Company. The relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship), if any, among
members of the Board are disclosed in this annual report. There is no
such relationship between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.

FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible both for how the Company is managed and
the Company’s direction. Approval of the Board is required for the
strategy of the Group, yearly budget, major acquisition and disposal,
major capital investment, dividend policy, appointment and removal
of Directors and senior management, remuneration policy and other
major operational, financial, risk management and internal control
matters. Day-to-day operations of the Group are the responsibility of
the Company’s management.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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The Board has held regular meetings during 2017. Details of individual

attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

—E—+tF —E—+t5F —E—tF —E—+tF
B =A=+NH NA+N\B +—A=++t8H +=ANR
28th March, 18th August, 27th November, 8th December,
Date 2017 2017 2017 2017
=E E3 FEREE FEREE AEEAE FEREE
Mr. Wang Mr. Wang Mr. Shi Mr. Wang
Meeting Chairman Chuandong Chuandong Shanbo Chuandong
HITES Executive Directors
FEREE Mr. Wang Chuandong N N ) V
BEELLE Mr. Shi Shanbo N N N N
Bkt Mr. Ge Bin N N N N
TRBEE Mr. Ong Thiam Kin N N N/A N/A
(R=ZZT—+tF (resigned on
NA—HEHE) 1st September, 2017)
FHITES Non-executive Directors
MHXR%E Mr. Du Wenmin 0 0 0 o
PRt Mr. Wei Bin 0 0 1) o
(RZE—N\F (resigned on
—A+hBEE) 19th January, 2018)
PREXE Mr. Chen Ying 0 0 0 0
TEXAE Mr. Wang Yan 0 0 0 N
BIYFHTES Independent Non-executive
Directors
BERBEE Mr. Wong Tak Shing N N N J
Falzt Ms. Yu Jian N N N N
BEE LA Mr. Yu Hon To, David V N N N
ES RS ies Mr. Qin Chaokui V N J o
T (MEARTXER) ¢ Remarks (also applicable to the tables set out below):
Vv o= HE J = attended
O = ®BE O = didn't attend
N/A= TEMA N/A = not applicable
EBRRERERLAT T —tFF®
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The Company has held one general meeting during 2017. Details of
individual attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

—E2—+tF
B HAZ=+H
26th May,
Date 2017
=6 £ FEREE
Mr. Wong
Meeting Chairman Chuandong
HITES Executive Directors
FEREE Mr. Wang Chuandong N
AEBELE Mr. Shi Shanbo 0
Bkt Mr. Ge Bin 0
TAREL Mr. Ong Thiam Kin v
(RZZE—tFhA—HET) (resigned on 1st September, 2017)
FHITES Non-executive Directors
HXREE Mr. Du Wenmin 0
s Mr. Wei Bin 0
(RZZE—N\F—A+LBET) (resigned on 19th January, 2018)
PR IE 5 4 Mr. Chen Ying 0
TEXE Mr. Wang Yan 0
BIYFHITES Independent Non-executive Directors
=SB AE Mr. Wong Tak Shing N
TRzt Ms. Yu Jian N
BIEE S Mr. Yu Hon To, David N
REPRELE Mr. Qin Chaokui 0
EEEREZTBER BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
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BRERERN T XRE -
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BRTRBEZFE EFEMEERES
REZSRBANEFMTE RN RE
SBOKFAES -

o

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) on 23rd
August, 2013. A summary of this Policy, together with the measurable
objectives set for implementing this Policy, and the progress made
towards achieving those objectives are disclosed as below.

Summary of the Policy

The Company sees diversity at Board level as an essential element in
maintaining a competitive advantage. A truly diverse Board will include
and make good use of differences in the skills, regional and industry
experience, background, gender and other qualities of the members
of the Board. These differences will be considered in determining
the optimum composition of the Board and when possible should be
balanced appropriately. All Board appointments are made on merit, in
the content of the skills and experience the Board as a whole requires
to be effective.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Measurable Objectives

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually all
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and
recommend them to the Board for adoption. At any given time, the Board
may seek to improve one or more aspects of its diversity and measure
progress accordingly. For the year under review, no measurable
objective was set by the Nomination Committee.

Implementation

As at the date of this report, the Board’s composition under major

diversified perspectives was summarized as follows:

50-59 (5)

M R ANBETFRREEARK

515

ARREBAAEERE2EBETXERIAR
B REHACHMBNREE - SR ED
EEHUIBE LT RRESHEERER
BEHES - BB LRI REMEREER
EEMERNVBBEEFTERETES - U
BRAEAUEIRESREHRIFOEE RN
E e

FR- 2RBEFHEZMREARINES
DA&%%%H}%%EE%&%$EZ$E?ﬁﬁﬁiﬁ
Jl - HEBREANAMEHREE - AR
BUEIREENIE Jllﬁﬁauliliﬁﬂ/ﬁ}zaﬂﬁ°

Note: the number in bracket represents the number of the Directors

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Each
newly appointed Director would receive the guides covering the statutory
and regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company. The relevant
updates on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements are also provided to the
Directors in order to ensure compliance and raise their concerns on
good corporate governance.

During the year, all the Directors have participated in the relevant
professional training, attended relevant briefings and gave talks which
cover the Company'’s business and the statutory and regulatory updates.
The Company has received the confirmations of and/or records of the
training from the respective Directors.
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CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

As at the date of this annual report, the Chairman of the Board is
Mr. Wang Chuandong while Mr. Shi Shanbo is the Chief Executive
Officer. The Chairman provides leadership to the Board and formulate,
together with the Board, the business strategies and long-term objectives
of the Company whilst the Chief Executive Officer carries out the
decisions made by the Board and is in charge of the Company’s
day-to-day management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To strengthen the functions of the Board and to enhance its expertise,
as at the date of this annual report, there are five committees namely,
the Audit and Risk Management, Remuneration, Nomination, Investment
and Corporate Governance Committees under the Board, with each
performing different functions.

Audit and Risk Management Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit and Risk Management
Committee comprises of three Independent Non-executive Directors
namely Mr. Yu Hon To, David (Chairman), Mr. Wong Tak Shing and Ms.
Yu Jian and one Non-executive Director, namely Mr. Wang Yan. The
Committee’s role is to provide an independent and objective review of
the effectiveness of the financial reporting process, internal control, risk
management as well as internal audit function of the Group. Its functions
broadly fall into the following three main areas:

. make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external auditor, and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of external auditor
and any matters related to the resignation or dismissal of external
auditor;

. review the financial statements of the Company’s annual and
half-year reports and accounts; and

° oversee the Company’s financial reporting system, internal controls
and risk management systems.

The terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Management Committee
have been uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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During 2017 and up to the date of this annual report, the Audit and
Risk Management Committee has reviewed the financial statements
and yearly results announcement for 2016, and those for the half-yearly
results and yearly results for 2017. These include the review of the
Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices; the review of
the continuing connected transactions of the Company conducted in
2016 and 2017; and the review of the internal audit reports prepared
by the Company’s Audit Division.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee has held three meetings
during 2017. Details of individual attendance of its members are set out

P in the table below:
ES- KB
Chairman Members
£ YT
(R=B-N\&F
—RA+hE
MEELE BHE) IERE EBBLE Tzt
Mr. Wei Bin
(resigned
on 19th
Mr. Yu Hon January, Mr. Wang Mr. Wong
A8 Date To, David 2018) Yan Tak Shing  Ms. Yu Jian
ZE2tF=A1+RA 16th March, 2017 Y 0 0 J o
ZT—+FNANA 9th August, 2017 v o N N 0
—ZE—+F+ZANR 8th December, 2017 y 0 0 V N
YHEES Remuneration Committee
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The role and main function of the Remuneration Committee is to
determine and review the compensation and benefit policy of Executive
Directors and senior management, including but not limited to bonus
plan, Incentive Award Scheme and other long term incentive plan,
as well as bonus allocation and salary adjustment of each Executive
Director and senior management.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been
uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee
comprises of two Independent Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Wong
Tak Shing (Chairman) and Mr. Yu Hon To, David and one Non-executive
Director namely Mr. Du Wenmin.
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During 2017, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting to review
and determine the incentive awards, related bonus and compensation
of the Executive Directors and senior management. Details of individual
attendance of its members are set out in the table below:

£S5 541
Chairman Members

EEBELE HXREE MEELLE
B Date Mr. Wong Tak Shing Mr. Du Wenmin Mr. Yu Hon To, David
—tFNA+HA 15th September, 2017 N 0 N
REE—E—+F+-_A=+—HILEE - For the year ended 31st December, 2017, the remuneration of the

SHEIE A BIREEL S T FMETMT members of the senior management by band is set out below:
A
FrMeEE (Bx) Remuneration band (HKD) Number of persons

0/870%1,000,000/8 7T

1,000,001, 7T% 1,500,000/ 7T
1,500,001,8 7. %2,000,000/% 7T
2,000,001 7% 7T 52,500,000/ 7T
3,500,001 7L 24,000,000/ 7T
4,000,001 7T 24,500,000/ 7T
4,500,001 7% 7T £5,000,0007% 7T

HKDO to HKD 1,000,000

HKD1,000,001 to HKD 1,500,000
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000
HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000
HKD3,500,001 to HKD4,000,000
HKD4,000,001 to HKD4,500,000
HKD4,500,001 to HKD5,000,000
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FN/NETFEpre

RAFHEY REZEGHMENTE
EXIEMELE (R AEEELER A
FERTEEMXREEA R OEE L IEH
TEEESEELE Tt wEEX
ERRAEFEEK -

Note: the above includes a senior executive who retired in 2017.

Further particulars regarding the directors’ emoluments and the
five highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant
to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The role and main function of the Nomination Committee is to review the
structure and composition of the Board, and to make recommendation
to the Board on the selection of individual nominated for directorships.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have been uploaded
to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee comprises
of two Executive Directors namely Mr. Wang Chuandong (Chairman),
Mr. Shi Shanbo and one Non-executive Director namely Mr. Du Wenmin
and four Independent Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Wong Tak
Shing, Ms. Yu Jian, Mr. Yu Hon To, David and Mr. Qin Chaokui.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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The selection criteria for Directors are the candidate(s) must have
substantial experience in business relevant to the Company or in
corporate management, or in relevant profession and must be able to
contribute effectively to the objectives of the Company. In identifying
suitable candidates for appointment to the Board, the Nomination
Committee will consider candidates on merit against objective criteria
and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Any
committee member may propose suitable candidates for directorship for
discussion and approval by the Nomination Committee, after which the
Board will consider and, if proper, approve such nomination. Directors
thus selected is subject to re-election by shareholders of the Company in
the next general meeting or next annual general meeting, as appropriate,
according to the Bye-laws of the Company.

During 2017, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the existing terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee as well as the composition of
the Board and its committees.

The Nomination Committee has held one meeting during 2017. Details of
the individual attendance of its members are set out in the table below:

Ed:3 KE
Chairman Members
IBREE AEEKE HRIRKE  EEBAL Talzt mEELE REBELE
Mr. Wang Mr. Shi Mr. Du Mr. Wong Ms. Yu Mr. Yu Hon Mr. Qin
= Date Chuandong Shanbo Wenmin  Tak Shing Jian To, David Chaokui
“T—+F=A=+/\B  28th March, 2017 | y 0 y | N N

REZES
REZEENIERERBDESSEN T
8,000,000 7T 20,000,000 7T 2 1% & P
EREFSTRREZ EMPIEANERRE
RE (BRKBRHERS) -

RAFRAHY  REZBEHBNTES
FTERELE (EF) —BIFATEERE
FTEUR 2B IFNTEFESHLER
B o

Investment Committee

The role and main function of the Investment Committee is to assist
the Board in making investment decisions (including acquisition or
divestment opportunity) within the investment threshold of US$8 million
to US$20 million or other thresholds as authorised by the Board from
time to time.

The terms of reference of the Investment Committee have been uploaded
to the website of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Investment Committee comprises
of one Executive Director namely Mr. Wang Chuandong (Chairman), one
Non-executive Director namely Mr. Chen Ying, and one Independent
Non-executive Director namely Mr. Wong Tak Shing.
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During 2017, the Investment Committee passed 2 written resolutions by
all members of the Investment Committee dated 10th August, 2017 and
11th December, 2017, respectively to review and approve 2 investment
proposals.

Corporate Governance Committee

The role and main function of the Corporate Governance Committee is to
assist the Board in developing and reviewing the policies and practices
on corporate governance which are applicable to the Group and making
recommendations to the Board.

The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee have
been uploaded to the website of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Corporate Governance
Committee comprises of three Independent Non-executive Directors
namely Ms. Yu Jian (Chairman), Mr. Wong Tak Shing and Mr. Qin
Chaokui, and one Executive Director namely Mr. Shi Shanbo.

T —tF EERZEECDENAQ During 2017, the Corporate Governance Committee has reviewed the
AR T —tFEETFTTFANER - Company’s compliance with the Code during the year 2017.
%Euu BER_T—LFRIT-REg The Corporate Governance Committee has held one meeting during
o TR#HEKERERNLFIFER : 2017. Details of the individual attendance of its members are set out in
the table below:
£ 4 BE
Chairman Members
Falzt RERKE TRREE EEBAE RYEELE
Ms. Yu Mr. Shi Mr. Ong Mr. Wong Mr. Qin
=R:t] Date Jian Shanbo Thiam Kin Tak Shing Chaokui
(R=Z—+F
NA—B&ET)
(resigned on
1st September,
2017)
—+%#=H=-+/\B  28th March, 2017 N J N N J

B EXPREH AR B ER A
BIFR LR AIE13.51(B)(1) G T AR -

Save for the information disclosed above, there is no other information
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(B)(1) of the Listing
Rules.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility of maintaining an effective risk
management and internal control system to provide reasonable, though not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.

The Board, through the Audit and Risk Management Committee, conducts
annual review of the effectiveness of the Company’s systems of risk
management and internal control covering all material controls, including
financial controls, internal control and risk management systems.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee considers the major
investigation findings on risk management and internal control matter
as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and management’s
response to these findings.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee also considers the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of the Company’s
accounting, financial reporting and internal audit functions, and their
training programmes and budget. With respect to procedures and
internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside information,
the Company has set out written policies and procedures in relation to
the handling of inside information, including but not limited to measures
to ensure compliance of disclosure requirement.

The Internal Audit Division assists the Audit and Risk Management
Committee to review the effectiveness of such risk management and
internal control system in operation. The Division regularly carries out
internal audit and other related audit reviews and reports its findings
and suggestions for improvement on better internal controls to the Audit
and Risk Management Committee for their consideration. During the
year, the Internal Audit Division has also conducted reviews of key risk
management system of the Company. Its findings were reported to the
Audit and Risk Management Committee for consideration and would
form the basis for further improvement in the future. Inspections and
risk assessments were carried out in key risk areas such as operation
environment (concession rights availability and their protection, pipeline
infrastructure bottlenecks, strategy execution hurdles, etc); financial
management (cash custody and management, payment approval
process, receivables management, accounting policy adherence, etc);
safety management (pipeline infrastructure inspection and maintenance
process, safety system and related safety incident reporting structure,
etc); engineering and construction management (tender process
reviews, project management procedures and practice); key materials
procurement (vendor and materials qualification process, tendering and
quality control processes, etc).

[

AN
.
{)
{)
Tt
5

EERRIZRERAF

49



EEERRE

Corporate Governance Report

BESN - R ERER S ED IR LD BRAE P TS B AL
MAETESHEHRRRERALD A ER
% o

RBEFERIOER  EFFHARFBA
PR 5 0 L P PR T P D BE R R A AR U

FmE e
ERETESRZNEESTA

AN E B PR T AR BB S0P B L B
TABSETESFRSGHRESTA ([1FE
SAD RARBEHESETESRRS
ZIRTH - BRAZBESFHEEEH
% ARBER - 2REFHOETRET
AUFTIRE AR -

EEmAMBBRNER

EFEARFRREAV B RERBENR
£ - ARREBMRERE BT RR B REED
WEEHNFE72E80 AN BB RS

o BT B 2 B
AATRFRNEFELEY « WER &5
BT BB BET - AR AREERFNE
FRR LIRS OB & 45

In addition, internal audit division also closely follows up on corrective
actions by all business units on their self-inspections of key risk areas.

Based on the results of the annual review, the Board is satisfied with the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control system currently
put in place for the Company.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct in relation to Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. The statement by the Auditor about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements
is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 72 to 80.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company re-appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as independent
auditor during the year. The remuneration for services provided during
the year to the Company’s Auditor includes:

—E—tF

2017

FET

FriR AR 7% Services rendered HK$°000
BET RS Audit services 14,897
IERETRTS - PHAZERR Non-audit services for: Interim results review 735
| RIS ERTR : Tax compliance 81

At Total 15,713

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene special general meeting

In accordance with the Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (“Companies Act”), the shareholders of the Company holding
at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
such of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, shall have the right to convene a
special general meeting of the Company. If the directors do not within
twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed
duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists representing more than
one half of the total voting rights may themselves convene a meeting.

The written requisition for the special general meeting can be lodged at
the Company'’s principal office in Hong Kong at Room 1901-02, China
Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at a general
meeting

Pursuant to the Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, either
any number of the registered shareholders holding not less than
one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company (“Requisitionists”),
or not less than 100 of such registered shareholders, can request
the Company in writing to (a) give to shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next general meeting notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b)
circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting
any statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter
referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with
at that meeting.

The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the
Requisitionists; and it must be deposited at the Registered Office with a
sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company'’s relevant expenses, not
less than six weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition requiring
notice of a resolution or not less than one week before the meeting in the
case of any other requisition. Provided that if an AGM is called for a date
six weeks or less after the requisition has been deposited, the requisition
though not deposited within the time required shall be deemed to have
been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.
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Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a director

Pursuant to bye-law 113 of the Bye-laws of the Company, the Company
may from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution elect, or
authorize the Directors to elect or appoint, any person to be a Director
either to fill a vacancy or to act as an additional Director up to the maximum
number of Directors determined by the members in general meeting.

Pursuant to bye-law 115 of the Bye-laws of the Company, no person,
other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the Board
for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any
general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that
person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that person
of his willingness to be elected shall have been given to the Company
provided that the minimum length of the period, during which such
notices are given, shall be at least seven days. The period for lodgment
of such notices will commence no earlier than the day after the dispatch
of the notice of the meeting appointed for such election and end no later
than seven days prior to the date of such meeting.

The detailed procedures regarding the election are published on the
Company’s website under Corporate Governance section.

Investor Relations

The Company has always recognised the importance of investor relations
activities, as it believes that effective communication with shareholders and
investors is very important to help investors to gain a better understanding
about the Company’s business performance and strategies.

In 2017, we hosted different types of activities through which
shareholders and investors have increased their understanding about
the Company. During the year, the Company met with more than 850
fund managers and analysts by means of investor seminars, advisory
meetings and telephone conferences to introduce the Company’s
operating results, development strategies and business updates.

The Company welcomes any suggestions and participation of
shareholders and investors. Any enquiries and suggestions may be
made by letter, telephone, fax or email to the Investor Relations
Department of the Company according to the contact information set
out below:

China Resources Gas Group Limited
Room 1901-02, China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

E-mail: investor-relations@crgas.com.hk
Tel: 852-2593-8200

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Ong Thiam Kin resigned as Company Secretary of the Company with
effect from 1st September, 2017.

The Company Secretary, Mr. Lo Chi Lik Peter, is a practicing solicitor in
Hong Kong. Mr. Lo, aged 68, was appointed as the Company Secretary
with effect from 1st September, 2017. He qualified as a solicitor in Hong
Kong in 1976 and has been in continuous practice since qualification. He
is currently a partner of Messrs. Woo, Kwan, Lee & Lo. Although Mr. Lo
is not a full time employee of the Company, he reports to the Board and
in his capacity as Company Secretary advises the Board on governance
matters. The primary contact person of the Company with Mr. Lo is Mr.
Joshua Li, the Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Lo confirmed that he had
fulfilled the 15 hours of Continuing Professional Development training
required of a solicitor in respect of 2017.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries and joint ventures are set out in Note 46 and Note
47 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the business of the Group during the year and discussion on
the Group’s prospects, the Group’s compliance with relevant laws and
regulations which have a significant impact on the Group, relationships
with its key stakeholders are provided in the Chairman’s Statement
on pages 2 to 11, Report from the Chief Executive Officer on pages
12 to 20, Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 24 to 28,
Corporate Governance Report on pages 39 to 53 and Directors’
Report on pages 54 to 71 of this annual report. Description of key risk
factors and uncertainties that the Group is facing is provided in the
Chairman’s Statement and Report from the Chief Executive Officer and
note 5 to the consolidated financial statements while the financial risk
management objectives and policies of the Group can be found in note
43 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the Group’s
performance during the year using financial key performance indicators
is provided in Financial and Operational Highlights on pages 21 to 23
of this annual report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2017
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 81.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 84 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders at 31st
December, 2017, amounted to HK$7,704,919,000.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors have resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of 40 HK cents per share. Together with the interim dividend of
15 HK cents per share paid in October 2017, total distribution for 2017
would thus be 55 HK cents per share (2016: 45 HK cents per share).

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, the final dividend will be payable on 15th June, 2018
to shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 1st June, 2018.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 16th May,
2018 to 23rd May, 2018, both days inclusive. In order to determine the
identity of members who are entitled to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting to be held on 23rd May, 2018, completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor
Secretaries Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 15th May, 2018.

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the annual general meeting,
the proposed final dividend will be payable to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on 1st June,
2018 and the register of members of the Company will be closed on 1st
June, 2018. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and
transfer office, Tricor Secretaries Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 31st
May, 2018.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at the end of the year, the authorized share capital of the Company
was HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10
each, of which 2,224,012,871 shares had been issued and fully paid,
and the reserves of the Group was HK$21,770,247,000.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

During 2017, the Company continued to make new acquisitions and
invested or paid HK$856 million in 18 city gas projects. Most of these
projects are either wholly owned or majority owned by the Group. As at
31st December, 2017, CR Gas portfolio included 238 city gas projects
and its footprint covered 22 Chinese provinces and included 3 direct
administrative municipalities, 14 provincial capitals and 73 prefecture
level cities.

In addition, as at 31st December, 2017, the Company has announced or
the Board has approved another 18 proposed city gas distribution and
related projects with proposed investments of HK$863 million.

GOING CONCERN

On the basis of current financial projections and facilities available, the
Group has adequate financial resources to continue its operation for the
foreseeable future. For this reason, the going concern basis continues to
be adopted in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31st
December, 2017 are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group for the last five financial periods is set
out on page 207 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in Note
14 and Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Details of the movements in the goodwill and operating rights of
the Group during the year are set out in Note 20 and Note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st December, 2017, the aggregate turnover
attributable to the five largest customers accounted for less than 30%
of the Group’s total turnover.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) has any interest in any of the Group’s five largest
customers or suppliers.

CHARITABLE DONATION

During the year, the Group made donations in cash and in various form
of goods in the total amount of approximately HK$4,858,000 (2016:
HK$2,858,000).

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Chuandong

Mr. Shi Shanbo

Mr. Ge Bin

Mr. Ong Thiam Kin (Resigned on 1st September, 2017)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Du Wenmin

Mr. Chen Ying

Mr. Wang Yan

Mr. Wei Bin (Resigned on 19th January, 2018)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Tak Shing
Ms. Yu Jian

Mr. Yu Hon To, David
Mr. Qin Chaokui
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The Company has received an annual confirmation from each
Independent Non-executive Director with each confirming his
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company still considers such Directors are independent of the Company.

Pursuant to bye-law 110(A) of the Company, Mr. Du Wenmin, Mr. Chen
Ying, Mr. Wang Yan and Ms. Yu Jian shall retire from office by rotation
at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Except Ms. Yu Jian who will
not offer herself for re-election due to other business commitment, the
other retiring directors shall be eligible for re-election.

None of Directors, including Directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, has a
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The term of office of each Non-executive Director, including Independent
Non-executive Director, is for a period of three years subject to
requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall retire from office by
rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant to the Bye-laws of
the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

There was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance (to
which the Company or its subsidiary or its holding company or its fellow
subsidiary was a party) subsisting during or at the end of the financial
year in which a Director of the Company or his/her connected entities is
or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The emolument payable to each Director is based on his relevant
qualifications, experience and expertise, his duties and responsibilities
and performance of the Company. The current market situation will also
be taken into account. Bonus and incentive awards may be granted to
individual Directors in recognition of their contribution to the Group. All
the aforesaid form the emolument policy and long term incentive for
Directors of the Company.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SECURITIES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31st December, 2017, none of the
Directors, chief executive of the Company and their associates had
any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they are deemed or taken
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

(a) Interests in issued ordinary shares of the Company

FrikfEz=

BEADL

HRRKRE BB EE Aggregate

EEnR 514 Long or Number of percentage

Name of Directors Capacity short position shares of interest’

HXREHE EmEBAA A 54,000 0.0024%
Mr. Du Wenmin Beneficial owner Long position

B E Note:

1. WARZZT—+tF+=—A=+—8FF 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
RAAREBRIFEBREERATE shares to the total issued shares of the Company as at 31st December,
MEBTROWADL - 2017.
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(b) RARREEEEEREE (ZR) A
AR ([FHEE]) ERTEBERR
HER D K

(b) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares

of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (“CR

Beer”), an associated corporation of the Company

FrikfEz=

wEEL

HERKXE A EE Aggregate

EEHE Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Directors position shares of interest’

MHXREE iR 100,000 0.0031%
Mr. Du Wenmin Long position

TEXRE iE 167,999 0.0052%
Mr. Wang Yan Long position
B EE Notes:

1. WARZZE—tF+-A=1+—HFH 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

B LR NG ey s
FERHEER M ETRONBEIL ©

2. EXMEENMERSTEHESUE
HSHREAHNEE -

(c) RAELAMEBEIEERELARDLTF
(T#EHER]) ERTEBREABR
ek

shares and underlying shares of CR Beer to the total issued shares of

CR Beer as at 31st December, 2017.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his

capacity as beneficial owner.

(c) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares

of China Resources Land Limited (“CRL”), an associated

corporation of the Company

PR RS

BEEI

HFRRKRE BB EE Aggregate

EEHE Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Directors position shares of interest'

AEEEE S=Y 171,111 0.0025%
Mr. Shi Shanbo Long position

MXEREA e 640,000 0.0092%
Mr. Du Wenmin Long position

PRIE S HE 500,000 0.0072%
Mr. Chen Ying Long position
B EE Notes:

1. AR Tt F+— A=+ BT 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

EHEM L BRLAARROT R BRI
FEHEMZMDETRONEILL

2. EXMEENMERSEHESUE
SHEAHNEE -

shares and underlying shares of CRL to the total issued shares of CRL

as at 31st December, 2017.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his

capacity as beneficial owner.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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(d) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (“CRP”),

an associated corporation of the Company

Frib s

BEAIL

FREKRE R EE Aggregate

EEHE Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Directors position shares of interest’

AEEELE HE 500,000 0.0104%
Mr. Shi Shanbo Long position

MXREA S~y 480,240 0.0100%
Mr. Du Wenmin Long position

TEXRE e 44,000 0.0009%
Mr. Wang Yan Long position
B EE Notes:

1. AR -—_ZE—+F+-_A=1+—HFF 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

EHE L BRSO R BRI
EHENRMEETRONEDL

2. LXHBRENMERRRAEEIAE
BnHEAHNEE -

(e) RALDAMB EEERKRERABIR
~E (TFERXKE] ERTEBREME
B IR 1D By RE 2R

shares and underlying shares of CRP to the total issued shares of CRP

as at 31st December, 2017.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his

capacity as beneficial owner.

(e) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited (“CR Cement”), an

associated corporation of the Company

FritfEs

BEAI

HREKRE R EE Aggregate

EEHE Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Directors position shares of interest’

AEEELE HE 280,000 0.0043%
Mr. Shi Shanbo Long position

PR I& 5 4 HE 230,000 0.0035%
Mr. Chen Ying Long position
Bt 5 Notes:

1. WARZT—tHF+-A=+—BF# 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

RO S BN ABRRO TR I
FERNRZMEETRONEIL ©

2. LtXHBRBENMAERGRRAESEAE
BEBAFDEE

shares and underlying shares of CR Cement to the total issued shares

of CR Cement as at 31st December, 2017.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his

capacity as beneficial owner.

EBERRERERDT —ZE—LFFR
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(f) REQXAEBLEEBBEEERR
NE ([EBEE]) ERTHEERRMAE
B IR Ry RE 2R

(f) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited (“CR Pharm”),
an associated corporation of the Company

Frit s

wEISHL

HFREKRE R EE Aggregate

EEHRE Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Directors position shares of interest’

FEXE e 2,000 0.0001%
Mr. Wang Yan Long position
BT Notes:

1. HAR-—E—t+&E+-A=+—HF 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

HEHBELARIABROTFRLE
BIEERBE2HCHTRONED
L o

2. WEEaRABMESZIEBREA -

RIEEE

RZZZENF+ A —H  ARFRH—IA
B EER e EEE S ((RBErE))  &
bt ARBEHRERTNEIEREL AR
RIBTER A2 EREEE - RE QBT
FA—FKAARRER LB EEE5%HIA
tHEBEERNAR (REQF]D - BatHE
HEERAOLTE AREQFMFERE
BEOBEDLARUAEEEBEMBARFE
ZERNZETERRNADLL

BRFBEAERTE TRENERM RSB
SEHER - WRHERE BB A EE R
BRRGRERAREREEEZES - I
BEIANFNRAAXERARERIE
BREPNE - FRIFREEGIRANK L - RE)
FHEIB SR A BE T RAR - RIFEEE
TR RE D RN H B EA AR TE
HREERERONEE LR BIARRF]
T2 BT AR5% 50.6% K -

shares and underlying shares of CR Pharm to the total issued shares
of CR Pharm as at 31st December, 2017.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the spouse of the
Director concerned.

LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME

On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted a share repurchased
cash award scheme (the “Incentive Award Scheme”) in which selected
employees of the Group or investee companies (being any company in
which the Company directly or indirectly owns 5% or more attributable
equity interests and in calculating the percentage interest so attributed
(the “Investee Company”), the percentage interest held in the Investee
Company shall be multiplied by the percentage interest in each level of
entity through which such interest is held by the Group), are entitled to
participate in the Incentive Award Scheme pursuant to the scheme rules.

The purpose of the Incentive Award Scheme is to recognise and
motivate the contribution of certain employees and to provide incentives
and to enable the Group and the Investee Companies in retaining its
existing employees and recruiting additional employees and to provide
them with a direct economic interest in attaining the long-term business
objectives of the Company. Unless early termination by the Board, the
Incentive Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of 10
years commencing on the adoption date. The maximum aggregate
numbers of award shares which can be awarded under the Incentive
Award Scheme and to a selected employee throughout its duration are
limited to 5% and 0.5% respectively of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Pursuant to the rules of the Incentive Award Scheme, the Company has
appointed BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited as trustee (the “Trustee”),
pursuant to which existing shares will be purchased by the Trustee from
the market out of cash contributed by the Group and be held in trust for
the relevant selected employees until such shares are vested with the
relevant selected employees in accordance with the provisions of the
Incentive Award Scheme. A total of 70,000,000 shares were purchased
at an aggregate cost of approximately HK$253,534,680 (including
transaction costs) on 7th April, 2009, representing approximately 4.95%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at date of acquisition and
held by the Trustee. The Company does not intend to purchase any
further share under the Incentive Award Scheme.

On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive Award
Scheme such that cash instead of award shares will be awarded under
the Incentive Award Scheme. The Company will utilize the proceeds
generated from disposal of the award shares held by the Trustee for
the awards made under the scheme. The awards will be subject to
the approval of the Company’s Remuneration Committee and the cash
under the award will only be given upon fulfillment of relevant vesting
conditions imposed on the date of grant of the award.

During 2017, the Company did not grant any award share. Details of
the movement of the award shares held by the Trustee are as follows:

REBROEE
Number of
award shares

RZZETZNFUA-HEE Purchased on 7th April, 2009 70,000,000
RIE-—ZFRHEREE Granted and disposed of during 2010 (1,818,000)
RIEBE——FRENEE Granted and disposed of during 2011 (7,741,496)
R-IEBE——FRENHE Granted and disposed of during 2012 (6,893,520)
RIE—=FFRHEIHE Granted and disposed of during 2013 (2,268,500)
RIE—NFERENMEE Granted and disposed of during 2014 (1,905,100)
RIE-—hEREREE Granted and disposed of during 2015 (1,310,000)
RIE—REREREE Granted and disposed of during 2016 (2,266,000)
RZE—tEREREE Granted and disposed of during 2017 (0)
R-ZE—+F+-A=+—HNEH Balance as at 31st December, 2017 45,797,384
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into certain connected transactions with
connected persons, details of which are set out bellow:

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the year, members of the Group have entered into continuing
connected transactions with connected persons, details of which are
subject to the reporting requirements under rule 14A.71 of the Listing
Rules and are summarised herein below. The Company’s auditor was
engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group as below in accordance with Main
Board Listing Rule 14A.56. The Independent Non-executive Directors
have reviewed the continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
the continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and
(iii) according to the agreement governing them on terms that are fair

and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Details of the above-mentioned continuing connected transactions and

the actual amount incurred for the year ended 31st December, 2017 or

the maximum daily amount are summarized as follows:

For the year
ended

31st December,
2017

BEEHE
(FELR: AR¥661,347,9727T)

ARBEZRMBRARBILARARENER
RA(—HKRFBERINAEREERT - 5
ARAREEHENELRR (BERERRE
BEAF - KAEBRRRARAR - HRE
BHEERRERQR  EMNEHRRERA
AkEHERREAERAR (2HHERZ
Z-AFTZA=+HFIZ) HEERE) &
BRAR - BHIBE -

Sale and Purchase Agreement

(Annual Cap: RMB661,347,972)
Purchase of natural gas for 3 years by a number of
subsidiaries of the Company from Shanxi Natural
Gas Limited (WA XA R KD B R 2 7)), a limited
liability company established in the PRC which is
the substantial shareholder of these subsidiaries of
the Company namely, Yangquan China Resources
Gas Limited, Datong China Resources Gas Co., Ltd,
Hongdong China Resources Hengfu Gas Co., Ltd.,
Huozhou China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. and Yangqu
China Resources Gas Co., Limited (all agreements
entered on 30th December, 2015).

EERRIZRERAF

AR 519,703,000t
RMB519,703,000
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HE-T—tF
t=A=t+—H
IFFENERED TR
Maximum daily amount
during the year ended
31st December,

2017

BRA TR
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Strategic Cooperation Agreements
(Annual Cap: RMB1,700,000,000)
(i)(a)On 30th December, 2015, the Company

entered into an agreement in respect of the
use of commercial bank services with China
Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank”),
a municipal bank headquartered in Zhuhai, for
3 years effective from 1st January, 2016 (unless
extended for a further period). China Resources
Co., Limited (“CRC”) has a controlling interest of
CR Bank and the Company.

(i)(b)Other than deposit services, the Company

(if)

utilised commercial banking services provided
by CR Bank.

On 30th December, 2015, the Company entered
into an agreement in respect of the use of the
trust services with China Resources SZITIC Trust
Co., Ltd., (“CR Trust”), for 3 years effective from
1st January, 2016 (unless extended for a further
period). CRC has a controlling interest of CR
Trust and the Company.

Framework Loan Agreements
(Annual Cap: RMB1,700,000,000)

(i)

(i)

On 22nd December, 2016, the Company
entered into an agreement in respect of the
intra-group lending between the Company
(and any of its subsidiaries but exclude entity
established in the PRC) and China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH”), any
company in the CRC, CRH and its respective
subsidiary companies, which is listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, other
than the Company (“China Resources Group
listed company”) and any of its subsidiaries in
respect of Hong Kong dollars, RMB or, United
States dollars loan for 3 years (unless extended
for a further period).

On 22nd December, 2016, the Company
entered into an agreement in respect of
the intra-group lending between any PRC
established subsidiary of the Company and
CRC (and any PRC established subsidiary
of CRC) or a China Resources Group listed
company in respect of RMB loan for 3 years
(unless extended for a further period).
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Related Party Transactions

Details of the material related party transactions under normal
course of business are provided under note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements. Some of these transactions constitute connected
transactions as defined under the Listing Rules which are set out as
follows:

—E—tF
2017
FHET
HK$°000
SHE THIE A R M IEIERRAR 3R Sales to non-controlling shareholders of 149,693
subsidiaries
INEES PN vES Gk R w IR N Interest income from deposits placed in 7,860
a fellow subsidiary
mE R E R RN ERF ERA Interest income from loan to a fellow 22,780
subsidiary
BEMER R IR (K1) Purchase from non-controlling shareholders of 599,773
subsidiaries (Note)
ENRREWNBARNHEERAX Rental expenses paid to fellow subsidiaries 10,463
SERLIEPNGIER 2 8 E ok iz ke al i Rental expenses paid to non-controlling 450

M BEEBEUARARENAERARARBRA

-
R e

KARHER B/\%E:%E +E+=Z A=+
—BIEFE EBEST ETRAIE14AER
BWEHRT -

FERRE

BIMAFTHESEN  RZE—+F+=ZA=
+—B  EFRARETHREARIL TNAEFE
AL (WHFEEXARRITHEER) AR
AR RABBRGO TR - EEREE %&Hﬁ
EIEMEXVEBE2RID B R EARMAR
WEOERRAR - KEBRAEAR Taw_,ﬂﬁaﬂ
5 R EIE 60 553361517 B 2 i% 5 & it 1) &

=IOKE

shareholders of subsidiaries

Note: Included purchases of natural gas from Shanxi Natural Gas Limited.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for
the year ended 31st December, 2017.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed below, the Directors and chief executive of the
Company are not aware that there was any party (other than a Director
or chief executive of the Company), who, as at 31st December, 2017
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO:
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REQATNEFR Long Position in the Company
i s
BERAL
L £ ded HERKXA RABE  Aggregate
BRREEB &1 Nature of Long or short Number of  percentage
Name of shareholder Capacity interest position shares  of interest'
EZHEE (MF) BRAF EnEAA Enn HE 1,407,828,991 63.30%
([EBEEsT])? Beneficial owner Beneficial interest Long position
CRH (Gas) Limited
(“CRH Gas"y?
28 (RE) BRRF? REHIA RN R NEER e 1,422,298,991 63.95%
China Resources (Holdings) Controlled company's interest ~ Corporate interest Long position
Company Limited?
CRC Bluesky Limited REH AR R RRER 18 1,422,298,991 63.95%
(“CRC Bluesky")? Controlled company's interest ~ Corporate interest Long position
ERRHBERAR ([EBKH])? REHIARMER NEER iR 1,422,298,991 63.95%
China Resources Co., Limited Controlled company’s interest ~ Corporate interest Long position
(“CRC")?
REEEERAR ([PEEH])? RGN A8 R NGl & 1,422,298,991 63.95%
China Resources Company Limited ~ Controlled company'’s interest Corporate interest Long position
(“CRCL"y
The Capital Group Companies, Inc.* S22 H AR E s RRER HE 175,601,800 7.90%
Controlled company’s interest Corporate interest Long position
Capital Research and BERERA Bhrks [S5=) 175,601,800 7.90%

Management Company®

AT -

Beneficial owner

Notes:

Beneficial interest

Long position

ARZE—+F+-A=+—BFHR
NIFRBBEARAREHERITRNNE
o=

EPREERIREERRAADIRAR
711,407,828,991/% % 13 K14,470,0000%
BOPHEBEEEZ  ZWMRAFAEIARE
H(EE) BRARMNEZENBARR -
I EBH(EE) BRARFEHRERER
F] #91,422,298,9910% f% 17 1 # 5 # 25 ©
8 (M) MR A 8 ACRC Blueskyy
2EMBRAR EMBAZEERGKE2ER
BoEHRMHMATEREBRNZ2EMER
Al AL E=H(5£E) BR2A7A - CRC
Bluesky * B[R 7 & 7 B2 B H R ER A
ARIA1,422,298,991 A I& 15 R A RS o

Capital Research and Management
Company £The Capital Group Companies,
Inc.k) &= & EAR - Eit - The Capital
Group Companies, Inc.#i % AR A A B
175,601,800/ {7 E A 25 »

This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in shares to the
total issued shares of the Company as at 31st December, 2017.

CRH Gas and Commotra Company Limited directly interested in
1,407,828,991 shares and 14,470,000 shares in the Company respectively
and both companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited. China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited
is therefore deemed to be interested in 1,422,298,991 shares of the
Company. China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRC Bluesky, which is in turn wholly-owned by CRC. CRC is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of CRCL. So, China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited, CRC Bluesky, CRC and CRCL are therefore deemed to have interest
in 1,422,298,991 shares of the Company.

Capital Research and Management Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of The Capital Group Companies, Inc. So, The Capital Group Companies,
Inc. is deemed to have interest in 175,601,800 shares of the Company.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

On 11th June, 2015, the Company, as borrower, entered into a facility
agreement in relation to a HK$2,000 million 3-year term loan facility
with a bank. The loan facility is unsecured and interest bearing with any
outstanding amounts to be repaid in full on the date falling three years
from the date of the facility agreement. The facility has been used to
repay the existing HK$2,000 million bilateral loan facility on 15th June,
2015.

On 6th August, 2015, the Company, as borrower, entered into a facility
agreement in relation to a HK$1,000 million 3-year term loan facility
with a bank. The loan facility is unsecured and interest bearing with any
outstanding amounts to be repaid in full on the date falling three years
from the date of the facility agreement.

Pursuant to the aforesaid facility agreements and facility letter, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited is required, at all times, to hold an aggregate
beneficial ownership (directly or indirectly) of not less than 50% in
the issued share capital of the Company (the “Specific Performance
Obligation”). It will be an event of default if the Specific Performance
Obligation is breached; and in such case, the relevant banks shall
declare the commitments to be cancelled and/or declare all outstanding
amounts together with interests accrued thereon and all other sums
payable by the Company to be immediately due and payable.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year was the
Company, its parent company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Save and except so far as the provisions of the Bye-law shall be avoided
by any provisions of the Statutes, the Board, President, Vice-president,
Managing Directors, alternate Directors, Secretary and other officers
for the time being of the Company and the trustees (if any) for the time
being acting in relation to any of the affairs of the Company, and their
respective executors or administrators, shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them, their or any of their executors or administrators, shall or may incur
or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty or supposed duty in their respective offices
or trusts, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through their
own wilful neglect or default, fraud and dishonesty respectively.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liabilities and costs
associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against the Directors of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this report, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed in this report, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
securities during the year ended 31st December, 2017.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws although there are no restrictions against such rights under
the laws of Bermuda.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the date of this annual report,
there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year have been audited by Messrs
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. Pursuant to an announcement of the
Company dated 23rd March, 2018 relating to proposed change of
independent auditor, a resolution will be proposed by the Company at
the forthcoming annual general meeting to propose the appointment of
Ernst & Young as the new independent auditor of the Company following
the retirement of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

On behalf of the Board
CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
Chairman

WANG Chuandong

Hong Kong, 23rd March, 2018
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Deloitte.
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To The Members of
China Resources Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Gas Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 81 to 206,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31st December, 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st
December, 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (*HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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BRETEE Key audit matter
BRETSEEES P NMEE How our audit addressed the key audit matter
B E Impairment assessment on goodwill
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We identified the impairment assessment on goodwill as a key
audit matter due to the involvement of significant judgements
and assumptions in estimating the recoverable amount of the
cash-generated units (“CGUs”) to which goodwill has been
allocated.

As at 31st December, 2017, the carrying amount of goodwill
was HK$677,681,000. As disclosed in note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements, goodwill acquired in a
business combination was allocated to CGUs that were
expected to benefit from that business combination. The
management considered each subsidiary represents a
separate CGU for the purpose of goodwill impairment testing.
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined based
on the value in use calculations which required the Group to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGUs
and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment on
goodwill included:

° Obtaining an understanding of the management’s process
and basis used in preparing the cash flow forecasts,
including significant assumptions;

o Assessing the reasonableness of the assumptions
including the growth rates made by the management by
comparing the prior year cash flow projections with the
current year actual cash flows;

o Evaluating the growth rates and discount rates applied
in the forecast by benchmarking them against economic
and industry data;

o Comparing the expected changes in selling prices and
direct costs used against historical performance and the
directors’ strategic plans in respect of each CGU; and

o Evaluating sensitivity analyses prepared by the

management on the growth rates and discount rates to
assess the extent of impact on the value in use.
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Key audit matter
How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Recognition of gas connection income, margins and
amounts due from and to customers for contract works
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We identified the recognition of gas connection income,
margins and related receivables and liabilities as a key audit
matter due to the involvement of a number of judgements in

the recognition.

As disclosed in notes 6 and 24 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group recorded gas connection income
amounting to HK$8,927,369,000 for the year ended 31st
December, 2017 and recognised amounts due from customers
for contract work and amounts due to customers for contract
work amounting to HK$2,257,359,000 and HK$12,808,001,000,
respectively, as at 31st December, 2017.

Revenue from a construction contract for gas connection is
recognised using percentage of completion method, measured
by reference to the costs incurred during the year relative
to the estimated total costs of the contract, which requires
the status of contracts to be assessed on a regular basis.
Management of the Group is required to exercise significant
judgements in the assessment of the extent of progress
towards completion of the contract, valuation of contract
variations, the completeness and accuracy of forecast costs
to complete; and the ability to deliver contracts within forecast
timescales. The complexity of the above assessment process
applied in the Group’s recognition policies on gas connection
require significant judgments and could have a material impact
on the revenue, margins, amounts due from/to customers
for contract works reported in the consolidated financial
statements.

Our procedures in relation to the recognition of gas connection
income, margins and amounts due from/to customers for
contract works included:

° Testing the key controls over the approval of construction
contracts for gas connection and monitoring stage of
completion and development of gas connection projects;

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Discussing with the management to assess the
assumptions used in the recognition and challenging the
management’s key judgements involved in determining

the extent of work;

Checking the accuracy of the construction progress
reports on a sample basis prepared by project managers
by agreeing the contract sum and budgeted total costs
to respective signed contracts and approved budgets
and checking material costs and labour costs incurred
to purchase invoices and internal payroll records, and
recalculating the percentage of completion based on the
costs incurred and the budgeted total costs; and

Evaluating the historical accuracy of the Group’s
percentage of completion estimates through identifying
if there are any late adjustments on the same contracts
across different years and checking completion of
selected contracts through evidencing delivery of
completed contracts.
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REELTGHEZ Interests in joint ventures
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We identified interests in joint ventures as a key audit matter
due to the significance of these investments to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements as a whole and the
involvement of judgements in the recognition of connection
income which could affect the amount of interests in joint
ventures as at 31st December, 2017 and share of results of
joint ventures for the year then ended.

The Group’s principal joint ventures were engaged in the
business of sales of liquefied gas and connection of gas
pipelines as set out in note 47 to the consolidated financial
statements. As disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements, the carrying amount of interests in joint
ventures as at 31st December, 2017 and the gas connection
income of the joint ventures for the year ended 31st December,
2017 were HK$10,818,388,000 and HK$2,986,133,000 in
aggregate, respectively.

Due to the involvement of judgement explained in the above
key audit matters entitled “Recognition of gas connection
income, margins and amounts due from/to customers for
contract works”, we considered the recognition of connection
income as one of our focus areas in the component audits of
the significant joint ventures.

Our procedures in relation to the interests in joint ventures
included:

° Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s significant
joint ventures by reading their financial information
and discussing with their respective management and
component audit teams about the financial performance,
significant events occurred during the year and the key
areas of judgement made in preparing their financial
information to identify and assess the risks that are
significant to the audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements;

° Evaluating the sufficiency and appropriateness of audit
evidence obtained from work performed by component
audit teams of the significant joint ventures of the Group
by reviewing their audit documentation and discussing
the results of their work with them; and

° Working with component audit teams of the significant
joint ventures to carry out those procedures set out in
the above key audit matter entitled “Recognition of gas
connection income, margins and amounts due from/to
customers for contract works”.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with Governance
for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Independent Auditor’'s Report

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going

concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Leung Chui Shan.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
23rd March, 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

HE-T—+tH5+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017
—Z2—tF —E—REF
2017 2016
Bt s FHET FAT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
A Revenue 6 39,837,597 32,916,149
SHER AR Cost of sales (27,921,808) (21,732,021)
EA Gross profit 11,915,789 11,184,128
HABKA Other income 7 690,684 648,334
HERDHFAXZ Selling and distribution expenses (3,734,037) (3,413,472)
TBAX Administrative expenses (2,567,374) (2,463,983)
6,305,062 5,955,007
B T PR R Finance costs 8 (479,103) (538,452)
i = —YNCIE S Share of results of joint ventures 654,378 653,064
FEIEEE S AR A Share of results of associates 133,047 118,967
B35 A A Profit before taxation 9 6,613,384 6,188,586
] Taxation 10 (1,702,517) (1,750,778)
F A A Profit for the year 4,910,867 4,437,808
FREMEERA (AX) Other comprehensive income (expense)
for the year
BERAEEEN 7 HE Item that may be subsequently
R R E reclassified to profit or loss
BMEESRELZ5E Exchange differences arising on
translation 1,990,347 (1,293,136)
BEETEEN 7 HEE Item that will not be subsequently
Ratl)EH reclassified to profit or loss
RESEINEEEEN Exchange differences arising on
N ER translation to presentation currency - (1,020,355)
FAZEWRA LR Total comprehensive income for the year 6,901,214 2,124,317
IATATEEERER : Profit for the year attributable to:
EA/NGIEZZS N Owners of the Company 3,653,994 3,289,399
FEER R A Non-controlling interests 1,256,873 1,148,409
4,910,867 4,437,808
IATALTEEEAN Total comprehensive income for the year
KA attributable to:
ZAN/NCIEZ 2SN Owners of the Company 5,204,602 1,533,442
TS Non-controlling interests 1,696,612 590,875
6,901,214 2,124,317
BT BT
HK$ HK$
B2 Earnings per share 13
2R Basic 1.68 1.51
EBRRERERLAT T —tFF®
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RN—_E—+F+_HA=+—H At 31st December, 2017
—E—tF —E—RF
2017 2016
Bt s FHET FAT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
ERBEE Non-current assets
W - BEKEE Property, plant and equipment 14 28,608,288 24,058,871
TERHEARIE Prepaid lease payments 15 1,714,508 1,522,489
"B Investment properties 16 46,151 41,640
REEQRIER Interests in joint ventures 17 10,818,388 9,028,797
REEE QAR Interests in associates 18 2,227,235 1,863,017
A ERE Available-for-sale investments 19 67,006 63,983
[EES Goodwill 20 677,681 633,286
K Operating rights 21 1,258,813 1,246,839
BT IB A E Deferred tax assets 32 239,961 209,637
KEERS Deposits for operating rights 2,838 1,859
FENBEOFIBERS Deposits for prepaid lease payments 71,018 74,757
HBEWME - BEX Deposits for property, plant and
Bdictien equipment 258,853 274,443
KREES Deposits for an investment - 684,732
45,990,740 39,704,350
mENE E Current assets
"E Inventories 22 595,051 413,426
B E SERF R EMEY T Trade and other receivables 23 9,462,556 8,020,647
W E P& ITERIE Amounts due from customers for
contract works 24 2,257,359 1,881,976
TEFEERIE Prepaid lease payments 15 90,364 82,837
EHEMRITIFER Pledged bank deposits 25 11,753 46,581
HAb 17 Other deposits 26(a) - 4,024,548
RITHEARRIE S Bank balances and cash 26(b) 10,355,981 5,500,753
22,773,064 19,970,768
mENaE Current liabilities
JENE ZERF R EMERMNZ  Trade and other payables 27 13,241,708 10,574,023
BRNEP&HIERE Amounts due to customers for
contract works 24 12,808,001 11,162,862
BB & Government grants 28 40,924 44,782
BITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 29 5,327,669 3,139,480
e EIA Taxation payable 592,670 495,191
32,010,972 25,416,338
mEBEFRE Net current liabilities (9,237,908) (5,445,570)
36,752,832 34,258,780
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RZE—tF+=-HA=+—8H At 31st December, 2017
—E—+tF ZE—REF
2017 2016
B 3E FER T
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

BEARRHE Capital and reserves
[N Share capital 33 222,401 222,401
& Reserves 21,770,247 17,545,842

RAEHEE ABIERRAR Equity attributable to owners of

the Company 21,992,648 17,768,243
FEPERR M2 Non-controlling interests 7,176,677 5,936,550
29,169,325 23,704,793

FEREBEE Non-current liabilities
AT FE B & Government grants 28 162,887 133,548
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 29 251,516 3,301,844
BEER Senior notes 30 5,787,534 5,726,370
HtREBE Other long-term liabilities 31 159,358 187,743
EEFIBEEE Deferred tax liabilities 32 1,222,212 1,204,482
7,583,507 10,553,987
36,752,832 34,258,780

FEBI1E206E Z AWM BRREHEZTERN
—E-NFZA-+=ZEH#ERRETE
YHTIALTREREZTERE

IER
WANG CHUANDONG
EZE
DIRECTOR
EY
CHAIRMAN

The consolidated financial statements on pages 81 to 206 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23rd March, 2018
and are signed on its behalf by:

RER
SHI SHANBO
BF
DIRECTOR
B
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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mEERSER
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

ANTREARGR
Attributable to owners of the Company
AR
Bx  ROEE SABR KRR ENBR REZRD  RHRE  GHER  REEA A FEREE B4R
Shares
held for
incentive Non-
Share Share Contributed ~ Capital Translation award Other ~ Merger  Retained controlling  Total
capital  premium  surplus  reserve  reserve  scheme  reserves  reserve  profits Total interests  equity
TR T AT TR TAr TR TEn  TEr TR TR TEr  TEr
HK§000 ~ HKS000  HK§000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000 HK$000
(i) (Witv) (Wike) (st
(Notea) ~ (Note b) (Notec) ~ (Note d)
WZE-7E-A-A At 1st January, 2016 222401 6378643 7,388,600 053 124825 (174,457) 1768562 (8727,518) 10,007,768 17,009,359 5477647 22,487,006
R Proit for the year - - = = o - - - 3289399 3289399 1,148.409 4437808
ERASEENERZRR Exchange differences arising on
EHRERR {ranslation and other comprehensive
expense for the year - - - - (1,755,957) - - - - (1755,957)  (557,534) (2,313,491)
FR2E (Fx) WALE Total comprehensive (expense)
income for the year = = = - (1,75597) = = - 3280309 1533442 590875 2124317
FERERTE Capital contribution from
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - 119403 119,403
WEHBAR Acquisition of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - 39693 329,693
e BRE AR RN Disposal of shares held for incentive
award scheme - - - - - 8,207 - - 4409 52,302 - 530
BfRE (W) Dividends paid (note 12) - - - - - - - - (826.860)  (826,860) - (826,860)
ERHBARERRERRS Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - (581,068) (581,068
gz Transfer - - - - - - 012 - (30121) - - -
W=E-~"E+ZA=1-A At 31st December, 2016 222401 6378643 7,388,600 20535 (1631132)  (166,250) 2,088,683 (8727518) 12,194,281 17768243 5936550 23,704,793
g Pt o he year B - - - . - - - 3G90 365390 1256873 4910867
EREEELNERZER Exchange differences arising on
Efp2ERA iranslation and other comprehensive
income for the year - - - - 1,550,608 - - - - 1,550,608 439739 1990,347
ERZANALE Total comprehensive income for the year B - = - 1,550,608 = = - 3653994 5204602 1,696,612 6901214
FRERITE Capital contribution from
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - 53011 53011
BARE (HE12) Dividends paid (note 12) = . = = S . = - (980,197)  (980,197) (980,197
BRNEAREERERRS Dividends paid to non-conrolling
interests of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - (509,49) (509,49)
&3 Transfer - - - - - - 416664 - (416,664) - - -
R2E-t§+-A=1-A At 31st December, 2017 222401 6378643 7,388,600 20535 (80524) (166,250) 2505347 (8727518) 14451414 21992648 7,176,677 29,169,325
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HIEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017

Notes:

Pursuant to the approval of a special resolution at the special general
meeting of the Company on 30th May, 2011, the amount of HK$7,388,600,000
standing to the credit of share premium has been reduced and transferred
to the contributed surplus. The contributed surplus is a distributable reserve
and will be used for payment of dividends and for such other purposes as
allowed by the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Capital reserve arose from (i) discount on acquisition of joint ventures from
an intermediate holding company and fellow subsidiaries of the Group
in prior years; and (ii) the difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the consideration paid for the
acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries.

Other reserves comprise general reserve, statutory surplus reserve,
enterprise expansion fund, statutory public welfare fund and discretionary
surplus reserve of subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”), and the change in net assets attributable to the Group in relation
to the increase in ownership interests in subsidiaries through cash injection.

General reserve is appropriated each year on the basis of 5% to 10% of the
profit after taxation of certain subsidiaries as determined by their board of
directors in accordance with the Articles of Association of the subsidiaries.
This reserve should only be used for making up losses, capitalisation into
capital and expansion of production and operation.

Merger reserve represented the difference between (i) the cash consideration
paid, deemed distribution to a fellow subsidiary and shares issued by the
Company; and (ii) the amount of issued capital and premium of the combined
entities under group reorganisations.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= Z

BHE_ZT—tF+_A=+—HILtEE

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

—E—+tF —E—RF
2017 2016
FERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
mE K OPERATING ACTIVITIES
B FR A ) Profit before taxation 6,613,384 6,188,586
R Adjustments for:
FMBEXH Interest expense 479,103 538,452
ISNL@N Interest income (256,373) (232,723)
ERERBTFEES Government grants recognised (39,104) (48,869)
EBhEERRI¥EE Share of results of joint ventures (654,378) (653,064)
EIEEE S AR A Share of results of associates (133,047) (118,967)
HEME  BEIREERE Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 10,757 17,345
HEBMNBALHREEE Loss on disposal of prepaid lease payments - 774
EWE SERZ CRERERE) (Reversal of impairment loss) impairment
B EF R loss on trade receivables, net (38,362) 23,529
H A UARFOREEBE Impairment loss on other receivables 20,721 -
M - BEREREITE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,563,290 1,221,032
BRBR TN L) FR0E Release of prepaid lease payments 83,721 74,937
WEYENE Depreciation of investment properties 3,265 2,921
AR RS Amortisation of operating rights 79,240 64,125
KBRS EEANLLIRNSmE  Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital 7,732,217 7,078,078
FE (Em) (Increase) decrease in inventories (147,254) 183,684
FEUE 5 B T Kz H fth B W k4% 0 Increase in trade and other receivables (1,024,687) (235,683)
R P& QT2 KIEE M Increase in amounts due from customers for
contract works (234,857) (465,022)
FETE 5 BR TR H fih &~ 3038 40 Increase (decrease) in trade and
R ) other payables 2,339,127 (1,216,131)
EWERFE A %) T2 s Increase in amounts due to customers for
contract works 832,141 3,674,437
KEEBEENRE Cash generated from operations 9,496,687 9,019,363
B BECEMER PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid (1,700,365) (1,654,417)
REEKMBRESTFE NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 7,796,322 7,364,946
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HE-T—+tH5+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017
—E2—+t5 —E—RF
2017 2016
B 5E FHET FET
NOTE HK$’000 HK$'000
REXH INVESTING ACTIVITIES
f& [0 B fth 77 SR AT 1S 3008 Proceeds from redemption of
other deposits 35,314,542 33,387,739
BERGIEPNGIEE Repayment from a fellow subsidiary 1,756,173 =
[SEEAYNGI S Dividend received from joint ventures 620,339 502,906
A Interest received 257,776 234,145
HEME - BER Proceeds from disposal of property,

RIBFTISRUA plant and equipment 161,340 171,184
[BAL NI Dividend received from associates 65,063 79,138
B EERREN Government grants received related

BT to assets 51,625 108,574
BB ERRITER Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 48,088 43,535
& FB A A R IB FT1S 5K IE Proceeds from disposal of prepaid

lease payments 18,603 28,492
FHREAMFR Placement of other deposits (31,159,890) (37,597,759)
EEYE  BEKRENRZ  Payments for acquisition of property,

plant and equipment (4,366,055) (3,263,391)
MR ZMBARRENER Loan to a fellow subsidiary (1,703,100) -
REZNRNKE Investment in joint ventures (370,189) -
BEME  BEMRELES Deposits for property, plant and

equipment (249,715) (287,091)
(BAFR T IR AR RE RS AR ER) (Advance to) repayment from

R E IR ERIRR A B R non-controlling interests of

shareholders (237,632) 3,196
REEE R AEIRE Investment in associates (159,202) (1,124)
SRR Prepaid lease payments made (108,857) (176,265)
FERNBAOFIBER S Deposits for prepaid lease payments (68,511) (78,202)
RN Payments for operating rights (44,757) (51,018)
AR WNSIE-F Advances to joint ventures (15,912) =
FIREEEIRITF K Placement of pledged bank deposits (11,338) (42,588)
W BB B R Payments for acquisition of investment

properties (4,801) (6,961)
LERIRS Deposits for operating rights (2,738) =
I B H B A A Acquisition of subsidiaries 36 - 46,202
RBEFEWRENB QR Payments for acquisition of subsidiaries

INE: in prior years - (46,945)

B AT E R E MR Payments for acquisition of
available-for-sale investments - (1,867)
REEKMARESTE NET CASH USED IN INVESTING
ACTIVITIES (209,148) (6,948,100)
EBRRERERLAT T —tFF®
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BHE_ZT—tF+_A=+—HILtEE

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

—E—tF ZT—RF
2017 2016
FERT FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
mEEK FINANCING ACTIVITIES
FBIRITREMEE New bank and other borrowings raised 9,713,516 2,514,567
B B8 Rl FE IR AR M 2 R Advance from non-controlling interests of
subsidiaries 115,201 26,116
Y EENCIE i o pE Contribution from non-controlling interests of
subsidiaries 53,011 119,403
BEBRTREMES Repayments of bank and other borrowings (10,636,558) (5,186,052)
BEfIRE Dividends paid (980,197) (826,860)
BB A R IR R AR S Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of
subsidiaries (509,496) (581,068)
EANEIESS Interest paid (460,810) (528,736)
mEERAAER Repayment to joint ventures (451,433) (826,463)
HEAEREEAEZ Proceeds from disposal of shares held for
& Fr 1S 5 IE incentive award scheme - 52,302
MEXKMARSFE NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (3,156,766) (5,231,791)
BeRBEZEMM NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND
(RD) B CASH EQUIVALENTS 4,430,408 (4,814,945)
FUERSRESEE CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 5,500,753 10,750,872
IEERBEHWTE EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE
CHANGES 424,820 (435,174)
FRESRESEE CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END
BRITEBRRES OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED BY
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 10,355,981 5,500,753

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE_Z—tF+-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017

1. GENERAL

The Company is a listed public company incorporated in Bermuda as
an exempted company with limited liability and its shares are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The Company’s intermediate parent company is China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH”), a company incorporated in
Hong Kong and its ultimate holding company is China Resources
Company Limited (“CRCL") (formerly known as “China Resources
National Corp.”), a company established in the PRC which is owned
and controlled by the PRC government. The addresses of registered
office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed
in the Corporate Information to the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are set out
in notes 46, 47 and 48, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (*HKD”) as the Company is a public company with
its shares listed on the Stock Exchange in Hong Kong where
most of its investors are located and therefore, the directors of
the Company consider that HKD is preferable in presenting the
operating result and financial position of the Group.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company have given careful consideration to the future liquidity
of the Group in light of the fact that the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by HK$9,237,908,000, and the Group
has commitments of HK$175,230,000 as at 31st December, 2017.
As at 31st December, 2017, the Group has bank and other
borrowings totalling HK$5,579,185,000 of which HK$5,327,669,000
was classified as current liabilities. The directors of the Company
are of the opinion that there are good track records and relationship
with banks which would enhance the Group’s ability on renewing
the borrowing facilities.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, taking into
account of the unutilised banking facilities of HK$4,807,790,000
and internally generated funds of the Group and the other factors
described above, the Group has sufficient working capital
for its present requirements for the next twelve months from
31st December, 2017. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year.

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure initiative

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of deferred tax assets
for unrealised losses
Amendments to HKFRS 12 As part of the annual improvements

to HKFRSs 2014-2016 cycle

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial performance and positions for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 “Disclosure initiative”

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time in
the current year. The amendments require an entity to provide
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes. In addition, the amendments
also require disclosures on changes in financial assets if cash
flows from those financial assets were, or future cash flows will be,
included in cash flows from financing activities.

Specifically, the amendments require the followings to be disclosed:
(i) changes from financing cash flows; (ii) changes arising from
obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries or other businesses; (iii)
the effect of changes in foreign exchange rates; (iv) changes in
fair values; and (v) other changes.

A reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
these items is provided in note 44. Consistent with the transition
provisions of the amendments, the Group has not disclosed
comparative information for the prior year. Apart from the additional
disclosure in note 44, the application of these amendments has
had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs and interpretations that have been issued but are not

yet effective:

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15
HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17

HK(IFRIC) - Int 22

HK(IFRIC) — Int 23

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 40

Financial instruments’

Revenue from contracts with customers
and the related amendments'
Leases?

Insurance contracts*

Foreign currency transactions and
advance consideration’

Uncertainty over income tax
treatments?

Annual improvements to
HKFRSs 2015 — 2017 cycle?

Classification and measurement of
share-based payment transactions’

Applying HKFRS 9 “Financial
instruments” with HKFRS 4
“Insurance contracts”!

Prepayment features with negative
compensation?

Sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its
associate or joint venture®

Long-term interests in associates
and joint ventures?

As part of the annual improvements
to HKFRSs 2014-2016 cycle’

Transfers of investment property!
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BE_Z—+H&+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2018.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2019.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

t) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2021.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs and interpretations
mentioned below, the directors of the Company anticipate that
the application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs and
interpretations will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments”

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities, general hedge
amounting and impairment requirements for financial assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are relevant to the Group are:

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of HKFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured at
amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments
that are held within a business model whose objective is to
collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal outstanding are generally measured at
amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods.
Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose
objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash
flows and selling financial assets, and that have contractual
terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding, are generally measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”). All other
financial assets are measured at their fair value at subsequent
accounting periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may
make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes
in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for
trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend
income generally recognised in profit or loss; and

In relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS
9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to
an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39 “Financial
instruments: Recognition and measurement”. The expected
credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected
credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary
for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are
recognised.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (Continued)

Based on the Group’s financial instruments and risk management
policies as at 31st December, 2017, the directors of the Company
anticipate the following potential impact on initial application of
HKFRS 9:

Classification and measurement:

Listed equity securities classified as available-for-sale investments
carried at fair value as disclosed in note 19: these securities
qualified for designation as measured at FVTOCI| under HKFRS
9, however, the fair value gains or losses accumulated in the
investments revaluation reserve will no longer be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss under HKFRS 9, which is different from
the current treatment. This will affect the amounts recognised in the
Group'’s profit or loss and other comprehensive income but will not
affect total comprehensive income.

Unlisted equity securities classified as available-for-sale
investments carried at cost less impairment as disclosed in note 19:
these securities qualified for designation as measured at FVTOCI
under HKFRS 9 and the Group will measure these securities at fair
value at the end of subsequent reporting periods with fair value
gains or losses to be recognised as other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve. Upon
initial application of HKFRS 9, the fair value gain relating to these
securities would be adjusted to investments revaluation reserve as
at 1st January, 2018.

All other financial assets and financial liabilities will continue to be
measured on the same bases as are currently measured under
HKAS 39.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (Continued)

Impairment:

In general, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the expected credit loss model of HKFRS 9 will result
in earlier provision of credit losses which are not yet incurred in
relation to the Group’s financial assets measured at amortised
costs and other items that subject to the impairment provisions
upon application of HKFRS 9 by the Group.

Based on the assessment by the directors of the Company, if
the expected credit loss model was to be applied by the Group,
the accumulated amount of impairment loss to be recognised by
Group as at 1st January, 2018 would be increased as compared
to the accumulated amount recognised under HKAS 39 mainly
attributable to expected credit losses provision on trade and other
receivables.

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers”

HKFRS 15 was issued which established a single comprehensive
model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the current
revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS
11 “Construction contracts” and the related interpretations when
it becomes effective.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers” (Continued)

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. Specifically, the standard introduces a 5-step approach
to revenue recognition:

o Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
o Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

. Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the
goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation
is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance
has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios.
Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.

In 2016, the HKICPA issued clarifications to HKFRS 15 in relation
to the identification of performance obligations, principal versus
agent considerations, as well as licensing application guidance.

The application of HKFRS 15 requires identification of performance
obligations and allocation of total consideration to the respective
performance obligations which may affect the timing and amounts
of revenue recognition and the carrying amounts and presentation
of amounts due from (to) customers for contract works and receipts
in advance from customers as appropriate. The application of
HKFRS 15 may also result in more disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification
of lease arrangements and accounting treatments for both lessors
and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17 “Leases” and the
related interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis of
whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer. Distinctions
of operating leases and finance leases are removed for lessee
accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases
by lessees, except for short-term leases and leases of low value
assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost (subject to
certain exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The
lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease
liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the
impact of lease modifications, amongst others. For the classification
of cash flows, the Group currently presents upfront prepaid lease
payments as investing cash flows in relation to leasehold lands
for owned use and those classified as investment properties while
other operating lease payments are presented as operating cash
flows. Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation
to lease liability will be allocated into a principal and an interest
portion which will be presented as financing cash flows by the
Group.

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised an asset and
a related finance lease liability for finance lease arrangement and
prepaid lease payments for leasehold lands where the Group is
a lessee. The application of HKFRS 16 may result in potential
changes in classification of these assets depending on whether the
Group presents right-of-use assets separately or within the same
line item at which the corresponding underlying assets would be
presented if they were owned.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries
forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and
continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

As at 31st December, 2017, the Group as lessee has
non-cancellable operating lease commitments of HK$260,251,000
as disclosed in note 37. A preliminary assessment indicates that
these arrangements will meet the definition of a lease. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a right-of-use
asset and a corresponding liability in respect of all these leases
unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid of HK$35,611,000 and refundable rental deposits
received of HK$974,000 as rights and obligations under leases to
which HKAS 17 applies. Based on the definition of lease payments
under HKFRS 16, such deposits are not payments relating to
the right to use the underlying assets, accordingly, the carrying
amounts of such deposits may be adjusted to amortised cost and
such adjustments are considered as additional lease payments.
Adjustments to refundable rental deposits paid would be included
in the carrying amount of right-of-use assets. Adjustments to
refundable rental deposits received would be considered as
advance lease payments. Furthermore, the application of new
requirements may result in changes in measurement, presentation
and disclosure as indicated above.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments which
are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based payment”, leasing transactions
that are within the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS
36 “Impairment of assets”.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts

and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—tF+-A=+—RHLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights
are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the
Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,
including:

o the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the
size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

° potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders
or other parties;

° rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

° the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time
that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at
previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and

cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group’s relevant components of equity and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant
reserves between the Group and the non-controlling interests
according to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’
proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted after re-attribution of the relevant equity
component, and the fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the
Company.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses that are not combinations of business
under common control are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of
the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 “Income taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee benefits”
respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition
date; and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale
in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current assets held for sale
and discontinued operations” are measured in accordance
with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount
of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed
as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair value.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of
cash-generating units) that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest level at
which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or
more frequently whenever there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill, and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group
of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal (or any of the cash-generating unit
within group of cash-generating units in which the Group monitors
goodwill).

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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—tF+-A=+—RHLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures
are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associates and joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes
are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.
Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a
joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets
of the associate/joint venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such changes
resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a joint venture
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture,
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

POLICIES

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in
the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36
as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted for as
a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains
an interest in the former associate or joint venture and the retained
interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKAS 39, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the
fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint
venture and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing the relevant interest in the associate or joint venture
is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of
the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for
all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as
would be required if that associate or joint venture had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain
or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by
that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or
loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the
relevant associate or joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—Z—+tF+-_A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or
an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such
changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or
loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain
or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests
in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold
and services provided in the normal course of business, net of
discounts and taxes.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably
measured; when it is probable that future economic benefits will
flow to the Group and when specific criteria have been met for
each of the Group’s activities, as described below.

Revenue from a construction contract for gas connection is
recognised when the outcome of the construction contract for gas
connection can be estimated reliably and the stage of completion
at the end of reporting period can be measured reliably. Revenue
from and expenses on construction contracts for gas connection
are recognised using the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the costs incurred during the year
relative to the estimated total costs of the contract. When the
outcome of a construction contract for gas connection cannot
be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract cost incurred that is probable to be recoverable.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from gas supply is recognised when gas is used by
customers.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are
delivered and title has passed.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that

asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from
operating leases is described in the accounting policy for leasing
below.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold properties
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative purposes (other than construction in progress)
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and equipment in
the course of construction for production or for own use purposes.
Construction in progress is carried at cost less any recognised
impairment loss. Construction in progress is classified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—tF+-A=+—RHLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment other than construction in progress
over their estimated useful lives and after taking into account their
estimated residual values, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leasehold land and buildings under development for future
owner-occupied purpose

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course of
development for production or for administrative purposes, the
leasehold land component classified as an operating lease
is classified as a prepaid lease payment and amortised on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. During the construction
period, the amortisation charge provided for the leasehold land
is included as part of costs of buildings under construction.
Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less any identified
impairment losses and are classified as property, plant and
equipment. Depreciation of buildings commences when they are
available for use (i.e. when they are in the location and condition
necessary for them to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management).
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BE—_Z—tF+-_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017

4. FESTHE (&) 4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
REWE Investment properties
BEWMETABRNAS R 5 E AN Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
EmFERME - for capital appreciation.
BEMEDRKAY L E - BFEE Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
MEERGERAY - RERERE & directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
BEMETIREANBEERTITNERE investment properties are stated at cost less subsequent
M REHREEBIIER - & TyiRfhst accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
ARFHREEREMGFTRISRERBR Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of investment
A SREMSHIR B Y AR T LARERR properties over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account their estimated residual values, using the straight-line
method.
TEWERNE L E R E B kAT An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
FRARBHAEEEINEERESRE the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
A4 B 22 R 4R I EFERR o BRI RERZ no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
BEMEENEMKEIEE (R gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as
EREAEMBHRIEFHEERMADN the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
ZRFTE) NZIEE W IR E amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period
FEtAER - in which the item is derecognised.
BEEN Construction contracts
fis —TEMRRIZEBIEE S QM AEREER When the outcome of a construction contract for gas connection
SEMAEFERRERREHNIRETT can be estimated reliably and the stage of contract completion at
FEERpE R FEMEt =2 - WA RKART) the end of the reporting period can be measured reliably, revenue
B2ERBEHRNEGHNTRTIRE and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of completion
R WRESEEZEIRELENA of the contract activity at the end of the reporting period, measured
AN AR EET RS QKRR L FIETE - based on the proportion that contract costs incurred for work

performed to date relative to the estimated total contract costs.

EMTEBREESONERT RN E When the outcome of a construction contract for gas connection
b ETR - AR ATEE £ BRRER cannot be estimated reliably, contract costs are recognised as
BEX - BEEHKABEA BT an expense in the period in which they are incurred. When it is
W - FBEHEEEER AR probable that total contracts costs will exceed contract revenue,
X o the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—tF+-A=+—RHLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Construction contracts (Continued)

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is shown
as amounts due from customers for contract works. For contracts
where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date
plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is
shown as amounts due to customers for contract works. Amounts
received before the related work is performed are included in
the consolidated statement of financial position, as a liability, as
advances received. Amounts billed for work performed but not yet
paid by the customer are included in the consolidated statement
of financial position under trade and other receivables.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets refer to the operating rights for city pipeline
network.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful lives
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset is measured as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
is recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the
three categories, including financial assets at FVTPL, loans
and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial
assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and allocating interest income
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of
the asset on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for

debt instruments.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—tF+-A=+—RHLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may
be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

° such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

o the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets
or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

o it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded
derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire combined
contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or
losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial assets. Fair value is determined
in the manner described in note 43(c).

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade and other receivables, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances and cash) are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less any impairment (see accounting
policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated or are not classified as financial assets at FVTPL,
loans and receivables, or held-to-maturity investments.

Equity securities held by the Group that are classified as
available-for-sale financial assets and are traded in an active
market are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period except for unquoted equity investments whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured. Changes in the carrying amount
of available-for-sale debt instruments are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of
investments revaluation reserve. Dividends on available-for-sale
equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s
right to receive the dividends is established. When the investment
is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative
gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss (see the accounting policy in
respect of impairment loss on financial assets below).

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot
be reliably measured are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at the end of each reporting period (see the
accounting policy in respect of impairment loss on financial assets
below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below its
cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017



TESEE (&)

£RTE (&)
SHEE (£)
ZHEERE (&)

MAAEMEREEMS -
Bz aes

AR E

o BITATEHTHREAFBR
B

o BARBIERMEHARMNRK
FRNTH X

s BRAWHHBHRERUBE
48 -

s A TR ERMEE (WE
WE SRR M5 HAESTEE
MRENEESREREEETRE
A o AR FAS HRREN TS
EEBREASEBTIWRNEE A
WL B 8B 1 E B MR EUE
B DA Ko B SR sl b [ 487K 3R AR
BEBHEHEYPIRTORELERE

SRABBER AT RN EREEN S -
B S 18 & FE A B ZE A BRTE (B Bk 5t
ARRERENBRE (REREEN
RERMETE) 2R ZHER -

FLARARFFR OB AEF LA F -
RE R BN S IR E EREE R GG
ARRSRENBRE (RRELUSRE
ENRAMZOREFE) 2EhE
A8 - ZREBBEF TSR AR
REE - AR FEFIRORAES
BREMS @ REBRERNEFAAFE
BINE RNt 2 H WA RER I R
BEMMBERA -

e SRR M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

° breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments; or

o it becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in
addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include
the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average
credit period, as well as observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.

For investments in equity securities that are carried at cost, the
amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of
return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be
reversed in subsequent periods. For investment in equity securities
carried at fair value, any increase in fair value subsequent to
impairment loss is recognised directly in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in investments revaluation reserve.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through
the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit or loss. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be
impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in
the period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying
amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had
the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities, including trade and other payables, bank and
other borrowings, senior notes and other long-term liabilities, are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are
treated as separate derivatives when they meet the definition of a
derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely related to
those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not measured
at FVTPL. Generally, multiple embedded derivatives in a single
instrument are treated as a single compound embedded derivative
unless those derivatives relate to different risk exposures and are
readily separable and independent of each other.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liability when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

As lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
a straight-line basis over the relevant lease term.

As lessee

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land
held for operating leases, are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the relevant lease term. Benefits received
and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are
recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term
on a straight-line basis.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—tF+-A=+—RHLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for a property interest which
includes both leasehold land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an
operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
each element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear
that both elements are operating leases in which case the entire
lease is accounted as an operating lease. Specifically, the entire
consideration (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are
allocated between the leasehold land and the building elements
in proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in
the land element and building element at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as
an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the lease payments
cannot be allocated reliably between the leasehold land and
building elements, the entire property is generally classified as if
the leasehold land is under finance lease.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the costs of those assets until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is

deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans/
state-managed retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—tF+-A=+—RHLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the group
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented in HKD, which
is the Company'’s functional currency and the Group’s presentation
currency.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign
operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and are reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal
or partial disposal of the Group’s interests in associates/joint
ventures.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the group entities are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated

in equity under the heading of translation reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currency of a group entity is changed only where
there is a change to the underlying transactions, events and
conditions relevant to the group entity. The group entity applies the
translation procedures applicable to the new functional currency
prospectively from the date of the change. At the date of the
change, the group entity translates all items into the new functional
currency using the prevailing exchange rate at that date and the
resulting translated amounts for non-monetary items are treated
as their historical cost.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1st
January, 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign
operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
end of the reporting period. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in the translation reserve.

Impairment losses of tangible and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
asset individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash- generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of
cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.
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BE—_Z—tF+-_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017

4. FESTHBE (&) 4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

BEREFEE (BEBRIN) WRES Impairment losses of tangible and intangible assets other than
B (&) goodwill (Continued)
AlRESHEEEATFEREHEEER Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
BHRBENEAEBERERTNRS disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
& ERMEEAEER - HiARKR future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
CRESHARAMARNRAER pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
B ZBATIRE R T E &R the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a
BENENMSTENRZEE (R cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows
SELEEN) FENRR (LERZER have not been adjusted.

SREBHARIRSAE) -

EEEE (WBEEEEN) HATKE If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
SHEGHFTLORERERE  ZEE (X is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
ReELSEN) FERERZEE KD amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
T RO EEER XS0 its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
BEBEUR D EMEENEREE impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
(WiE ) » AR OIREZ B & of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
EENREEE I REHEMEE - BE pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
FEEENMRLEERREQAFERT unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
ERA (WAEHE) - HFEREE (0 highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
Az E) REZHH&EEE - B 51T its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
AEZEEREEBBSRERZRLGS impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
BeZZ B HA & E - MEEEEA the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
Br B2 TERR o impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

EREBEREEED  Z2EE (3R Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
SEABN) HREEEE A YD amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to
SREAEETEE - A BREEE the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
mreEfReZAE (KBHeEL increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
BA) BAFENEERREEEM that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
FEFE TE RO BR EI{E - B B B 18 48 [0 B s recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years.
R FER o A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in

profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Government grants related to depreciable assets are recognised as
deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets. Other government grants
are recognised as revenue over the periods necessary to match
them with the costs for which they are intended to compensate,
on a systematic basis. Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

Long term award scheme

The cost of acquisition of the Company’s shares pursuant to the
long term award scheme is recorded as shares held for incentive
award scheme. The shares held for incentive award scheme will
be disposed of for cash which will be distributed to the eligible
employees.

When the shares held for long term award scheme are disposed
of and the resulting proceeds from disposal are distributed
to the employees, the proceeds distributed to employees are
recognised as expenses (staff costs), and the difference between
the consideration received and the cost of the shares will be
credited to retained profits.
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5.

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors have made in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Control over E5GE BHMRERL &)

EBERRAAER AR is subsidiary of the Group although the
Group has only 50% ownership interest and voting rights in =P
MR AR R]. The Group has the 50% ownership interest since
June 2006 on EEEBEMAAERAR and the remaining 50% of
equity interest is owned by a shareholder that is unrelated to the
Group. Details of these are set out in note 46.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Continued)

Control over EEZEFMTE R L & (Continued)

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group
has control over E5EMMRRABMR AR based on whether the
Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
ESEBMA AR AR unilaterally. In making their judgement, the
directors considered the Group’s voting power of shareholding in
EBEMRR AR AT The board of directors of EFE BB AR
A |] comprise 7 directors. The Group nominated and appointed 4
directors in B 5ZEBMRR AR AT and the relevant activities of &
b5 B R B BR A 7] require over 50% of directors’ approval. After
assessment, the directors concluded that the Group has sufficiently
dominant voting interest to direct the relevant activities of = k5%
AR AR AR and therefore the Group has control over &[5
HRERARAE

Control over BEHFEEHMRAER AL A, BEEFHMTERL A and
STE BB A F (the “PRC Entities”)

The PRC Entities are subsidiaries of the Group although the Group
has only 50% or 51% ownership interests and voting rights in the
PRC Entities and the remaining equity interests of the PRC Entities
are owned by shareholders that are unrelated to the Group. Details
of these are set out in note 46.

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group
has control over the PRC Entities based on whether the Group
has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the
PRC Entities unilaterally. In making their judgement, the directors
considered the Group’s voting power of shareholding in the PRC
Entities. The shareholders of the PRC Entities signed memorandums
in which the other shareholders would agree the Group’s decisions
on operating, investing and financing activities of the PRC Entities,
and the other shareholders would agree the appointment of all
senior management of the PRC Entities nominated by the Group.
After assessment, the directors concluded that the Group has
sufficiently dominant voting interest to direct the relevant activities
of the PRC Entities and therefore the Group has control over the
PRC Entities.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within the next
financial year.

Estimation of useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management estimates the useful lives of property, plant and
equipment based on the expected lifespan of those property, plant
and equipment. The useful lives of property, plant and equipment
could change significantly as a result of technical innovation. When
the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment due to the
change of commercial and technological environment are different
from their estimated useful lives, such difference will impact the
depreciation charges and the amounts of assets written down for
future periods.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at 31st
December, 2017 is HK$28,608,288,000 (2016: HK$24,058,871,000).

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units to which
goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of the value in use
or fair value less costs of disposal. The value in use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, or changes in facts
and circumstances which results in downward revision of future
cash, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31st December,
2017, the carrying amount of goodwill is HK$677,681,000 (2016:
HK$633,286,000). Details of the recoverable amount calculation
are disclosed in note 20.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE_Z—tF+-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017
5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Revenue recognition of gas connection contract

Construction revenue from gas connection contracts is recognised
on the percentage of completion method, measured by reference to
the proportion of the contract costs incurred for the work performed
to date over the estimated total contract costs. Accordingly, any
changes to the estimated total contract cost may have material
impact on the contract revenue recognised in each accounting
period over the contract term.

Allowance for inventories

The Group makes allowance for inventories based on an assessment
of the net realisable value of inventories. Allowances are applied to
inventories where events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the net realisable value is lower than the cost of inventories. The
identification of obsolete inventories requires the use of judgment
and estimates on the conditions and usefulness of the inventories.
In cases where the net realisable value of inventories assessed
are less than expected, a material recognition of allowance for
inventories may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which such recognition takes place.

At 31st December, 2017, the carrying amount of inventories is
HK$595,051,000 (2016: HK$413,426,000).
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.

The Group’s operating segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

(i)  Sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products — sale of
natural gas and to a much lesser extent, liquefied petroleum
gas for residential, commercial and industrial use

(i) Gas connection — construction of gas pipelines networks
under gas connection contracts

(iii) Sale of gas appliances — sale of gas appliances and related
products

(iv) Design and construction services — design, construction,
consultancy and management for gas connection projects

(v) Gas stations — sale of gas fuel in natural gas filling stations

No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segments of the Group.

Segment results represent the profit before taxation earned by
each segment, excluding sundry income, interest income, rental
income, finance costs, depreciation of investment properties,
central administrative costs and directors’ salaries. This is the
measure reported to the executive directors of the Company in
the purpose of revenue allocation and assessment of segment

performance.
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(Continued)

The information of segment revenue, segment results, segment
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assets and segment liabilities are as follows:

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

INFORMATION

THW R EE Segment revenue and results
HERDH
RERAR HE RitR
HEER REER REEL ERBH MR fit
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of  Design and
and related Gas gas construction Gas
products  connection  appliances services stations Total
TEn TEn Thn Thn TEn TEx
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Wz Revenue
MR External sales 25,532,665 8,927,369 394,560 1,434,070 3,548,933 39,837,597
E7 | Results
PEEE Segment results 3,035,129 4,005,796 50,321 186,354 624,172 7901,772
BEAERREE Share of results of joint ventures 654,378
4N Share of results of associates 133,047
BIEMA Finance costs (479,103)
RARMBA Unallocated income 498,552
FARFER Unallocated expenses (2,095,262)
BRART Profit before taxation 6,613,384
EHRIERERLT —ZT—tFF®
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6. WBERDEESR (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BE-Z—tHF+=-HA=+—HL For the year ended 31st December, 2017 (Continued)
FE (#)
PEEEREE Segment assets and liabilities
HERDH
FERHR HE Rtk
RBER RRER REHE BRRH =33 &t
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of  Design and
and related Gas gas construction Gas
products  connection  appliances services stations Total
TET TR TR TR Ti#n THR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
EE ASSETS
NREE Segment assets 33,578,867 3,555,009 201,180 777,496 1,756,347 39,868,899
RAERFMER Interests in joint ventures 10,818,388
REERFRER Interests in associates 2,227,235
ELHBEE Deferred tax assets 239,961
KAABRAFEE (Mizta)  Unallocated corporate assets (Note a) 15,609,321
68,763,804
8E LIABILITIES
PEEE Segment liabilities 4,017,057 14,327,499 74,330 1,088,186 282,788 19,789,860
B HE Taxation payable 592,670
ERHERE Deferred tax liabilities 1,222,212
AABATEE (Hib)  Unallocated corporate liabilities
(Note b) 17,989,737
39,594,479

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

For the year ended 31st December, 2017 (Continued)

INFORMATION

H&# Other information
FrESHEEMESBEEEMTAZR Amounts included in the measure of segment profit and segment
18 assets:
HERDH
RERBR HE RitR
HEER REER HEEA EREH MR KOE &t
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of  Design and
and related Gas gas construction Gas
products connection appliances services  stations Unallocated Total
TEn ThRn TEn Thn TEx TEn TEn
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$’000
REFRBEE Additions to non-current assets 4,846,210 - - 9,043 161,241 4,801 5,021,295
FEREH Depreciation and amortisation 1,528,109 - - 2,911 111,510 3,265 1,645,795
FRBEARNTE Release of prepaid lease
payments 82,150 - - - 1,571 - 83,721
el E SR (Reversal of impairment loss)
(REBEEE) impairment loss on trade
REBRFE receivables, net (40,330) - 511 1,457 - - (38,362)
Ef WA ERE Impairment loss on other
receivables - - - - 20,721 - 20,721
LENE  BER Loss on disposal of property,
REER plant and equipment 10,757 - - - - - 10,757
EHRIERERLT —ZT—tFF®
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

6. WERTEER (& 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BE-_Z—A"E+=-HA=+—HL For the year ended 31st December, 2016
FE
DWW RFEE Segment revenue and results
HERAH
REMHR #HE FEtk
BRER AR MEEA 2% MR At
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of  Design and
and related Gas gas  construction Gas
products  connection  appliances services stations Total
FhEr Fhr FiEn TR TiEx ThL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Yozt Revenue
G External sales 20,765,144 7,438,761 268,877 1,336,892 3,106,475 32,916,149
E7 ] Results
PEEE Segment results 2,810,282 3,588,493 42,130 173,485 616,743 7,231,133
YN Share of results of joint ventures 653,064
[EEBENREE Share of results of associates 118,967
BERA Finance costs (538,452)
RARBA Unallocated income 473,032
RAWRR Unallocated expenses (1,749,158)
BEAaA Profit before taxation 6,188,586

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

REVENUE AND SEGMENT
(Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2016 (Continued)

INFORMATION

FE (&)
THEEEREE Segment assets and liabilities
HERDH
RERHR #E Rtk
HEER MRER MEBA RS JilE=h GH)
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of  Design and
and related Gas gas  construction Gas
products  connection  appliances services stations Total
TiBx TAL Thx TR T TATL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE ASSETS
PEEE Segment assets 29,148,862 3,259,320 79,805 477,299 1,679,770 34,645,056
RAERRIMIER Interests in joint ventures 9,028,797
N AUNGaL E Interests in associates 1,863,017
ELREEE Deferred tax assets 209,637
KARAREE (fiFa)  Unallocated corporate assets (Note a) 13,928,611
59,675,118
8% LIABILITIES
PEEE Segment liabilities 2,826,367 12,599,333 62,446 782,892 226,987 16,498,025
JERHE Taxation payable 495,191
ELREEE Deferred tax liabilities 1,204,482
KPEAFAEE (M)  Unallocated corporate
liabilities (Note b) 17,772,627
35,970,325

EBRRERERDT —ZE—LFFR
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HEZT—+FT-_A=T—HIEFE  For the year ended 31st D

ecember, 2017

6. WERDEEHR (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BE-Z-AF+=-HA=+—HL For the year ended 31st December, 2016 (Continued)
FE (&)
HEEx Other information
FrESHEEMESBEEEMTAZR Amounts included in the measure of segment profit and segment
18 : assets:
HERDH
REMBR #HE Rtk
HEER  HEER  HESE BERE &I AR At
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of Design and
and related Gas gas construction Gas
products  connection  appliances services stations Unallocated Total
TR T ThL T ThL FhEr ThL
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS'000
REFNBEE Additions to non-current assets 4124792 = = 5211 139,921 8,828 47278752
WEMBARMEL,  Additions to non-current assets
FRBEERE arising from acquisition of
subsidiaries 803,661 - - - - 2,788 806,449
NEREH Depreciation and amortisation 1,180,084 - - 3,780 101,293 2,921 1,288,078
FRBRENROTE Release of prepaid lease
payments 73,568 - - - 1,369 - 74,937
EWE ZEREREFE Imparment loss on trade
receivables, net 22,160 = 824 493 52 = 23,529
HENE  BERRESE Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 17,345 - - - - - 17,345
HEBNRNFAESE  Loss on disposal of prepaid
lease payments 774 - - - - - 774
MsE - Notes:
a. RO ARBERKEWNBARE a. Unallocated corporate assets represent goodwill arising on acquisition

EREE - RANE  RERS - T
B ERE - R RENK - DERE
AEHR - ERERARBITEBRE

b. ARABARAEREMEMAR - BT b.
X RITEREMEEARELESR
B RITREMEERELEREAAN
SENREETER  BOERRD
RARAR -

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017

of subsidiaries, investment properties, deposits for investments,
available-for-sale investments, other receivables, pledged bank
deposits, other deposits and bank balances and cash.

Unallocated corporate liabilities represent other payables, accrued
expenses, bank and other borrowings and senior notes. Bank and
other borrowings and senior notes are classified as unallocated
corporate liabilities because they are managed centrally by the
treasury function of the Group.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Geographical information

Information about the Group’s non-current assets (excluding
financial instruments and deferred tax assets) is presented based
on the location of the assets:

—E—tHF ZE—RF

2017 2016

FHExT FHET

HK$’000 HK$'000

=8} PRC 45,682,633 38,745,424
B Hong Kong 1,140 574
45,683,773 38,745,998

NZMER - NREENKRAGR T E
BEE -

FRETEFEFHNER

REMER  WHEKREE—IPERS
R MM A LB IR ES10%3 A L -

The Group’s revenue is arisen in the PRC during both years.

Information about major customers

No single external customer contributed revenue from transactions
amounting to 10% or more of the revenue of the Group during

both years.
H A OTHER INCOME
—ZE—-+tF —E—RF
2017 2016
FERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
HA A BIE - Other income included:
BT H B & Government grants 39,104 48,869
IRITIERF B WA Interest income from bank deposits 39,506 99,934
Hih 1m0 R B U A Interest income from other deposits 183,676 100,608
REGFHRBERH B AR Interest income from deposits placed
kA B with a fellow subsidiary 7,860 25,904
KB mE R B AR Interest income from loan to a fellow
Bk F B A subsidiary 22,780 =
REAEDRHFEWA Interest income from joint ventures 2,551 6,277
AW A (523,601,000  Rental income
(ZZ—/N4F 1 4,512,0007%7T)) (outgoings of HK$3,601,000
(2016: HK$4,512,000)) 23,904 20,697

EBRRERERDT —ZE—LFFR
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

B %% X 2R 8. FINANCE COSTS
—E—+tF —T—RF
2017 2016
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$’'000
UTREEZHE : Interests on:
BT REMES Bank and other borrowings 190,203 239,453
BAEER Senior notes 279,358 276,795
A& R RIFIEB Amounts due to joint ventures 6,788 20,061
HtRPAE Other long-term liabilities 2,754 2,143
479,103 538,452
BRE AR F 9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
—E—+tF —T—RF
2017 2016
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BRELATE R E MR (BEA) ¢ Profit before taxation has been arrived at
after charging (crediting):
8 TR Staff costs
EE=PE (FzE11) Directors’ emoluments (note 11) 15,842 27,342
HEMET Other staff
— Fre RaH — Salaries and bonus 2,512,935 2,350,151
— Hip g7 — Other benefits 559,729 452,983
— BEFTEITRIITERN — Performance related incentive
2o (TxAMFE34) payments under the Incentive Award
Scheme (as defined in note 34) - 38,759
— RIRBFIFH B R — Retirement benefits schemes
contributions 509,068 467,580
8 TR A4 Total staff costs 3,597,574 3,336,815
ZERET BN & Auditor’s remuneration 14,738 13,751
Y WENKETE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 1,563,290 1,221,032
A S EEN PR /@] Release of prepaid lease payments 83,721 74,937
REMENE Depreciation of investment properties 3,265 2,921
RS (25 AT )  Amortisation of operating rights
(included in administrative expenses) 79,240 64,125
FEWE ST (CREEE#EE) (Reversal of impairment loss) impairment
REEEFEE loss on trade receivables, net (38,362) 23,529
Hth JiE UG BR RURVE I Impairment loss on other receivables 20,721 =
HEYWE - BERREEE Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 10,757 17,345
HEBMBELOREER Loss on disposal of prepaid lease payments - 774
HEMENLEAOES Operating lease rentals in respect of rented
premises 171,786 169,406

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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BHE_Z—tF+-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017
10. BB 10. TAXATION
—E—tF S ANCS
2017 2016
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
RIEZHBE The tax charge comprises:
BNVERTH I8 Current taxation
R ERTER PRC Enterprise Income Tax 1,716,831 1,586,276
BAEFERERE Overprovision in prior years (39,214) (37,255)
ERARBEIEED D&M & Withholding tax paid for distributed profits
SEREATHHTBIOM and intergroup restructuring of
investments in the PRC 83,297 60,180
1,760,914 1,609,201
EIERA (MiFE32) Deferred taxation (note 32) (58,397) 141,577
1,702,517 1,750,778

FAMEEFNEG %RE*EWSJJEH%
Bt oa 4% B £16.5% — N
16wwuﬁ $ T&E%%%ﬁ
PR A B PR {E 4 B A 0 4 R ER
Tt A - ltt WENERE I BHRE
WNEHR B BFSTRAE

BEPEAREMBESCEMRERE
([REMBHE]) REEMERA
BEHEGH - TERBARNEAS
25% HETEEER=ZASEER
BRI E

BRI AR EREE T
BB (R ——E$1%) © 4
BrEERAIBEEESEDREN=
LT )\F— 5 — B 5 BREUA 5 F B Al
e MmIENR MRz B BIRER
BT 2R /IR B BB RIEFH T
EEIGREB2TIRAREFME R
Bl 59115 5% 8 10% M) 1 = &1 4 1
EASH (AREERNR) -

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2016: 16.5%) on
the estimated assessable profits for the year. The Company and
its subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong do not have assessable
profits, accordingly no provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has
been made in the consolidated financial statements for both years.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% except for
certain group entities which are entitled to various concessionary
tax rates or tax exemptions and reliefs.

According to a joint circular of the Ministry of Finance and State
Administration of Taxation, Cai Shui 2011 No. 1, only the profits
earned by foreign-investment enterprise prior to 1st January, 2008,
when distributed to foreign investors, can be grandfathered and
exempted from withholding tax. Whereas, dividend distributed
out of the profits generated thereafter, shall be subject to the
Enterprise Income Tax at 5% or 10% and withheld by the PRC
entities, pursuant to Articles 3 and 27 of the New Law and Article
91 of its Detailed Implementation Rules.
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iﬂﬂﬁlﬁﬁiﬁéﬁiﬁ?ﬁﬁ
m&R ERRRADE A ERNT

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

10. TAXATION (Continued)

s REHMEE The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before

taxation per consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

—E—+tF T —RF
2017 2016
FHET FHT
HK$°000 HK$'000
B 75 A g A Profit before taxation 6,613,384 6,188,586
REA G E25% Tax at the applicable income
ZT—RNF 1 25%) tax rate of 25% (2016: 25%)
SHERHIA 1,653,346 1,547,147
AT R iR AT 0 R B S A Tax effect of expenses not deductible for
M tax purposes 271,652 263,463
MG RS BARTUAL Tax effect of income not taxable for
M8 tax purposes (54,718) (76,283)
JEhE e RNREENTETE  Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures (163,595) (163,266)
JERB S AR EBENTIEEE  Tax effect of share of results of associates (33,262) (29,742)
AERHBEEEORGSTE Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 20,848 26,092
B FBA W ARHRMTIIEEE  Utilisation of tax losses previously not
recognised (20,951) (19,157)
R B ERHEA Effect of tax exemptions and reliefs granted
Fﬁ?féﬁ}ilﬁﬂﬁﬂ’]@‘ to subsidiaries operating in the PRC (36,503) (31,169)
REBRRRAERNFTEH Income tax at concessionary rates (9,999) (8,519)

BERAPEIEERD KR
AR
ERPEEEE YRR K

Withholding tax for undistributed profits
of investments in the PRC 27,801 215,713
Withholding tax paid for distributed profits

EEMAEALFHTENT and intergroup restructuring of
investments in the PRC 83,297 60,180
BEFERBERE Overprovision in prior years (39,214) (37,255)
Hth Others 3,815 3,574
FRBIEL Tax charge for the year 1,702,517 1,750,778
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BHE_Z—tF+-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

Directors

The emoluments paid or payable to the directors are as follows:

TE-tE B RE
2017 2016
#ER  WUWTEN RIER BeR  wOTEN RGN
g RiEH 53 b 75 ait ik AfpiEh % AHBIE At
Performance  Retirement Performance Retirement
Salaries related benefit Salaries related benefit
and other incentive schemes and other incentive schemes
fE3:21 Name of directors Fees benefits ~ payments ~contributions Total Fees benefits payments  contributions Total
Tén T TR TEn TEn THR THR Thn Thn TH#R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS§'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
HTEE Executive directors
FER (FizH(a)  Wang Chuandong (Note (a)) - - - - - - - - - -
RER Shi Shanbo 70 1,925 3,817 78 5,890 70 1,847 8,124 121 10,162
B GeBin 70 1,560 3,875 4 5,549 70 1,605 7,481 4 9,200
TR (H(b))  Ong Thiam Kin, Ken
(Note (b)) 70 1,260 2,202 151 3,683 70 1,639 5370 181 7,260
FUTES Non-executive directors
HXE (@)  Du Wenmin (Note (a)) - - - - - = - - - -
B (Mif@)  Chen Ying (Note (a)) - - - - - = - - - -
TZ (Mi@)  Wang Yan (Note (a)) - - - - - = - - - -
i (Mi@)  WeiBin (Notes (a) and (c))
Rlc) - - - - - = = = = =
BIHHEE  Independent non-
executive directors
EEH Wong Tak Sing 180 - - - 180 180 = = = 180
T4 Yu Jian 180 - - - 180 180 - - - 180
ER Yu Hon To, David 180 - - - 180 180 - - - 180
F92 Qin Chaokui 180 - - - 180 180 - - - 180
930 4,745 9,894 273 15,842 930 5,091 20975 346 27,342
Mzt - Notes:
(a) FEEEELE HXRKE4E - BEL (a) The emoluments of Mr. Wang Chuandong, Mr. Du Wenmin, Mr. Wei

£ BREAEREFEEENR-T—L
ER-E-AFOMEAEREED
GIES

(b) EFRBAER-_ZT—LFIA—BE
ERTESE -

() EHEEER—_Z-—N\F—At+HhBE
EIRRITEE ©

Bin, Mr. Chen Ying and Mr. Wang Yan for 2017 and 2016 are borne
by CRH.

Mr. Ong Thiam Kin, Ken resigned as executive director on 1st

September, 2017.

Mr. Wei Bin resigned as non-executive director on 19th January, 2018.

EBRRERERDT —ZE—LFFR
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11.

B RS R M et

EERITRASMERER
REE¥EE (&)

B (#F)

A LB ATESNME DT R
REHARBRRAEEEREHIRM
HBRTE - A EFEFMITES KB
FRATEENOME D EEHEREE
RERRAEEHRT

AEBEERARRRE - EXMEK
BORENH e BERERTRER
RERBSFAEMS

WNTENES DRBERNEEMLE
¥E - EARBRAHEBROTISZH
HEBEET -HE-_T—RF+A
=+—BLEFE  ERRERBHE
SAFTEEM BT BT FTESNFIE
13,543,000 7L (ZT—tF : &) o

TBAESEMNESRERZMRESF
EREEAME -

==

AEELEBERFALREMRE (=
T-RE:MB) RWTES HEN
MeFRHEN EX - AEBEK=F
TTRF D) R HEENDH
ST

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS

AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)
Directors (Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were paid for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group. The emoluments of the non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors shown above
were paid for their services as directors of the Company.

Mr. Shi Shanbo is the chief executive officer of the Company
and his emoluments disclosed above include those for services
rendered by him as the chief executive.

Performance related incentive payments were determined with
reference to the Group’s operating results, individual performances
and comparable market statistics. During the year ended 31st
December, 2016, included therein were amounts granted to
directors of HK$13,543,000 under the Incentive Award Scheme as
defined in note 34 (2017: nil).

Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors waived any
emoluments in both years.

Employees

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included two (2016:
two) executive directors, details of whose emoluments are set out
above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2016: three) highest
paid employees of the Group are as follows:

—E—+tF —T—RF

2017 2016

FER T

HK$°000 HK$’000

e REMEF Salaries and other benefits 4,405 4,673
WNITEMN RS Performance related incentive payments 9,633 19,670
RIRER T EIME K Retirement benefit schemes contributions 96 114
14,134 24,457

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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BHE_Z—tF+-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

Employees (Continued)

The emoluments of the above employees are within the following

bands:
—E—tF —E—RF
2017 2016
EEAH EBEAH
Number of Number of
employees employees
4,500,001%870%E5,000,00087c HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 3 -
8,000,001 £ 58,500,000/ HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000 - 3
12. RE 12. DIVIDENDS
—E—tfF —E—RF
2017 2016
FER FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FRERED RS Dividends recognised as distribution
during the year:
T FPHRE - BR15L 2017 interim dividend — 15 HK cents per share
(ZE—RF:ZF—RF (2016: 2016 interim dividend -
REARR B — &R 1571l) 15 HK cents per share) 326,732 326,392
ZE-RERBRE — G307 2016 final dividend — 30 HK cents per share
(ZE—RE: ZZT—AF (2016: 2015 final dividend —
REARR B — FAR2374L) 23 HK cents per share) 653,465 500,468
980,197 826,860

BEEERRNBE_Z—+E+_A
=+ —HILFENRPR S TR0
A (=T — 7N F : 30%1l) - A%
#871,286,000/% T (= & — X F -
653,465,000/ 7T) ©

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of 40
HK cents (2016: 30 HK cents) per share for the year ended 31st
December, 2017 in an aggregate amount of HK$871,286,000
(2016: HK$653,465,000).

EBRRERERDT —ZE—LFFR
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BE_Z—+H&+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017

13. BRER 13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

BRERBNTZATBERTE

following data:

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on the

—E—+tF —E—RF
2017 2016
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$’'000
B : Earnings:
RANTESRERZR AT Earnings for the purposes of basic earnings
(RARHEA AEMFERGF) per share (profit for the year attributable
to owners of the Company) 3,653,994 3,289,399
—E—+tF —E—RF
2017 2016

BHOEE : Number of shares:
AUGTESREARZT A Weighted average number of shares in issue

IEFHEBITRMHE B RA less shares held for incentive award scheme

HE T BB MR D for the purpose of basic earnings per share  2,178,215,487 2,176,106,473
HAMEFEYEDETHELLE No diluted earnings per share is presented as there were no
g MR 25| GREERA - potential ordinary shares in issue for both years.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BE #8 BiR
HENE EC T 4B HERE g ERIR it
Plant,
machinery Furniture
Leasehold and Gas and Leasehold Motor  Construction
properties  equipment pipelines fixtures  improvements vehicles  in progress Total
TAn TEn i TEn TAn FEn i TEn
HKS$'000 HK$1000 HKS$'000 HK$1000 HKS$'000 HK$1000 HKS$'000 HK$1000
LS L] THE GROUP
R CosT
RZE—"5-A-H At 1st January, 2016 3165612 2650919 15730605 454,474 201,962 695686 2816278 25,715,536
EHAE Exchange adjustments (214,343) (178,205)  (1,129,751) (33,450) (19,280) (44,507) (183,764)  (1,803,300)
AE Additions 167,932 177,453 1327,620 76,403 80,209 35,036 1712080 3576733
WEHEAT Acaquisition of a subsidiary 95,195 58,089 391,745 9,868 48,041 13,781 135,458 752,177
i3 Disposals (85,684) (72,320) (52,266) (18,379) () (40,308) (37,633) (307,381)
&z Transfer 152,498 109,066 1,328,910 2421 12,912 264 (1,606,077) -
RZS—AETZA=+—H  At31st December, 2016 3281210 2745002 17,596,843 491,343 323,073 659,952 2836342 27933765
EfAE Exchange adjustments 253,746 202737 1372410 34,629 24142 44,804 168,700 2,101,168
AE Additions 469,668 24211 2,319,202 21672 34,437 54944 1360894 4503028
e Disposals (39,099) (97,678) (51,202) (23,631) (3,208) (95,152) (69,028) (378,99)
&3 Transfer 207,775 137,066 1,743,682 6,999 9599 282 (2115403) -
RZE—+E+-A=+-HB  At31stDecember, 2017 4183300 3229338 22980935 531,012 388,043 664,830 2181505 34,158,963
HERAE DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
RZZ—E-F-H At 1st January, 2016 247,628 423499 1,779,036 190,559 88,443 242316 26,831 2,998,372
[EE Exchange adjustments (20,031) (30,953) (136,662) (13,620) (8,009) (16,383) - (225,658)
TEERE Provided for the year 133,592 178,475 708,463 61430 63,646 75,426 - 121082
HERHR Eliminated on disposals (12.503) (50,190) (11,349) (11,030) (20) (33,764) - (118,852)
RZE-AETZA=F—H  At31st December, 2016 348,686 520,831 2,339,492 227,339 144,060 267,655 26,831 3,874,894
EHAE Exchange adjustments 28989 4210 197,163 17,576 12,539 18,915 - 319,392
REERE Provided for the year 142,930 278,030 926,522 66,470 69,847 79,491 - 1563290
HERHR Eliminated on disposals (18,714) (67,637) (20,358) (21693) (3,165) (75,334) - (206,901)
RZF—tEF-A=F-H  At3stDecember, 2017 501,891 715434 3442819 289,692 223,281 290727 26,831 5,550,675
BEE CARRYING VALUES
RIE—+E+-A=+-HB  At31stDecember, 2017 3681409 2453904 19,538,116 241,320 164,762 374103 2154674 28,608,268
RZB-~ETZA=1-A At 31st December, 2016 2,932,524 2224171 15257351 264,004 179,013 392,297 2809511 24,058,871
EPRRERERAE T —FF®
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14. Y13 - BERRE (&

L% BERKFHER (EET
BRI AR A E R F AR A
HETRISBERABRETIAFTE

HEWMHE

Leasehold properties

B - e MR

Plant, machinery and
equipment

MREE

Gas pipelines

BRREE

Furniture and fixtures

HEMEEE

Leasehold improvements

e

Motor vehicles

RAEBNHEMEEBUNTE L

T

15. AN HEQIFIE

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

14. PROPERTY,
(Continued)

values, using the straight-line method, as follows:

25F40F IR BRMHY (AEREE BE)

25 to 40 years or over the relevant lease terms, if shorter

52204
5 to 20 years

20£304F

20 to 30 years
3E124

31to 12 years

3E5FHIRAMMEE (UBREERE)
3 to 5 years or over the relevant lease terms, if shorter

3'E104F
3'/sto 10 years

land in the PRC.

15. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are depreciated over their estimated
useful lives and after taking into account their estimated residual

The Group’s leasehold properties comprise buildings situated on

—E—+tF —E—RE
2017 2016
FBx FHBT
HK$’000 HK$’'000
REENRMNBELHFHIBERE The Group’s prepaid lease payments
R BMEE L comprise of leasehold land situated
in the PRC:
FERBEE Non-current assets 1,714,508 1,522,489
MEEE Current assets 90,364 82,837
1,804,872 1,605,326

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

FHT

HK$'000
A COST
RZZT—R"F—HA—H At 1st January, 2016 56,482
FE R Exchange adjustments (3,193)
NE Additions 6,961
R-ZZE—XRF+=-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2016 60,250
IE i H R Exchange adjustments 4,399
NE Additions 4,801
R-ZZE—+F+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2017 69,450
e DEPRECIATION
RZE—R"E—H—H At 1st January, 2016 16,627
Ve R Exchange adjustments (938)
REZEE Provided for the year 2,921
R-ZZ—XR"F+-_A=+—H At31st December, 2016 18,610
BE Exchange adjustments 1,424
NEEEAE Provided for the year 3,265
R-Z—+F+-A=+—H At31st December, 2017 23,299
REE CARRYING VALUES
R-ZT—+F+-A=+—H At31st December, 2017 46,151
RZZT—A"F+=-A=+—H At31st December, 2016 41,640

REE A AEER O AEFH AR
BMESRAKIEE AR EREN TR
BB AKARAGTE  UDEHE
BWENR - TEIDIRAHHEFH
B EMEE R B MR AFHE

RZE—
+—8 -
AR o

tERZZE-—R"F+=A=
AEBRBHREMEHIN

remaining terms of the leases.

EHRREZERAERAF

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured
using cost model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties. Depreciation is provided to write off the
cost of investment properties using straight-line method over the

At 31st December, 2017 and 2016, all of the Group’s investment
properties are situated in the PRC.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

17. REE R RIER 17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

—E—tF —ERF

2017 2016

FERT FHET

HK$’000 HK$'000

RELARIELTIEERKA Cost of unlisted investments in joint ventures 4,562,578 3,290,535

S Goodwill 967,795 834,212
IR R E 2 m| Share of post-acquisition profits and

WA - HIRB AR E other comprehensive income,
net of dividend received 5,288,015 4,904,050
10,818,388 9,028,797

R=ZF—tFXA AEBEHELRH
%%@ﬁigiﬁﬁﬁm%%%/x
EERAR ([E58REER]) B—
HEEARSERREMRERERA
AI(TBEBMK]) ©mA R BT S
MSHE - AEBEER ST SRRNE
TFEEMZELEARE ([ARK])
612,500,0007T (18 & 7,684,732,000
BIL) MZRBEER T -+
ZA=+—BRGREMBRREFRT
BB RS - REVS B BEATIHIIN
HE%R SERRBLEERE SR
TREB D BEB49%KHE51%EZ ° A
RIEBEBORREOFTEAEERS
SHEREEN—HAE  WAKEA
$ESMRITE LRI o dut
SEMRAERAEEENEE AR
HE-_Z—tF+-A=1+—RHLLF
B RERSCEEFHPEANAE
ANAEIWEZ TKENEERBED
AFEEREECIEGRELEET
LARFFERK FESR A] 0 A FB Y B B DA R AT
HAEERBEME -

REEBR  AEBOHES
FIBENA 47 -

NG

In June 2017, the Group has obtained the approval from the relevant
government authority for a joint venture, 558 REBMRER A
7] (“Qingdao Gas”), with E &8 REEBR AR
Group”), which was previously wholly-owned by Qingdao Energy

("Qingdao Energy

Group. The Group has made a capital contribution amounting to
Renminbi (“RMB”) 612,500,000 (equivalent to HK$684,732,000) for
the enlarged registered capital of Qingdao Gas in prior years and
such amount was recorded as deposits for an investment on the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st December,
2016. After obtaining the relevant government authority approval,
Qingdao Gas is owned by the Group and Qingdao Energy Group
as to 49% and 51%, respectively. The Group is able to exercise
joint control over Qingdao Gas which the decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the Group and
Qingdao Energy Group. Accordingly, Qingdao Gas is regarded as
a joint venture of the Group. The deposits for an investment were
reclassified as interests in a joint venture during the year ended
31st December, 2017. The fair value of the assets and liabilities
acquired and goodwill have been determined on a provisional
basis, awaiting the completion of the identification of separable
intangible assets and valuation of the identifiable assets and
liabilities.

Details of the Group’s principal joint ventures at the end of the
reporting period are set out in note 47.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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17. REE L RHER (&)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EEMSYFBEANSERATANE

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not individually

FER material
—E—tF T —RF
2017 2016
FHER FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
RE B AR T & The Group’s share of profit and
2HEIRALBEE total comprehensive income 199,640 181,814
MR R R AL Aggregate gas connection income 961,830 809,524
REBRZEEENTIN Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
R EATE interests in these joint ventures 3,500,933 2,813,945

18. Rt &E QA E

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

—ZE—tF ZE—REF
2017 2016
FHET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
NI =] %N Cost of investments in associates
— MNEBAIN T - Listed outside Hong Kong 1,355,412 1,265,608
— kM — Unlisted 410,617 232,274
EES Goodwill 3,490 3,261
JE 1 s B 18 S 1) Je EL A Share of post-acquisition profits and
ZEBA - BB KRS other comprehensive income,
net of dividend received 457,716 361,874
2,227,235 1,863,017
EHERENATE (KisE) Fair value of listed investments (Note) 4,664,374 5,160,924

Mt EHRONATFEFE (E-—KRXF
BFE) HREERT SN ER

=

=

R R &

H
FHEET M FE48 o

R AEEHETEHE QA

Note: The fair value measurements of the listed shares (Level 1 fair value
measurements) are derived from quoted prices in an active market.

Details of the Group’s principal associates at the end of the
reporting period are set out in note 48.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of a material associate

Summarised financial information in respect of EEMREBID B
RARI(EEMER”), the Group’s material associate, is set out below.

=Xl This associate is accounted for using the equity method in these

consolidated financial statements.

—E—+tF —ET—RF
2017 2016
FERT FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
mBEE Current assets 3,060,241 3,483,711
EREEE Non-current assets 6,992,734 5,956,760
mEAR Current liabilities (2,663,870) (2,655,708)
FERHEE Non-current liabilities (2,460,067) (2,411,920)
FEVE AR 25 Non-controlling interests 437,464 417,286
—E—tHF —E—RF
2017 2016
FER T
HK$’000 HK$’000
A Revenue 6,513,319 6,453,229
FRE N R E2mE AR Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year 457,581 451,345
FAD W EAFIRE Dividends received from the associate
for the year 47,259 55,257
FEHRRIERERLAT —Z—+LFFR
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18. REE&E D

e B RRMEE

—tF+RA=+—HIEE

B (&)

—HEIEBREQATNUHERBE
(#)

LB AR E BN RS BB IRE
M HERR OB 2 X B 4 2 1O BR T (B 4 R
wmr

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of a material associate
(Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

—E—tF T —RF
2017 2016
FER FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
7 RS DN NGy Net assets of the associate
BEFE attributable to owners 4,491,574 3,955,557
AEEBREERRH Proportion of the Group’s ownership
B e Al interest in EEMEA 22.49% 22.49%
GRS Goodwill 3,490 3,261
RKNBRATEAZRNTZE Effect of fair value adjustments at acquisition 646,999 610,922
AEBREEMRRER Carrying amount of the Group’s
BREA interest in EEME, 1,660,644 1,503,788

ITEBRERRNEI2NFEEREENA
UrEE) - GAREEIHERAR MR
fERmR M ERMRER S HETH
MREM FRAMARERERINR
PR ERREBURRRAR
MR HE RN A BB R

HX 22N P E -

EEMSYFEBERNBEQAMNA

The material associate is principally engaged in similar activities
as the Group and is strategic to the Group’s activities as sale
of natural gas and liquefied petroleum gas, and construction of
gas pipelines networks under gas connection contracts, design,
construction, consultancy and management for gas connection
projects and sale from gas fuel in natural gas filling stations. Its
principal place of business is the PRC.

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually

FER material
—E—+F —E—RF
2017 2016
FER FHET
HK$°’000 HK$’000
AEBEEF & The Group’s share of profit and
2 HEUAEEE total comprehensive income 30,137 17,460
AREBERZEHZ AT Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's
M REAE interests in these associates 566,591 359,229

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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BE_Z—tF+-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017

19. I HERE 19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

—E2—tF —E—REF

2017 2016

FHET FHET

HK$’000 HK$'000

RAREE EmG - HBAFE Listed shares in the PRC, at fair value 5,654 8,224
R B IE ETRARE Unlisted equity investments in the PRC,

BN at cost 61,352 55,759

67,006 63,983

RO AFEFE (F—RATE The fair value measurements of the listed shares (Level 1 fair value

BFtE) HREERMISHMERE - measurements) are derived from quoted prices in an active market.

FELETRAKETERAEFR KA The unlisted equity investments represent investments in unlisted

FAEBB (FERSREREE KK equity securities issued by private entities established in the

REEERER) METHELTR PRC, which are principally engaged in sales of liquefied gas

REHHRE - DIRR I EHRE K and connection of gas pipelines. They are measured at cost less

TRERBEBEEEFE  AEREATE impairment losses at the end of the reporting period because

HETEERAN  WEEERAER the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that

FETEEA] AT E o the management is of the opinion that their fair values cannot be

measured reliably.

20. BHE 20. GOODWILL

FHET
HK$'000

REE CARRYING VALUE
RZZTE—X~"F—HA—H At 1st January, 2016 676,169
BE o, 28 Exchange adjustments (42,883)
RZZE—RFt+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2016 633,286
Ve 7, A Exchange adjustments 44,395
RZE—+F+_A=+—H At 31st December, 2017 677,681

EBRRERERDT —ZE—LFFR
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HE-T—+F+-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017

20. B& (&) 20. GOODWILL (Continued)

HEBAHIMENEES SRS
BN BERZEFAHZREEE
B ((ReELEM]) - iEERE
AAmME  BEEERZMEBRRASE
URMREELBMN - RREHR - BH
BOREETIZHEARBATHER
AIFTEERNEE

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to cash
generating units (*“CGUs”) that are expected to benefit from that
business combination. The management considers each subsidiary
represents a separate CGU for the purpose of goodwill impairment
testing. At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of
goodwill mainly represents goodwill arising from the acquisition of
subsidiaries as follows:

—E—+t5F —T—RF

2017 2016

FER FHT

HK$°000 HK$'000

ZMEBRRERARF (HizEa) ZINEBERRER 2 (Note a) 228,725 213,741
REERMABERAR (Fa) RZ2ZEHRRABR AT (Note a) 126,972 118,654
EBBELEBRRER AR (MiFa) LESILEBRRERAE (Note a) 122,846 114,798
REZEBHRRER AT (Kizkb) REZEBRIER A (Note b) 54,287 50,731
ZHBEBRT AR AR (Hita) ZIHE BRI BRAEF (Note a) 32,560 30,427
BN EERRRDER AT (Mita) HMEBRRBRMHBR AR (Note a) 29,209 27,296
ARZEBRRERAF (MizEa) ARZEBRRARAF (Note a) 22,331 20,868
HAth (MizEa) Others (Note a) 60,751 56,771
677,681 633,286

a. RERSELBMUEFOHERD
HREMHMRERER  (MRE
B R(iHEMRREL -

b. RERSELABUNFOHERS
HRBMHRAERER  (WRRE
B (iEEMAREE Riv)imR
uf o

iﬁ%%i%fﬁﬁ@ﬂﬂ&@ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁi@iﬁ
BER ATEERERAT
xﬁ“’ﬁ%%ﬁfﬁi HERLREERR
ERANTRAZES - EREHHRAA
RREBREELEMNBENEER
B E R R R 1T 5 A (A B AT L
f\fEEJrHSIEI"i‘ﬁXHi%WiEJ’E
AFHE - EEREERANEEAZ
BIEE §‘J&i‘ﬁiﬁm%$xﬁﬁbﬁ‘ﬁ%m°

Notes:

a. These CGUs are engaged in the operating segments of (i) sale and
distribution of gas fuel and related products; (ii) gas connection; and
(iii) sale of gas appliances.

b. This CGU is engaged in the operating segments of (i) sale and
distribution of gas fuel and related products; (ii) gas connection; (iii)
sale of gas appliances; and (iv) gas stations.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on
value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in
use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth
rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs.
Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based
on industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct
costs are based on past practices and expectations of future
changes in the market.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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BE_Z—tF+-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017
20. B& (&) 20. GOODWILL (Continued)
AEERESREREMEBBRRK The Group prepares cash flows forecasts derived from the most
NENTI PP BESE (HERIER recent financial budgets approved by senior management for the
EMRERERN—RERLY) G next 4 years, which is the general development period for sales
ReEMEER - RIZEHFOMETE of liquefied gas and gas connection business and extrapolates
RERS%RIEH T EFHEHERE cash flows for the period beyond the budget period based on the
B0% (ZE—AF: BRAFA%K estimated growth rate of 5% for the first 5 years and 0% for the
FIsA+F B0%) R ETEE 218 B remaining 7 years (2016: 5% for the first 5 years and 0% for the
MIEeReE BARSELBEMNER remaining 7 years). The rate used to discount the forecast cash
EREMANBRERT% (ZT— flows for the CGUs is 7% (2016: 7%). In the opinion of the directors,
F:7%)c BEERA RIMEHK no material impairment loss of goodwill on gas operation is
MRREBHO B & LR EMENR identified at the end of the reporting period. Management believes
BEE - TEERE ZEREMNE that any reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions
MEEREEHTTERRSELE would not cause the aggregate carrying amount of the CGU to
UREREEREBOZASEEEVH exceed the aggregate carrying amount of the CGU.
RERE(E o
REE 21. OPERATING RIGHTS
FAET
HK$’000
2% COST
RZZE—R"F—H—H At 1st January, 2016 1,452,199
P& 55 A% Exchange adjustments (883,460)
NE Additions 87,499
I BB BB A A Acquisition of a subsidiary 3,194
RZE-—RE+=-A=+—H At 31st December, 2016 1,459,432
P 3, 5 B Exchange adjustments 102,547
NE Additions 6,471
RZZ—tF+=-A=+—H At 31st December, 2017 1,568,450
B AMORTISATION
R_Z—AR"F—HA—H At 1st January, 2016 153,825
P H A% Exchange adjustments (5,357)
IRFE B Provided for the year 64,125
RZZE—RE+=-HA=+—H At 31st December, 2016 212,593
RS Exchange adjustments 17,804
NEERAE Provided for the year 79,240
RZZF—+F+=—A=+—H At 31st December, 2017 309,637
BREE CARRYING VALUES
R-E—+F+=-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2017 1,258,813
RZE—R"FE+-A=+—H At 31st December, 2016 1,246,839
Wi EBREKNEERTIAEREER The operating rights for city pipeline network are amortised over the
et ] B EEI10E2 505 NSy - estimated useful life ranging from 10 to 50 years on a straight-line
basis

EHRREZERAERAF
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BE—_Z—tF+-_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017

22. & 22. INVENTORIES
—E=—+tF —T—RF
2017 2016
Fax FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEEMK Construction materials 384,162 274.100
BURK Finished goods 210,889 139,326
595,051 413,426

23. B E 5 BRI H 4t B UK

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

—E—+tF —T—RF
2017 2016
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEUR B 5 R Trade receivables 4,497,377 4,644,654
B REREHE Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (163,251) (190,381)
4,334,126 4,454,273
FEU &4 AR FIAE (Fffsfa)  Amounts due from joint ventures (Note a) 424,784 508,807

FEUSEE B AR B 708 (FfsEb) Amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders (Note b) 267,236 19,539
R (fifate) Deposits (Note ¢) 1,491,478 1,052,444
FaRFRIE (MisEd) Prepayments (Note d) 2,240,202 1,295,478
H b e R Other receivables 704,730 690,106
9,462,556 8,020,647

iz - Notes:

a. BREWRAERRIFKIES1,246,000/5 7T
(=% — /X4 : 33,834,000/ 7T) &
E I - 2N T3.92/F £4.35/F (=
T — N 3.92EFE4.35F) TEFH
FEFEMNRFERER—FAEE
SN BT EBAEEKR R RER
DRAFEIE -

b. RUFERBRRKAREER %28
RANRERKERE -

c. REFBEEXINTHRAMBENEZ
& KEEREERS -

d FBENFEIEEEAREERRENEER
BREM BTN

a. Except for the amounts due from joint ventures of HK$51,246,000
(2016: HK$33,834,000) which are unsecured, bear variable interest
ranging from 3.92% to 4.35% (2016: 3.92% to 4.35%) per annum and
repayable within one year, the remaining balances are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

b. Amounts due from non-controlling shareholders are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

@ Deposits mainly include deposits paid to gas suppliers, utility and
rental deposits.

d. Prepayments mainly include prepayments for purchase of construction
materials for gas connection contracts.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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BE_Z—tF+-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017

23. ;EH%%%%*R&E%FEU&#\

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

AERETHEFPNEEH—RAI0
AEIOK - EHBRREEENEKRE
SERFRBEMRENEZEBE (1
EREBAERAH) HREDITR
P

The Group generally allows credit periods ranging from 30 to 90
days to its customers. The aged analysis of trade receivables, net
of allowance for doubtful debts, is presented based on the invoice
date at the end of the reporting period, which approximated the
respective revenue recognition date as follows:

—E—tF —E—REF

2017 2016

FHERT FAET

HK$’000 HK$'000

0— 90K 0 - 90 days 3,667,867 3,737,008
91 — 180K 91 - 180 days 398,809 430,682
181 — 365K 181 — 365 days 221,793 238,399
365K £ Over 365 days 45,657 48,184
4,334,126 4,454,273

R-T—+tE+-_A=+—HHEK
ESERBIERRE A HBBHRAH
JiE I B 7666,259,00078 7T (—Z— 7%
F 717,265,000/ 7T) ° HRAEH A
MERARREEXNEE - EiL i &
HZEREELRE EFEBETZE
YRR EEE R R - BEARm
NEREREERGLE  AEEILE
RZEEBERRE B EER L -

ERHMEYERENERE S RX
AR

Included in trade receivables as at 31st December, 2017 are
receivables of HK$666,259,000 (2016: HK$717,265,000) which are
past due at the reporting date but are regarded as not impaired
as there has not been a significant change in the credit standing
of the debtors. The directors determined that such receivables
neither past due nor impaired are of good credit quality with no
history of default. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these receivables.

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired

—E—-+tF —E—RF

2017 2016

FERT FHT

HK$’000 HK$'000

91 — 180K 91 - 180 days 398,809 430,682
181 — 365K 181 — 365 days 221,793 238,399
365K A E Over 365 days 45,657 48,184
666,259 717,265

[
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23.

B RS R M et

FE W B 5 RR R B H At R UK

(&

ERHEYERENERE S RX
IR (%)

NEERUERZTE AW O - A
B EEBANERARREE R
REAMERDEEMANES - i
RAEEBEEAEEF  BEEES
TREREER - Bl ARAREERAS
BB SR I MR T H AR AR
woh - BMASITIEHEERE -

REREREETEFARMGHE
A B 5B FE Uk BR 5K A& $£163,251,000
7# 70 (= & — /X F £ 190,381,000%
TL) c ZEEHALEEETERNIER
B B I PR 8 o AN R BN B R R E R
IRFIF ARG o

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired
(Continued)

In determining the recoverability of a receivable, the Group
considers whether there has been adverse change in the credit
standing of the debtor from the date credit was initially granted.
The concentration of credit risk is limited as the Group’s customer
base comprises of a large number of customers. Accordingly, the
directors of the Company believe that there is no further credit
provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts
already provided for in the consolidated financial statements.

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually
impaired receivables due from certain debtors with an aggregate
amount of HK$163,251,000 (2016: HK$190,381,000) which have
either been placed under liquidation or are in financial difficulties.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these receivables.

RIRBEEE Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts
—E—+tF —E—K
2017 2016
FHExT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
n—A—H At 1st January 190,381 179,257
[ 5, G 2E Exchange adjustments 11,232 (12,405)
BHER CREEERE) (Reversal of impairment loss) impairment
VRN SR bk loss recognised, net (38,362) 23,529

R+-_A=+—8H At 31st December 163,251 190,381

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

24. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO CUSTOMERS FOR

;I8 CONTRACT WORKS
ZE—tF —E—RF
2017 2016
FHERT FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
EERAGRAIMDHEREF] Contract costs incurred plus profits recognised 3,464,831 2,408,929

B TRERNR

Less: Progress billings

(14,015,473) (11,689,815)

(10,550,642) (9,280,886)
MERMEITON ¢ Analysis for reporting purposes as:
RUWEFEAHIRTIA Amounts due from customers for
contract works 2,257,359 1,881,976

ERNEEAATIRZIE Amounts due to customers for contract works (12,808,001) (11,162,862)
(10,550,642) (9,280,886)
EIRFRITER 25. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

n=

Z—+F+A=+—H " R1T

FRERFIEAENRAREEEN
R ESERMIER - DEBRTE
RIBUAARBE - BEMBFEREX
0.35/E £4.8F (—Z T — /N4 : 0.35[F
ZF2.75E) 58 °

HteFERRITEHRREA

&
(a)

Hhz

R=F—ARF+=—A=+—8
Hip 7R 2 E BRI TEH A A
ARBHENRAREFR - RHF
F *=1.502 =2.85/F - 1% F 48
BRI R HFHRITREN
EEmETARBEBTANRKE
i E - WA B EIR S A B
HEMBBEZ AN T6=
92K o HAh 17 BN B IR HE R B
WA TE RIE A FERT A B
HEShERMBRAXITET
H-BERR HUEROAF
B (BR2ERBARSREET A
T8 (K FE43(c)FT ik ER)) &
EARSHERE R-F—tF+
“A=t+—R 1TEZFEMFT

e
A °

26.

At 31st December, 2017, bank deposits are pledged as security
for trade payables to suppliers of natural gas. The pledged bank
deposits are denominated in RMB and carry interest at market rates
ranging from 0.35% to 4.8% (2016: 0.35% to 2.75%) per annum.

OTHER DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND
CASH

(a)

Other deposits

At 31st December, 2016, other deposits consisted of principal
protected deposits denominated in RMB issued by banks in
the PRC with expected interest rate from 1.50% to 2.85%
per annum, depending on the performance of the underlying
share index, money market instruments and debt instruments
invested by the counterparty banks, payable on maturity
where the maturity ranging from 6 to 92 days from the date
of purchase. Other deposits were designated at FVTPL
on initial recognition as they contained non-closely related
embedded derivatives. The directors considered the fair
values of other deposits, which were measured by reference
to the discounted cash flow approach as disclosed in note
43(c), approximated to their principal amounts. No such other
deposits were noted at 31st December, 2017.

EBRRERERDT —ZE—LFFR
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26. Rt F R BITHEBRRER

&
(b)

(ﬂf}%‘f_
RITEHRERSE

RITEBETSFHETEE
—T—NE  TEIE) A A ¢

27. BENEZRAREMENSRK

26. OTHER DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND
CASH (Continued)

(b) Bank balances and cash

The bank balances carry interest at market rates ranging from
0% to 3% (2016: 0% to 3%) per annum.

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

—E—tF AN
2017 2016
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
T E SRR Trade payables 6,618,690 4,969,090
e A% ARIFRIA (HitEa) Amounts due to joint ventures (Note a) 582,310 084,718
JEF S5 IR AR SR R TE Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders
(F=EDb) (Note b) 290,114 159,515
TEURFR Receipts in advance 2,963,062 1,831,208
BRI S Deposits received 416,341 395,430
BEVE  BER Payables for acquisition of property,
A e R IE plant and equipment - 141,759
1 B 4 8 i B S SRR Payables for acquisition of operating rights
(PF3E31) (note 31) 27,289 23,700
JEET B TR(A Accrued staff costs 1,059,004 865,791
Hib N EE A Other payables and accruals 1,284,898 1,202,812
13,241,708 10,574,023

B FE & % A 7] 35X 18460,398,000/%5
7T (ZZF—7< 4% : 867,533,000/ 7T)
AEER - R1A5EF165E (=%
—AFR1ASEMNEEFR) K97
E)FEFRFERAR —FEREEIN
BT ERAERR R RAREX

RHEE -

FERFEIRAR AR R IR AR - 28
RANBERIEE o

Notes:

a. Except for the amounts due to joint ventures of HK$460,398,000 (2016:
HK$867,533,000) which are unsecured, bear variable interest ranging
from 1.15% to 1.65% (2016: fixed interest at 1.15%) per annum and
repayable within one year, the remaining balances are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

b. Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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FEf B 5 BR AR HL At P {3 K 27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)
(#&)
ENESERNBEHRENEZEEH The aged analysis of trade payables is presented based on invoice
HIRBRR DT 25T - date at the end of the reporting period as follows:
—E—+F —E—RF
2017 2016
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
0— 90X 0 - 90 days 4,395,132 3,274,005
91 — 180K 91 - 180 days 613,272 453,687
181 — 365K 181 — 365 days 812,793 606,642
365 KA E Over 365 days 797,493 634,756
6,618,690 4,969,090
BENTHEEHATRAEIS0K - & The average credit period on purchases of goods ranges from 7
B HIE M SRR E IR - LA to 180 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in
RINEBEEBRA A BNERR - place to ensure that all payables are within the credit timeframe.
BB E 28. GOVERNMENT GRANTS
R_ZE—+tF+-_A=+—8 " BF At 31st December, 2017, government grants of HK$203,811,000
## B) £2083,811,000/% 7T (=& — 7% (2016: HK$178,330,000) mainly represent subsidies granted by
% : 178,330,000/ 7T) £ EHEH H K PRC governmental authorities for the purpose of financing the
NERERRHNER - BERWE acquisition of property, plant and equipment and construction of
M BEREBEARBELZRREE gas pipelines.

RHEES -

EBRRERERDT —ZE—LFFR
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

—E—tF —T—RF
2017 2016
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
RITER Bank loans 5,576,792 6,411,092
HER Other loans 2,393 30,232
5,579,185 6,441,324
g iniil Unsecured 5,579,185 6,441,324
REEMIRTREMMEESZE  The Group’s bank and other borrowings are
RUAT EIfEE repayable*:
—FR Within one year 5,327,669 3,139,480
ZR—FETBBME More than one year, but not exceeding
two years 8,673 3,047,260
ZRMEETBARF More than two years, but not exceeding
five years 26,018 -
ZRAF More than five years 216,825 254,584
5,579,185 6,441,324
W RBAEERRN AR Less: Amount due within one year shown
B B R FRIE under current liabilities** (5,327,669) (3,139,480)
FEREBABARR—FE Amount due after one year shown as
B HARY 108 non-current liabilities 251,516 3,301,844

* FHREDREBEERIBAATHOE 2
EERAYPETE -

= RIET—+F+=-A=+—8 1T e
T H i & 55,327,669,000/ T & F
B & — % 70783,940,000,0007% JT °
RIBEER &AM E EERB
AR—FANER  BEZERGEEA
RERIFFEBABRK

RZZE—AR"F+=-A=+—H " 17
I H i & 53,139,480,00078 7T &
B 45 — % 3 1E3,103,315,000/% TT
BIEERBEANMENE EERE S
AR—FNEE  BZERBEIE
RESKEEENIRR -

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017

The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in
the loan agreements.

As at 31st December, 2017, included in bank and other borrowings
of HK$5,327,669,000 is an amount of HK$3,940,000,000 that was
repayable within one year pursuant to scheduled repayment dates
set out in the loan agreements but contained a repayment on demand
clause.

As at 31st December, 2016, included in bank and other borrowings
of HK$3,139,480,000 is an amount of HK$3,103,315,000 that was
repayable within one year pursuant to scheduled repayment dates
set out in the loan agreements but contained a repayment on demand
clause.
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29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Details of the terms of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are

LU set out below:
BB FR = —E—tF —T—REF
Effective
interest rates
per annum 2017 2016
TR FAEL
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEEE: Fixed rate borrowings:
EHRARERITER Unsecured RMB bank loans 4.13% - 5.60% - 33,538
EEMAREEMER Unsecured RMB other loan 2.55% - 3.21% - 30,232
wEAAE ([BE]) T8 Unsecured Japanese Yen
(“JPY”) bank loan 0.65% 264,622 254,584
TEEE®E Total fixed rate borrowings 264,622 318,354
EEEE Floating rate borrowings:
EERARERITER Unsecured RMB bank loans
BEEMPEARRIT at margin plus People’s Bank
ERMEGR of China Base Rate 4.75% - 7.04% 22,170 28,655
BEERARERTER Unsecured RMB bank loans
BREEMRITESKAGE at margin plus bank’s cost of
funds 4.97% - 1,594,315
BERBTROTER  REE Unsecured HKD bank loans
MEBRITRERFBE at margin plus Hong Kong
(IB#RTRAEREE]) A Interbank Offered Rate
(“HIBOR") 1.35% — 2.03% 5,290,000 4,500,000
EERAREEMER Unsecured RMB other loan at
BEERFRARR margin minus People’s Bank
ERFI=E S of China Base Rate 4.13% 2,393 =
FEEEBE Total floating rate borrowings 5,314,563 6,122,970
Rt Total borrowings 5,579,185 6,441,324
EHRIERBERDF T—+HFFH
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30.

B RS R M et

BEARE

MR-Z——FMARA  KARAAIRE
BHEE7.95%MEEBHITALE
#4750,000,0003 7T ([ 7Tl) (18 &
#:5,818,890,0007% Jt) ) 18 /& = &
([BEER]D  BAEBRERIEXRS
Fa45%:t 8 WRHEZFFXH
—R YR _—_FMAMA 3
Ho BAZRAERIF  WIRER
FEL 8% E - REEZZT—LF+
ZA=+—HIEFE BEZNRH
F 2R 5279,358,000/8 7T (— & —
JNEE ¢ 276,795,00008 7)) ©

BAZERTMBEELRZMBR
AR LM - BAEHER®E R
MAFEZRE—BRLFEFES
&) & 5t £788,828,0005% st (48
% 06,152,855,000i8 T)(= & —
7N fF : 783,615,000k 7T (18 =
6,112,197,000/% 7T)) - J3ik % B &Y
WHEERE -

%

ANEBE PR E Z 5 B B Al (] R
BRELEERASTEA100%00 &
RARFE  BEMIFBOBRFME
BRERE -

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

30. SENIOR NOTES

On 5th April, 2012, the Company issued senior notes with principal
amount of United States dollars (“US$”) 750,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$5,818,890,000) at an offer price of 97.95% of the face value of
the notes (“Senior Notes”). The Senior Notes bear coupon interest
at 4.5% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears and are due
on 4th April, 2022. The Senior Notes are unsecured and carry
effective interest rate of 4.8% per annum. Interest expenses of
HK$279,358,000 (2016: HK$276,795,000) was charged to profit or
loss during the year ended 31st December, 2017.

The Senior Notes are listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited. The fair value of the Senior Notes at the end of the
reporting period, which was measured at fair value on Level 1 fair
value measurement, was estimated at US$788,828,000 (equivalent
to HK$6,152,855,000) (2016: US$783,615,000 (equivalent to
HK$6,112,197,000)), which was determined based on the closing
market price at that date.

The Group has the option to redeem all of the Senior Notes, in full
but not in part, at 100% of their principal amount plus accrued and
unpaid interest at any time up to the maturity date.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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3. HhRHAE 31. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
e B 35k T B B AR AR A S RE R S IR Y The payables for acquisition of operating rights for city pipeline
FEEHIIAT network are payable as follows:
—E—tF —E—RF
2017 2016
FERT FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
—FR Within one year 27,289 23,700
ZR—FETBAME More than one year, but not exceeding
two years 4,560 14,573
ZHRMERTBBAT More than two years, but not exceeding
five years 34,885 20,006
ZREE More than five years 119,913 153,164
186,647 211,443
o mEBIBEFRET ATERE  Less: Amount due within one year included
5 AR R B M FE AN RO in trade and other payables shown
—ERNE HeKIE under current liabilities (27,289) (23,700)
Eln if)ﬁ%FﬁT\EA Amount due after one year shown as
—FIZEIH AR non-current liabilities 159,358 187,743

ZEREDETBRACRETE
FERAMITERDEREZTEN ?101
50F M ERFFEI95E (ZT—N
£ :397F) -

ranging from 10 to 50 years.

EHRREZERAERAF

The present values were based on cash flows discounted using
effective interest rate of 3.95% (2016: 3.97%) per annum for terms
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BHE_Z—+tF+-_A=+—RHLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017

32. DEFERRED TAXATION

The followings are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)
recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior

years:
AOERAH it
MEBERE - BB HRER it
Withholding
Accelerated tax on Other
tax Operating  undistributed temporary
depreciation rights profits differences Total
THER TR TR TR TR
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
WZE—~E—A—8 At st January, 2016 (384,092) (175,295) (425,900) 163,432 (821,855)
B 5 A% Exchange adjustments 7,236 8,559 18,113 (11,586) 22,322
FR (ZiH) & (Charge) credit for the year
(Fi3E10) (note 10) (2,296) 4,855 (215,713) 71,577 (141,577)
e EER B A ) Acquisition of a subsidiary - - - (53,735) (53,735)
RZF—R%F At 31st December, 2016
+-A=+—-H (379,152) (161,881) (623,500) 169,688 (994,845)
B 5 A% Exchange adjustments (26,370) (11,265) (18,953) 10,785 (45,803)
FREE (X)) Credit (charge) for the year
(WEE10) (note 10) 5,732 2,273 (27,801) 78,193 58,397
RZZE—+5 At 31st December, 2017
+=-A=1+—H (399,790) (170,873) (670,254) 258,666 (982,251)
PLERE MM STAOT ¢ Analysed for reporting purposes as:
—=—+tF ZE—RF
2017 2016
FHET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
IRIEFIBE B Deferred tax assets 239,961 209,637
BRI A R Deferred tax liabilities (1,222,212) (1,204,482)
(982,251) (994,845)
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R-Z—tE+-_A=+—080 &%
[E & & B A T 18 5 18498,755,000/%
JL (ZZF — 7N F : 499,167,000/ 7T)
AT SH AR SR T o B R R 2R F SRR
HURETE MW ERBEEBEERE
EFRITBEE - RTBIIEE 169,551,000
I (ZZ—7XF : 69,551,000/ 7T)
WERBLEI - BRTBIEEAHNA
FEREAFTANIE -

W—ZTE—tt&+-_A=+—8"
HEARRAETHBEEONE
RARDRBRFBEENEREZEA
3,183,220,0007%8 JT (= & — X F :
1,901,320,0007% 7T ) 1A 74 5 [ &
TH R AN RSEH A RS ERE
ER] RS R AT B A& [l 48 - B 4Bt
ZEEEWRAAE -

e SRR M
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32. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

At 31st December, 2017, the Group had unused tax losses
of HK$498,755,000 (2016: HK$499,167,000) available to offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. Except for the tax loss of HK$69,551,000 (2016:
HK$69,551,000) which may be carried forward indefinitely, the
remaining losses will expire within 5 years from the year of
origination.

At 31st December, 2017, the aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was
HK$3,183,220,000 (2016: HK$1,901,320,000). No liability has been
recognised in respect of these differences because the Group is
in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that such differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

33. kA& 33. SHARE CAPITAL
EnEEE] B EE
Nominal
Number value
of shares of shares
T
HK$'000
FHXEEO0.10/8 TR A 17 Shares of HK$0.10 each
JEERA Authorised:
R-ZZE—X~F—H—H At 1st January, 2016,
—E-RE+ZA=1+—HE 31st December, 2016 and
—E—+F+_A=+—H 31st December, 2017 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
BETREAR Issued and fully paid:
RZE—RE—H—H" At 1st January, 2016,
—E-—XF+-_A=t+—HEK 31st December, 2016 and
—E—+F+-_A=+—H 31st December, 2017 2,224,012,871 222,401

AARMEE - BB REERER
R (B4R FE PO A (A 28D o

There were no changes in the Company’s authorised, issued and

fully paid share capital during both years.

EHRREZERAERAF

A
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34. REAREEHE 34. LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME

R=BENETZA—B  ARAR
B E RS RIS (R0
B)) (FARBYRMETHER
UERAREHBEERER -

RIBEREE - ARRBRBARMDEH
REANAREEMEANR ST
LRE  YAEETARKERER
5 BEEENBEBREERERERLL -
fisd 51 8175 RCHA P A3 L1 PR 6 1 A A 48
BUBBARBNF BIRM BT &7
WA 25% » BI 15 B34 R i1 Ak
- RIERBAI AR THERED
REIMERODHNRASE NMEEBAR
BB B BITAN20.5% °

RZZB-ZF=A+RA ARAH
RETBERERT  FARSEARE
PR HIAR A0 1F A3 28R - RABNRIZHE
BiFF SRS BB - $BHAHE
B X FEAR A SR S IER D TR
g o

REZE-ZT—X"E+-A=+—A1L
FE - ZFEAUFHEFK23.08% T
| % %52,266,0000% & 15 - B &
2 E MR 10 B9 FT 153 5178 /552,302,000
T IR AEAEEET
EEREEMRSRE - HERER
RAEBEREMEERESRERER
Y (EBEE-TE—R"E+_A=+
—HIEFEMRERERT) o RHK AN
Fir 5 30 18 2 fH ) 7 ¥544,095,000/% 7T
AARBIEN - REBE=Z—tF+
ZA=ET—HLFE ZXAALEM
TS HERD

AR EHREFH45,797,384 %
[ (= ZF — N4 : 45,797,384 0% fi%

) e

BEREZBDHIRNAERREERS
PR M AR AR

On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted the share
repurchased cash award scheme (“Incentive Award Scheme”)
as an incentive to retain and encourage the employees for the
continual operation and development of the Group.

Pursuant to the Incentive Award Scheme, existing shares of the
Company will be purchased by the trustee from the market out
of cash contributed by the Group and be held in trust for the
selected employees until such shares are vested with the selected
employees. No restricted shares will be granted if the aggregate
number of restricted shares awarded throughout the duration of
the scheme to be in excess of the 5% of the issued share capital
of the Company at the adoption date of the scheme. The maximum
number of restricted shares which may be awarded to a selected
employee under the Incentive Award Scheme shall not exceed
0.5% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive
Award Scheme such that cash instead of restricted shares will be
awarded. The Company will utilise the proceeds generated from
disposal of the restricted shares held by the trustee for making
cash awards under the Incentive Award Scheme.

During the year ended 31st December, 2016, 2,266,000 shares
were disposed of by the trustee to the market at an average price
of HK$23.08 per share. The proceeds from disposal of those shares
amounted to HK$52,302,000. The whole amount of the proceeds
was awarded in cash to certain directors and employees of the
Group, with an equivalent expense recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
employee benefits during the year ended 31st December, 2016.
The difference of HK$44,095,000 between the cost of the shares
and the proceeds was credited to retained profits. No disposal
of shares by the trustee to the market was noted during the year
ended 31st December, 2017.

There are 45,797,384 (2016: 45,797,384) shares held by the trustee
at the end of the reporting period.

No restricted shares were granted to eligible employees pursuant
to the Incentive Award Scheme.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Hong Kong

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme
which is registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme
Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the
schemes are held separately from those of the Group, in funds
under the control of trustees. Employees who were members of the
ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment of the MPF Scheme were
offered a choice of staying within the ORSO Scheme or switching to
the MPF Scheme, whereas all new employees joining the Group on
or after 1st December, 2000 are required to join the MPF Scheme.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from both
employees and the Group based on a specified percentage of
the employee’s basic salary, depending on the length of service
with the Group. Where there are employees who leave the ORSO
Scheme prior to vesting, the contributions payable by the Group
are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions. No forfeited
contributions were utilised in this manner for both years.

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5% of
relevant payroll costs or at monthly maximum cap of HK$1,500
each person to the scheme, which contribution is matched by the
employees.

At 31st December, 2017 and 2016, the amount of forfeited
contributions available to reduce contributions payable in the
future years is insignificant.

PRC

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of
state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the local
government in the PRC. The Group is required to contribute a
specified percentage of the payroll costs to the retirement benefit
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the specified
contributions.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

SETE MR RABIR AR (“Zhenjiang CR Gas”), which holds several
subsidiaries engaged in sale and distribution of gas fuel and
related products, gas connection, sale of gas appliances and sale
of gas fuel in automobile refilling stations, is 51% held by the Group
and 49% by the other joint venturers. It was accounted for as a
joint venture under HKAS 28 “Investments in associates and joint
ventures” as all of the strategic financial and operating decisions
must be approved by two-third of the members of the board of
directors in Zhenjiang CR Gas whereby the number of members
nominated by the board of directors by the Group did not meet
this requirement. On 1st January, 2016, one of the shareholders
with 39% interests in Zhenjiang CR Gas and the Group signed
a memorandum in which that shareholder would agree with the
Group’s decisions on operating, investing and financing activities
of Zhenjiang CR Gas, and would also agree the appointment of all
senior management of Zhenjiang CR Gas nominated by the Group.
Accordingly the Group is able to control the relevant activities on
the strategic operating, investing and financial decisions, at which
time, Zhenjiang CR Gas became a subsidiary of the Company.

FHET
HK$'000
BB T E B A 0 A& E K Fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities of
BEREGZEHIEE BN AYE Zhenjiang CR Gas acquired at the date of
FIREAT - obtaining control are as follows:
Y - BWE N&E Property, plant and equipment 752177
AL RIE Prepaid lease payments 41,573
Tk Operating rights 3,194
NN Interests in associates 18,326
AN ERE Available-for-sale investments 2,788
KEERE Deposits for operating rights 6,717
RIEFRIBAE Deferred tax assets 22,377
FE Inventories 57,204
FEWE 5 B 3 2 EL At FE R Trade and other receivables 760,707
RITHEBRR S Bank balances and cash 46,202
BB SRR R E MR Trade and other payables (957,311)
FERBLTR Taxation payable (4,999)
BEEBIRAE Deferred tax liabilities (76,112)
672,843
WHEST ZE MR APTE £ B4R ¢ Results on the acquisition of Zhenjiang CR Gas:
BB T E B R A A& EFE Fair values of net identifiable assets of Zhenjiang
MAFE CR Gas acquired 672,843
ARA &R RN R R Previously held interest, represented by interests in
BAFEER GRATER) joint ventures, at fair value (343,150)
eI Non-controlling interests (329,693)
WEESE TE MM RAIE S & Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in
ReZBERNFEIN : respect of acquisition of Zhenjiang CR Gas:
FISiRITEMR KRR 2 Bank balances and cash acquired 46,202
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ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

During the year ended 31st December, 2016, the acquisition of
Zhenjiang CR Gas resulted in inclusion of post-acquisition revenue
of HK$1,399,308,000 and profit of HK$242,509,000 in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

OPERATING LEASES
The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases which fall due as follows:

—E—tF —E—RF

2017 2016

FERT FAT

HK$’000 HK$'000

—FR Within one year 62,248 39,152
F_FEEERF In the second to fifth year inclusive

(BIEEEMFEA) 117,168 87,113

hF& After five years 80,835 44 383

260,251 170,648

REBONKIDBEAREREE T
REFBMEVENEMSES - BHOTS
BERmBE HERFH-—ER1+F
—R-REF —ERT+F)EE -

N

REBE[HBEA

RB|EBR  AEBEABARR L
TR HHAETEL - BRPAAS T
REESOZEEMT

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group
for certain of its office and factory premises. Leases are negotiated
and rentals are fixed for term ranging from one to fifty years (2016:
one to fifty years).

The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with
lessees for the following future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

—E—tF ZE—RF

2017 2016

FHET FHIT

HK$’000 HK$'000

—FR Within one year 9,917 10,561
FE_FRERF In the second to fifth year inclusive

(REERMFEN) 28,439 29,453

AFi& After five years 1,756 1,662

40,112 41,676

EBRRERERDT —ZE—LFFR
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37. OPERATING LEASES (Continued)

The Group as lessor (Continued)

The investment properties rented during the year have committed
tenants for term ranging from one to ten years (2016: one to twelve
years). No contingent rent was arranged for the above operating

PREASRABE R -

lease arrangements.

38. &1 38. COMMITMENTS
—E—+tH —E—RF
2017 2016
FBT T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
ATEIBETAERR Capital expenditure contracted for but not
REBE I FEHRE P EFED provided in the Group's financial statements
B in respect of:
BEWE  BELERE Acquisition of property, plant and
FENHEERE equipment/prepaid lease payments 175,230 77,247
w& (KisE) Investments (Note) - 53,806
175,230 131,053
REBEREEEREMAE AT  The Group’s share of the capital commitments
ﬂ1’EHj,V\ =P made jointly with other joint venturers
ﬁ%ﬁﬂ’]ﬁ$7¥k}f§w? 3 relating to its joint ventures are as follows:
EEWE  BELERE Acquisition of property, plant and
FENAERE equipment/prepaid lease payments - 2,531

MYaE - ANEEEBUE =07 A1 A T e
AFERBIKILE THRAPIEERE -

39. EEKH

RZZE—+FE+-A=+—H K&
EE AT EEERRITEE RE

PRC.

39. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31st December, 2017, the Group pledged the following assets
as securities for trade payables to suppliers of natural gas as

Note: The Group entered into several agreements with independent third
parties to establish certain sino-foreign joint venture enterprises in the

NTPRARMERFOEMNE FHERD follows:
ER
—E—tF ZT—RF
2017 2016
FET FHET
HK$°’000 HK$’000
EHEARITERK Pledged bank deposits 11,753 46,581
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40. BEALTHE 40. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
HEEALIHNRS Transactions with related parties
BRABRAMI SEFTE B EA TR B In addition to the related party transactions set out in the respective
REERFANEBEATETTIIE notes, the Group entered into the following material transactions
ARG - with related parties during the year:
—E-+tF —E—RF
2017 2016
FERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
HETEERA Sales to joint ventures 166,871 326,006
HETHERR Sales to associates 22,300 36,397
HETRRMBAR Sales to fellow subsidiaries - 2 497
PHE THBARMIELERRARE  Sales to non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries 149,693 71,630
N EEI VNGRS Interest income from deposits placed in
FRFEWA a fellow subsidiary 7,860 25,904
BIEES NI D) Interest income from loan to a fellow
BERFBUA subsidiary 22,780 =
2R E AE QAT EUA Interest income from joint ventures 2,551 6,277
EEASAT Purchase from joint ventures 16,815 23,793
EEWEABMIEERARE  Purchase from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries 599,773 603,216
BfEERRIMNFERT Interest expenses paid to joint ventures 11,981 20,061
BENERNEARAIE S Rental expenses paid to fellow subsidiaries 10,463 10,264
EfE6ERFNESRY Rental expenses paid to a joint venture 4,592 5,471
2B AT IEEARIZER  Rental expenses paid to non-controlling
kel shareholders of subsidiaries 450 878
R-ZFE—+FE+-_A=+—H ' && At 31st December, 2017, the Group placed bank and other
EARATRAZNED D ER deposits of HK$1,656,141,000 (2016: HK$1,432,019,000) with
TERHERATGEAERTREMER China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd., a fellow subsidiary of
1,656,141,000/8 7T (= & — /X & : the Company, and these deposits were included in bank balances
1,432,019,000% 7T) + Z FHRITFRK and cash.

SEARITREBIIRS -
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

40. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Transactions/balances with other state-controlled entities

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies under CRCL
which is controlled by the government of the PRC and the Group
operates in an economic environment currently predominated by
entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by
the PRC government.

Apart from the transactions with the parent company and its
subsidiaries which have been disclosed in other notes to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group also conducts
businesses with entities directly or indirectly controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by the PRC government in the
ordinary course of business, including majority of its bank deposits
and the corresponding interest income, certain bank and other
borrowings and the corresponding finance costs, large portion of
purchases and part of sales of gas.

TEFETEEEAEMSE Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
—E—tF —E—REF
2017 2016
FHER FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
S HIE A Short-term benefits 65,789 105,359
RIKRAER Post-employment benefits 945 926
66,734 106,285

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—tF+_A=+—RHLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017

41. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

As disclosed in note 17, deposits for investments amounting to
HK$684,732,000 were reclassified as interests in joint ventures
during the year (2016: nil).

42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to maintain a balance between
continuity of cash flows from operating activities and the flexibility
through the use of bank and other borrowings. The Group also
monitors the current and expected liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants regularly to ensure that
sufficient working capital and adequate committed lines of funding
are maintained to meet its liquidity requirements. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which include
bank and other borrowings, senior notes, net of bank balances and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
capital, retained profits and other reserves.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, management considers the
cost of capital and the associated risks, and take appropriate
actions to adjust the Group’s capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debts
or the redemption of existing debts.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) €@MIEBER (a) Categories of financial instruments
—E—tF —E—RF
2017 2016
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
EMEE Financial assets
B & EWRIE Loans and receivables (including cash
(BHEBENBESEE) and cash equivalents) 16,098,610 11,904,791
BMAFEFAEBRZMESEEE Financial assets at FVTPL - 4,024,548
A HERE Available-for-sale investments 67,006 63,983
ol N=L Financial liabilities
bi7g: £ [DN At amortised cost 19,360,602 18,657,919
(b) HHEREEBZERBEE (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

AEENTRERTAREAMH
HERE  RERS  BURES
BRA R B A R - B EIRERTT
TR RITEBRBAS - BT
Ko BN E SRR AR
F o ROREMEES  BERE
REMEHAE ZEEBTA
M BRENES MM - &
ZE TR T AR R R L
BIEZFRBRABERBN T X
AEEEELRERZFRR  #
TREEIRES ) B BURBUE & 151 °
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The Group’s financial instruments include

available-for-sale investments, deposits for investments,

major

trade and other receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank
balances and cash, other deposits, trade and other payables,
bank and other borrowings, senior notes and other long-term
liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The Group manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Foreign currency risk

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and
monetary liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, i.e.
currencies other than the functional currency of the respective
group entities, which are mainly bank balances and cash,
bank and other borrowings and senior notes, at the end of
the reporting period are as follows:

—E2—+tF —E—REF
2017 2016
FHT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
&= Assets

ETHARE US$ against RMB 189,501 94,560
EILRBTT US$ against HK$ 8,831 1,160
BITHARKE HK$ against RMB 133,097 136,211
ARBH AT RMB against HK$ 127,024 41,775

a& Liabilities
ETHBTT US$ against HK$ 5,787,534 5,726,370
AEX AR JPY against RMB 264,622 254,584
AREE R AT RMB against HK$ - 1,594,315

REEZE BTV RITIMNEE TR
By ARSI ESMNE R - A ER
B AT AN R A B
FRINE R o EIRE AR Y ER
EREHINER R -

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely
monitoring the movements of foreign currency exchange
rates. The Group currently has not entered into any foreign
currency forward contracts to hedge against foreign currency
risk. Management will consider hedging foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

EEMRRERERAT —F
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ANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Foreign currency risk (Continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2016: 5%) increase and decrease in the relevant functional
currencies of the group entities, against the following foreign
currencies. 5% (2016: 5%) is the sensitivity rate which
represents management’s assessment of the possible change
in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the year end for 5%
(2016: 5%) change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity
analysis excludes balances which are denominated in US$
for an entity with HK$ as its functional currency since US$
is pegged to HK$. A positive number indicates an increase
in pre-tax profit for the year when the relevant functional
currencies of the group entities strengthens 5% (2016: 5%)
against the relevant foreign currencies. For a 5% (2016: 5%)
weakening of the relevant functional currencies of the group
entities against the relevant foreign currencies, there would
be an equal but opposite impact on the pre-tax profit for the
year and the balances below would be negative.

—E—+tF —T—REF

2017 2016

FHERT FHET

HK$’000 HK$’'000
E uUss

F AT AR Pre-tax profit for the year 9,475 4,728
BT HK$

F AT AR Pre-tax profit for the year 6,655 6,811
B JPY

F AT Pre-tax profit for the year (13,231) (12,729)
ARHE RMB

F RFL AR Pre-tax profit for the year 6,351 (77,627)

BRERS  HANEFRERN
[E B I R BR 2 FEY R - F
GURE DT T 8L R E A M SNE
[z o
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In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the

year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to prevailing market interest rate on bank balances, other
deposits and pledged bank deposits (see notes 26 and 25
for details of these balances) and floating-rate amounts due
from/to joint ventures, and bank and other borrowings (see
notes 23, 27 and 29 for details of these borrowings). The
management continuously monitors interest rate fluctuation
and will consider further hedging interest rate risk should the
need arise.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate amounts due to joint ventures, bank and
other borrowings and senior notes (see notes 27, 29 and 30
for details). The management continuously monitors interest
rate exposure.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for interest bearing bank balances,
other deposits, pledged bank deposits, amounts due from/to
joint ventures and bank and other borrowings. The analysis is
prepared assuming those balances outstanding at the end of
each reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A
10 or 50 basis points increase or decrease which represents
the management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates is used.

If the interest rate on bank balances, other deposits, pledged
bank deposits and amounts due from/to joint ventures carried
at variable rates had been 10 basis points higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the pre-tax profit for the
year ended 31st December, 2017 would increase/decrease
by HK$9,959,000 (2016: HK$9,606,000). If the interest rate
on floating-rate bank and other borrowings had been 50
basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the pre-tax profit for the year ended 31st December,
2017 would decrease/increase by HK$26,573,000 (2016:
HK$30,615,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s
exposure to interest rates benchmarked to HIBOR on its
floating-rate bank and other borrowings.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

ANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR and People’s Bank
of China Base Rate.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations in
relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the
carrying amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position. In order to minimise the credit
risk, the Group has policies in place for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group carries
out searches on the creditability of the new customer and
assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers are
reviewed once a year.

In addition, the Group reviews the recoverability of each
individual trade debt on a regular basis to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the Group considers that the credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are financial institutions with high credit
standing.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Credit risk (Continued)

At 31st December, 2017, the Group has concentration of
credit risk in relation to the receivables from joint ventures
amounting to HK$424,784,000 (2016: HK$508,807,000).
In order to minimise the credit risk, the management has
reviewed the recoverable amount of each receivable from its
joint ventures at the end of each reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management also monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants, if
any.

At 31st December, 2017, the Group has net current liabilities
of HK$9,237,908,000. Taking into account of the unutilised
banking facilities of HK$4,807,790,000 and internally
generated funds of the Group and the other factors described
in note 2, the Group has sufficient working capital for its
present requirements for the next twelve months from 31st
December, 2017.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and

mE ° principal cash flows.
RERY  HB-FE AHR
NETFHHE FH-F  THBIF BRI RERELR KaE
Over 1 year
Weighted ~ On demand but not Total
average  or less than more than Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 5 years 5years  cash flows amounts
% TiEn TiEn TiEn FiEn TiEn
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
R=F-tF+-A=+-8  At31st December, 2017

ERESEAREMENR Trade and other payables
-68 - interest-free - 7,346,838 - - 7,346,838 7,346,838
-8 - interest bearing 140 466,844 - - 466,844 460,398
BOREMEE Bank and other borrowings 1.80 5,425,051 36,350 231,577 5,692,978 5,579,185
BLZE Senior notes 4.80 263,819 6,917,930 - 7,181,749 5,787,534
EREEE Other long-term liabilities 3.95 28,366 47,259 151,252 226,877 186,647
13,530,918 7,001,539 382,829 20,915,286 19,360,602

W=Z-xE+-A=+-H At 31st December, 2016

ERNESRHAREMENK Trade and other payables
-48 - interest-free - 5,411,249 - - 5,411,249 5,411,249
— 8 - interest bearing 115 877510 = = 877,510 867,533
R REMEE Bank and other borrowings 2.03 3,204,324 3,172,305 277,834 6,654,463 6,441,324
BEZE Senior notes 4.80 261,734 1,046,936 6,078,044 7,386,714 5,726,370
ERHEE Other long-term liabilities 397 24,642 40,063 193,504 258,209 211,443
9,779,459 4,259,304 6,549,382 20,588,145 18,657,919
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Bank and other borrowings with repayment on demand
clauses are included in the “on demand or less than 1
year” time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31st
December 2017, the aggregate carrying amounts of these
bank and other borrowings amounted to HK$3,940,000,000
(2016: HK$3,103,315,000). Taken into account the Group’s
financial position, the directors of the Company do not
believe that it is probable that the lenders will exercise their
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The
directors of the Company believe that such bank and other
borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, details of
which are set out in the table below:

REXY,  BB-EE FHR
EFIRE -5 THALF BRIF RENEBAE KAE
Over 1 year
Weighted ~ On demand but not Total
average  or less than more than Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 5 years 5 years cash flows amounts
% TiEn TiEn TiEn TR TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
WZZE-tE+-A=+-H At31st December, 2017
ROREMEE Bank and other borrowings 1.96 3,965,404 - - 3,965,404 3,940,000
WZZE-RE+-A=t-H At31st December, 2016
ROREMEE Bank and other borrowings 3.4 3,124,267 - - 3,124,267 3,103,315

14557 B ) s 0 S B 84 95 45 B K
BRI (55 R - B i3
FTAESRAMNTETASEN
HERD -

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair values of various financial assets and financial
liabilities.

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for
financial reporting purposes.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group establishes the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to perform the
valuation.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs
that are not based on observable market data to estimate
the fair value of certain types of financial instruments. The
valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in the
determination of the fair value of various assets and liabilities
are stated below.
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43. €@ T R (& 43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) EMIEMNATEFE (&Z) (c)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

AREBUARE M EE RN FET
BHTHEEN L FlE
NEREHR  AREOIED S
BMEETR A FEE - TRH
g EZSeREERNFE
MER (LERMERNMEES
ERBABIR) -

(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation
technique(s) and inputs used).

#ERER EXTTEE TUREBARE
tREE RTGIRENATE ATEER  IEBAEE B HE HAVENEE BB
Valuation Significant Relationship of
Fair value technique(s) unobservable unobservable
Financial assets Fair value as at hierarchy and key input(s) input(s) inputs to fair value Sensitivity
ZE-t% ZEF
2017 2016
AfhERE Lakags-  RAES- B8 ERTHFREAE: MR NER NER
5,654,000 7 8,224, 0007
Available-for-sale Listed equity Listed equity Level 1 Quoted bid prices in -~ N/A N/A N/A
investments securities - securities - an active market.
HK$5,654,000 HK$8,224,000
FERBAMAREY  TER reEREERE =R EREeRE AME BEMEENT  BOUEERS 2 ERZR - ARER
BRRAATEL SREDBERGEH 150%22.85% ¥ TEAZ - mEIBREEE - &
AR - &fﬁfﬂxéﬁﬁlﬂaﬁﬁ PERBROEY kG E
4,024,548,000/5 70 PUEZRE RN RORANEETS U E GOV
SEEFANGERR TERERIAER - SYRER HUE
HAIREE o SHIHEEAH o
Other deposits placed ~ N/A Structured deposits  Level 3 Discounted cash Expected yields,  The higher the The directors
with banks in the PRC with flow. Future cash determined by expected yields, the consider that
non-closely related flows are estimated  reference to the higher the fair value. the impact of
embedded derivatives based on share index underlying share the fluctuation in
- HK$4,024,548,000 and expected yields  index, the money expected yields
of the instruments ~ market instruments to the fair value of
invested by the and the debt other deposits was
banks, discounted at ~ instruments invested insignificant as
a rate that reflects the by the banks, of the deposits have
credit risk of various  1.50% to 2.85% short maturities,
counterparties. and therefore no

sensitivity analysis
is presented.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 in the
current and prior years.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities
(except for senior notes as disclosed in note 30) recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities have
been determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

No gains or losses relating to other deposits placed in
the banks were recognised in profit or loss as the amount
involved was insignificant. Therefore no reconciliation of Level
3 fair value measurements was presented.
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44. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising

from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash

changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for

which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in

the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows

from financing activities.

Bff  ERFER BITR
ERRIR EffRE AELANE BRAE RfbfEE BrEE @t
Amounts
Amounts  due to non- Bank and
Interest Dividend  duetojoint  controlling other
payable payable ventures  shareholders  borrowings  Senior notes Total
TR TR TR TiEn TiEn T TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Fi¥27) (Hizkar) (Mizto9) (Bf&E30)
(Note 27) (Note 27) (Note 29) (Note 30)
RZB—+5-A-H  AtfstJanuary, 2017 - - 867,533 159,515 6,441,324 5,726,370 13,194,742
BERSNE (W) Financing cash flows (note) (196,991) (980,197) (451,433) (394,295) (923,042) (263819)  (3,209,777)
BRZRENA Finance costs recognised 196,991 - - - - 279,358 476,349
BEERE Dividend declared - 980,197 - 509,496 - - 1,489,693
SERE Foreign exchange
translation - - 44,298 15,398 60,903 45,625 166,224
RZF—tF At 31st December, 2017
TZA=1-H - - 460,398 290,114 5,579,185 5,787,534 12,117,231

MY RN R ZEATRIR  BAFHERERR
RE - ROTEEMBEERELERRN
RemnBBKGeReRERTEE
FiSFRFERERER -

Note: The cash flows from amounts due to joint ventures, amounts due to

non-controlling shareholders, bank and other borrowings and senior

notes make up the net amount of proceeds from borrowings and
repayments of borrowings in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

EHRREZERAERAF




e B RRMEE

HE-F+F+-A=+-ALEE

45. 252 B B FAR R R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

45. STATEMENT OF

THE COMPANY

FINANCIAL POSITION OF

—E—+tF ZE—RF
2017 2016
FERT FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current assets
W% - HWERRE Property, plant and equipment 1,140 574
RIB AR ETIRE Unlisted investments in subsidiaries 13,850,031 13,210,231
il N NS B Amounts due from subsidiaries 12,978,580 11,540,310
MM B R RRERNER Loan to a subsidiary 29,785 2,745,846
26,859,536 27,496,961
MBEE Current assets
H i FE U R Other receivables 143,409 81,023
JiE U B B R R RIE Amounts due from subsidiaries 88,162 88,088
RITHEBRRIA S Bank balances and cash 196,432 86,808
428,003 255,919
mEAE Current liabilities
Hib R ERE A Other payables and accrued charges 193,232 196,069
JETB B A B) K08 Amounts due to subsidiaries 1,445,147 1,151,801
B8 2 RITR Bt FUIE Loan from a subsidiary 1,123,775 1,051,128
IRITEE Bank borrowings 5,290,000 3,094,315
8,052,154 5,493,313
mEAEFE Net current liabilities (7,624,151) (5,237,394)
19,235,385 22,259,567
BN R Capital and reserves
& A< Share capital 222,401 222,401
HE Reserves 13,225,450 13,310,796
13,447,851 13,533,197
ERBAE Non-current liabilities
RITEE Bank borrowings - 3,000,000
BERE Senior notes 5,787,534 5,726,370
5,787,534 8,726,370
19,235,385 22,259,567
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For the year ended 31st December, 2017

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

RABIEEEE : Movement in the Company’s reserves:
AEBE
R EE HARH BEZRHA ERHE REEF &3t
Shares
held for
incentive
Share  Contributed award  Translation Retained
premium surplus scheme reserve profits Total
THET TET TET TET THET TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZT—"F—H—H At 1stJanuary, 2016 6,378,643 7,388,600 (174,457) (478,705) 881,800 13,995,881
EREF] Profit for the year - - - 302,630 302,630
FRABEER Exchange difference arising
EHEER on translation and
Hih2ERAX other comprehensive
expense for the year - - - (213,157) - (213,157)
FREE (%) Total comprehensive (expense)
ON-E-:] income for the year - - - (213,157) 302,630 89,473
& AR 8 Disposal of shares held for
BAEZEG incentive award scheme = = 8,207 = 44,095 52,302
BARE Dividends paid - - - - (826,860) (826,860)
RZE—RE At 31st December, 2016
+-A=+—~8 6,378,643 7,388,600 (166,250) (691,862) 401,665 13,310,796
FREF R Profit and total comprehensive
2HEHBAEE income for the year - - - - 894,851 894,851
BERRE Dividends paid - - - - (980,197) (980,197)
RZT—tF At 31st December, 2017
+-—A=+—H 6,378,643 7,388,600 (166,250) (691,862) 316,319 13,225,450

EBRRERERDT —ZE—LFFR
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46. TEHMB AR ER 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
M8 A B —RE R General information of subsidiaries
RIEHR  AEEHBRRNER Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting
I o period are set out below.
T/ BERTRAERK,/
R HEMER AEEEGRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
ARER incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
“Z-tF ZT—F
2017 2016
% %
ERRIAERAT RERLHE L@RaET 100 100 HEER
China Resources Gas Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$4 Investment holding
AEI China Gas Limited FSiS LmAR1,000% T 100 100  REER
Cayman Islands Ordinary US$1,000 Investment holding
BRERRRERAR FE AR #50,000,0007T 80.4 80.4 HHERILRA
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas
HMNERREERAR FE 15,000,00057C 70 70 HERCAREBRRES
PRC US$15,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
EGERRRERAR"? HE 16,000,000 7¢ 50 50 WERCERERRRES
PRC US$16,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
GEERRRAERAR? hE 4,000,000 7T 100 100 HEREARERBRAEE
PRC US$4,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
ELERREERAR" HE 11,000,000 7¢ 57.11 57.11  HERICARERRREE
PRC US$11,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
AREBRRAERD A FE A #94,000,0007T 75 75 HERCRRESRBREE
PRC RMB94,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas

and connection of
gas pipelines
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(Continued)
MBATRIN—RER (&) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
MR/ BRTRBRRE
Bt E HEMER AEBEGRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
ARER incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
“E-tF T F
2017 2016
% %
GREBRRERA HE AR #50,000,0007T 75 75 HERCLRMEEBREE
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
EGERRRARAR i AR 70,000,000 71.43 7143 HERICEREB#HIEE
PRC RMB70,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
EHERRRARAR? i AR #10,000,0007T 100 100  HERCARERAREE
PRC RMB10,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
EIEERRERAF HE AR #10,000,0007T 100 100 HERLRREEGREE
PRC RMB10,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
REZBRIAERAA B AR®51,300,0007T 51 51 HERCLRMEEBRER
PRC RMB51,300,000 Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
BEREBRRERAA i 7,788,900% T 100 100 HERCARERBEREE
PRC US$7,788,900 Sales of liquefied gas

EBRRERERDT —ZE—LFFR

and connection of
gas pipelines
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46. TEMBLARER (& 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
HEARN—RER (&) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
HEmEL BERTREEREK/
Rk HEMEX AEEEGRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
AREE incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest FTEEK
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—E-tE —T—RF
2017 2016
% %
ftRRERREERAR HE AK#29,890,6007T 51 51 BERCEREBRRRES
PRC RMB29,890,600 Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
BNERRRERAR FE AR %80,000,0007T 70 70 HERCIALREBRGRES
PRC RMB80,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
AREBRRERAR FE AR #5,000,0007T 100 100 HERELARERBREE
PRC RMB5,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
RN EEBRREBR AR HE AR#50,000,0007T 100 100 #HERLARERBRESR
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas

and connection of
gas pipelines
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46. TEMBLAREHR (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
MBATRIN—RER (&) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
HEMRL BRTRBERE
BRI B &L rEEEGRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
ARER incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
“2-t§ —TR%
2017 2016
% %
BNERRRERAR HE AK#950,000,0007T 80 80 HERARENEHIRER
PRC RMB950,000,000 MRBERBENRER

Sales of natural gas
pressure control
equipment and
gas appliances and
construction of gas

pipelines
ARIEERRRERAR I AR 665,700,000 70 70 HERCARERRRESE
PRC RMB665,700,000 Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
EHERRREARAR® FE 29,980,000 T 50 50 HERCRREBGREE
PRC US$29,980,000 Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
BEZBRIARDA"® i AR #286,582,8587C 51 51 HERIEREB#REEE
PRC RMB286,582,858 Sales of liquefied gas

and connection of
gas pipelines
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46. TEHEARER (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
MBATRIN—RER (&) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
HEmEL BERTREEREK/
Rk HEMEX AEEEGRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
AREE incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest FTEEK
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—E-tE —T—RF
2017 2016
% %
EMEBRRBRAR FE AR #50,000,0007T 95.95 95.95 HERCEREEHREE
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
REEBRAARRR FE AR %55,000,0007T 70 70 HERCIALREBRGRES
PRC RMB55,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
RAERRABERAR FE AE#300,190,0007T 55 55 HERIERERBRES
PRC RMB300, 190,000 Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
REERRE (F8) BRAA2  $E AR #300,000,0007T 50 50 HERICERESBEESD
PRC RMB300,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas

and connection of
gas pipelines
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46. TEHEARER (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
MBATRIN—RER (&) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
HEMRL BRTRBERE
R 2 &L AEBEGRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
ARER incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
Bt ZT—R%
2017 2016
% %
ZEERRAERAF HE AR #258,686,1007T 65 65 HERICARERRREE
PRC RMB258,686,100 Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
REHEEBERRERAR B AR 252,000,0007T 65 65 HERIEREEBRER
PRC RMB252,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
BIEBRRARAR® HE AK#150,000,0007T 51 51 HERCERERBRESR
PRC RMB150,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas

and connection of
gas pipelines

EBRRERERDT —ZE—LFFR
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46. TEME/LARER (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

MELARMN—RER (&) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

g ZERREFBUFINE B EN 1 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of
L © sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise.

2 HARAEEAIRE50% A EHESEA 2 The Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the
- WAKEBRREAREEZNER relevant activities of the subsidiary as the Group is able to nominate
AIMAERES) - At - ZRFERR over 50% of the board of directors. Accordingly, the company is
AEEWHBLAF - regarded a subsidiary of the Group.

8 ZERBERBUINE B E XN E These companies were established in the PRC in the form of wholly
AL © foreign-owned enterprise.

& REBEF BB R A54%A8H# + WiR 4 The Group holds 54% equity interest in the subsidiary and shares profit
BIREWZEDES7.11% 54 at 57.11% according to the shareholders’ agreement.

3 HREAREEINESRER S —F g The Group has rights to direct the relevant activities of the subsidiary
BREBHRBAEEEZMNBERRHE as the Group signed a memorandum in which the other shareholder
g RERBEEBRENRSE - B would agree with the Group’s decisions on operating, investment and
S—ERRERAEEZTHAER RS financing activities of the subsidiary, and the other shareholder would
MAESRERE  BWAEEG#EE agree the appointment of all senior management nominated by the
BB RARERER - Fit - % Group. Accordingly, the company is accounted for as a subsidiary of
ARAIARIEREBAMB AR © the Group.

BREBRRERARABAAREERE Except for China Resources Gas Limited which is directly held by

BN BEEM EREEHBRRY the Company, all other above principal subsidiaries are indirectly

AARREERSE  WEEEFMAK held by the Company and are operating principally in their place

AP AvE: ET S of incorporation/establishment.

RZE—+tFERZT—RFTZA= None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at

+—BxFREMER - SHERQA 31st December, 2017 and 2016 or at any time during the year.

BUEEMARERES -

RRREERE - ERMIINEER The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
MEAREAEENXENEERG opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
BEEAZE - ARAEERR & results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
DIE MM B A RMFF B ARE B subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
RITE ° result in particulars of excessive length.
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material

non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of

EIE2EH B REE : the Group that have material non-controlling interests:
BUEREEE
E3E FRRERFE
Place of BEEERELLG AEFFERER R RitFERES
establishment Proportion of ownership Profit allocated Accumulated
L) PNCEE and principal interests held by to non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary place of business non-controlling interests interests interests
“B-t§& —TF ZB-tF TR ZB-t§ _—TF
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
% % TR T TR THET
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BNEERRBRAR HE 30 30 31,388 30,563 72,469 92,504
PRC
EHEBRAERAE H 50 50 20,962 18,971 130,144 131,088
PRC
EGEEREERAR H 28.57 28.57 30,735 39,619 110,218 77,594
PRC
REERMAARAR H 49 49 62,270 52,514 232,194 213,288
PRC
HMRIZEERRERLAR P 30 30 33,442 31,218 342,062 301,925
PRC
EHEBMAARAR H 50 50 371,174 351,697 1,174,459 774,427
PRC
ELERRRERAR 3 42.89 42.89 37,749 38,053 126,147 113,441
PRC
REERRBRAR i 45 45 5,054 4,580 168,886 162,927
PRC
EWMRIERERAT —TLFFR
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46. TEMBARER (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEEARFERESHIZERELD

For the year ended 31st December, 2017

(Continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material

AFEE (&) non-controlling interests (Continued)
BYtHRTEE
ESiE FERES T
Place of BEREEZLH ARFHFEREZNERN R FERER
establishment Proportion of ownership Profit allocated Accumulated
Wt B 2 F & and principal interests held by to non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary place of business non-controlling interests interests interests
“E2-tF T R§ ZEBE-+tf T F ZBE-t§ "T¥
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
% % TET TR TET TR
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
RAZERERE (BU2) BRAR HE 50 50 15,312 15,793 202,655 188,766
PRC
ENEBRRARAR i 20 20 170,069 170,765 1,014,223 980,049
PRC
ZHEERRARAT ] 35 35 29,291 23,165 240,296 195,161
PRC
SEEERRAERAR ] 35 35 7,976 4,926 135,195 121,276
PRC
BEEERRERAT H 49 49 57,224 54,754 346,969 345,240
PRC
BIEBRRERAR h 49 49 128,575 118,829 375,028 333,963
PRC
BB R R (E R 2,505,732 1,914,901
FEARBAR
Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests
7,176,677 5,936,550

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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BHE_Z—+tF+-_A=+—RHLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017

47. TEEGE N FER 47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
VENTURES
REEEGRE
R L B Attributable
DREE Place of AR equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment Registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—E—+F —TRF
2017 2016
% %
RERREERNERRF s AR#800,000,0007C 36 36 WERCRRESBRES
PRC RMB800,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
BMNEREERRERAF e AEK117,939,5007T 40 40 WERICEREEBAEE
PRC RMB117,939,500 Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
BERURERRRERAR EP AE717,578,6007T 49 NER HERLEKEEBRES
PRC RMB717,578,600  (HizE17) N/A  Sale of liquefied gas and
(Note 17) connection of gas
pipelines
HEEBRRBRAA i AE5194,541,0007T 51 51 HERILRRESBRESR
PRC RMB194,541,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
EFERRRARAR i AK1,000,000,0007T 49 49 HERRREEBRER
PRC RMB1,000,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
HEERRRARAR i AR #200,000,0007T 50 50 WERCRREEGBRESR
PRC RMB200,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
NIEERRERAR FE AER#129,068,8007T 51 51 HERCERERHREE
PRC RMB129,068,800 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BILEBHTRRARLA H AK#148,000,0007T 49.9 499 HERCLAREEHIEE
PRC RMB148,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
mEEEERARNBRLT T ARE122,423,3727T 50 50 WERICRRESHBRES
PRC RMB122,423,372 Sale of liquefied gas and

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017

connection of gas
pipelines
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—tF+_A=+—RHLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT

establishment

VENTURES (Continued)
REBEERE
Attributable
equity interest
of the Group

TEXB
Principal activities

R A

Registered capital

S e
2017 2016
% %
LARREERRA HE AE#5164,444,4007T 55 55 BERCARERGREE
PRC RMB164,444,400 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
HETMMRRARLRA HE AE#100,000,0007C 49 49 HEBRCREEEGORER
PRC RMB100,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BHEBRRARAF I AR #488,376,0007C 49 49 PERCEREEHREER
PRC RMB488,376,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
ERERRRERAF & AR #%35,000,000,0007C 49 49 BHERCRRERKBREE
PRC RMB5,000,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
REBEHMRIERAR HE AK#600,000,0007T 49 49 HERLEREEGREE
PRC RMB600,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
MR EHNREEEALEE K The Group is able to exercise joint control over these companies
A NTIH— g(ﬂﬁ Hy N £2 B AT 4 which the decisions about the relevant activities require the
SENTITE LR HIRE o Bl i unanimous consent of the Group and the joint venturers.
N ﬂ%&ﬁgzgﬁ.m/\é&/\ o Accordingly, these companies are regarded as joint ventures of

ARREFRR  ERAIINAEE

BERRBEAEEFANEEFERXN

%%Y%ﬁiiﬂ&%ﬁé%fﬁik%ﬂ
c ARAEBFERE  BIEMAE
TE’].#I“t §LARMEBNRITE °

the Group.

The above table lists the joint ventures of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results of the year or form a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other joint ventures would, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of
excessive length.

EHRREZERAERAF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—_ZT—+tHF+-_A=+—8HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2017

48. T EHE N R E R 48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES
REQR/ HEAR
BAENRE
Ryt Equity interest rEEELRE
ARER Place of SRRA held by the joint Attributable interest ~ TEEK
Name of company  establishment Registered capital ~ ventures/subsidiaries equity of the Group  Principal activities
ZE-tf “TRF ZEB-tE T F
2017 2016 2017 2016
% % % %
TS HE AE#95,590,0007C 27 27 25.92 25692  WERAR RLBEHRRAERAR
BREARH PRC RMB95,590,000 ARBEMAEE
Sale of natural gas, LPG and gas
appliances and construction
gas pipelines
BEMREERD i AR1,556,000,0007C 2249 2249 22.49 249 HERCRREREREE
BRAR" PRC RMB1,556,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
SRR i AR 40,000,000 49 49 45 245 HERERBRESAREE
ERMABRAR  PRC RMB40,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
EEPALERER o AR 40,000,000 36 36 36 3% HERCRRESAREE
BAKRBMRAF  PRC RMB40,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
TBARREE h AR 30,000,000 49 49 49 49 HERCRRESGREE
BRAR PRC RMB30,000,000 Sales of natural gas and

Y RDRRZBOELEESR S L
7 o

ARBEZERR  LRMINAEE
GERRHAREMNEEREERR
BEEEATE - ARAEFERAR #
FIE B Z R B MBS AR EB
RITE °

connection of gas pipelines

*

The company listed its shares on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
associates would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
result in particulars of excessive length.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2017
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Financial Summary

S RESULTS
HE+-_A=+—HIEE
Year ended 31st December,
—T—=F —T-mFE —T-—HF —T—F ZE—tF
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHET FHT FHBT FTET
'ON REVENUE 22,288,027 28,717,025 32,834,025 32,916,149 39,837,597
ERBR PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 2,823,754 3,349,129 3,803,107 4,437,808 4,910,867
By ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
KATEEA OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 2,160,945 2,479,898 2,837,910 3,289,399 3,653,994
FiERER NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 662,809 869,231 965,197 1,148,409 1,256,873
2,823,754 3,349,129 3,803,107 4,437,808 4,910,867
EERERE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
+=-A=+—8H
31st December,
—E-=F TN ZT-1F ZT-XFE ZB-+tHF
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHET FHET FHET FTET
BEEAE TOTAL ASSETS 50,481,791 57,751,698 59,896,272 59,675,118 68,763,804
8E8E TOTAL LIABILITIES (31,865,953) (36,623,779) (37,409,266) (35,970,325) (39,594,479)
BRABE TOTAL EQUITY 18,615,838 21,127,919 22,487,006 23,704,793 29,169,325
RARERA EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ERRA OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 14,182,935 16,063,368 17,009,359 17,768,243 21,992,648
FERER NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 4,432,903 5,064,551 5,477,647 5,936,550 7,176,677
BRAHBE TOTAL EQUITY 18,615,838 21,127,919 22,487,006 23,704,793 29,169,325
EPRFTIERERAT —T—HEER
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)

Mr. SHI Shanbo (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. GE Bin (Vice Chairman)

Mr. ONG Thiam Kin (Chief Financial Officer)
(resigned on 1st September, 2017)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. DU Wenmin
Mr. WEI Bin (resigned on 19th January, 2018)
Mr. CHEN Ying
Mr. WANG Yan

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Tak Shing
Ms. YU Jian

Mr. YU Hon To, David
Mr. QIN Chaokui

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. YU Hon To, David (Chairman)

Mr. WEI Bin (resigned on 19th January, 2018)
Mr. WANG Yan

Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Ms. YU Jian

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. WONG Tak Shing (Chairman)
Mr. DU Wenmin
Mr. YU Hon To, David

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)
Mr. SHI Shanbo

Mr. DU Wenmin

Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Ms. YU Jian

Mr. YU Hon To, David

Mr. QIN Chaokui

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)

Mr. CHEN Ying

Mr. WONG Tak Shing
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